# The Role of Scavenger Receptor-A in Heat Shock Protein 27-mediated Atheroprotection: Mechanistic Insights into a Novel Anti-Atherogenic Therapy

Joshua Edward Raizman

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

## **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology, and Immunology Faculty of Medicine University of Ottawa

© Joshua Edward Raizman, Ottawa, Canada, 2012

## ABSTRACT

Heat shock protein (HSP)27 is traditionally described as an intracellular chaperone and signaling molecule, but growing evidence suggests it is released from immune cells where it plays an anti-inflammatory role during atherogenesis. Previously, the O'Brien lab found that overexpression of HSP27 led to augmented HSP27 serum levels in female apolipoprotein E knockout (ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>) mice, attenuated atherogenesis, and inhibited macrophage foam cell formation via physical binding with scavenger receptor (SR)-A. However, the precise mechanism of atheroprotection remained elusive. This thesis sought to ascertain the mechanism(s) by which HSP27 prevents foam cell formation, and determine if SR-A, a key receptor involved in the uptake of lipid into macrophages, plays an important role in HSP27mediated atheroprotection. Pre-treatment of human macrophages with recombinant HSP27 (rHSP27) inhibited acytelated low density lipoprotein (acLDL) binding and uptake independent from receptor competition effect. Reduction in uptake was associated with attenuation of expression of SR-A mRNA, total protein, and cell surface expression. To explore the signaling mechanism by which HSP27 modulated SR-A expression it was hypothesized that nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-κB), a major regulator of many atherosclerosis gene programs, is altered by extracellular HSP27. Indeed, rHSP27 markedly activated NF-kB signaling in macrophages. Using an inhibitor of NF-kB signaling there was an attenuation of rHSP27-induced inhibition of SR-A gene and protein expression, as well as lipid uptake, suggesting that SR-A expression is regulated by NF-kB activation. Lastly, to investigate if SR-A is required for HSP27-mediated atheroprotection in vivo, ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed a high fat diet were treated with rHSP25, the mouse orthologue of HSP27, or PBS for 3 weeks. While rHSP25 therapy equally reduced serum cholesterol

levels in the mouse cohorts, aortic atherogenesis, assessed using *en face* and sinus crosssectional analyses, was attenuated in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice but not ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice. In conclusion, rHSP27 inhibits foam cell formation by downregulating SR-A expression. This effect may be associated with NF- $\kappa$ B activation. Reductions in atherosclerotic burden by rHSP27 require SR-A, and are independent of changes in serum cholesterol levels, highlighting the importance of macrophage lipid uptake in atherogenesis. Results presented in this thesis demonstrate that SR-A is a major target for HSP27 atheroprotection in the vessel wall, and provide an impetus for further studies that investigate the potential therapeutic value of HSP27.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In the modern scientific era major discoveries and generation of novel ideas are no longer concocted by the brilliance of a single investigator. Rather, creation of great science requires a cocktail of interdisciplinary ingredients. This team-work approach has pushed the solo scientist to the brink of extinction. The work created during the course of my PhD that culminated in this thesis is truly no exception and reflects the dedication, support, and efforts by my supervisor, thesis advisory committee members, and countless colleagues, amazing friends, and loving family. Like the pages that collate to create this thesis, so too are the individual people that comprise my team of supporters that made my PhD possible.

First and foremost, I am grateful to my supervisor and mentor Dr. Ed O'Brien. I thank him for providing me with the core ingredients necessary to complete my PhD. I am indebted to him for giving me a chance, to helping me realize my full potential, for his remarkable patience, and believing in me. With his calm demeanor, I could always count on Ed to listen to my tribulations and help me solve them swiftly in a pragmatic and attentive manner. Ed taught me the importance of focusing on priorities (The 30% Rule); the subtle but challenging art of strategizing experimental planning, giving presentations, and communicating a specific message via writing (clearing my desk and sleeping on ideas); the importance of keeping my mind open to new ideas, concepts, and technologies while focusing on my pre-existing strengths (seeking specific help from others); to understanding the "big picture" through the clutter of seemingly non interpretable data (The White Board); and importance of networking and exposure to the wider scientific community (traveling and retreats). Ed has trained me to be an analytical but humble scientist, an efficient but careful researcher, a critical but assertive thinker, and a valuable team member. Most

iv

importantly, he taught me that a supportive idea-generating environment rich in collaboration, technical expertise, and personal interaction is one of the most vital formulas to success. Thank you, Ed, for providing me with this rewarding environment during my PhD journey.

I am grateful to my thesis advisory committee – Drs. Ross Milne and Roz Labow for their constructive feedback at countless long meetings, editing my documents in a timely fashion, and always being a great source of advice throughout my studies. I am grateful for them always being available to provide alternative insights into interpretations of my result, and for offering excellent scientific critiques and comments about my ideas and research.

To the current and former members of the O'Brien lab: You have all made a significant impact on me scientifically and personally. Thank you for making the O'Brien lab such a vibrant place to work and play, to learn and teach, to laugh and cry. Thank you for your unwavering support, dedication, and commitment – I have learned so much from each and every one of you.

To Tara Seibert - my comrade in PhD crime since day number one - for her countless brilliant ideas, her amazing lab organizational skills and her ability to fulfill my constantly nagging reference requests within a matter of minutes. I could always count on her to dig deep within her vast knowledge base to educate me on experimental protocols and experimental setup. As a prolific reader, she taught me acquisition of knowledge is the key to victory. I thank her for her relentless tolerance of my storage of gym clothes and changing into them in the office.

To Dr. Ben Hibbert for his consummate mentorship, his witty humour, and the many highly insightful and educated "rants" he attempted to impart on me - both science and non-

V

science alike. He is a true leader and visionary. With compassion and grounded values he leads by example, which ultimately makes everyone around him a better scientist and more proficient researcher. I thank him for driving me to my limits, in turn, pushing me to realize my full potential. He is a mastermind, a maestro, of practical joking - always keeping me on my toes while pouncing when I least expect. He exemplifies a model of efficiency, innovation, creativity, and ingenuity - teaching me to always raise to the bar higher and the importance of pushing the limits beyond my comfort zone. If I could have one tenth of his abilities I think I would be a pretty good scientist.

To Dr. Yong-Xiang Chen, for his gifted technical skills and vast experimental aptitude involving both animal and *in vitro* experiments. I thank him for providing ideas over countless experimental discussions, and his unconditional commitment to helping me finish my projects. Dr. Chen taught me how to run many types of bioassays, growing different types of cell strains, and working with mice for my injection experiments. I will always be appreciative of him for laughing at my awful jokes.

To Dr. Katey Rayner for her unrelenting support during the good and bad times. With her seemingly infinite wealth of knowledge about methodology, concepts, and theories, she always provided pragmatic and comprehensive advice. I thank her for helping me design the framework of my project, for helping me devise many of my experiments, and helping me choose the best controls. Thank you, Katey, for unconditionally listening to my trials and tribulations - night and day. I was always inspired by her remarkable ability to think outside the black box and interpret ideas and data in a new light. She set the bar extremely high, inspiring me to pursue excellence. She taught me the art of scientific finesse, to always be a step ahead in all my efforts: to apprehend, identify, and cognize the game thereby increasing

vi

the likelihood that I will be in the right place, at the right time to score the game winning goal.

To Samira Salari, for her easy-going nature, her fun demeanor, and contagious smile. Even though I enjoy rainy weather, I could always count on her to make my day a brighter place. Whether on Persian time, or EST, I could count on her to bring to the lab refreshing ideas, loads of fruit, and an encouraging perspective. She taught me to not worry about minor details and that everything works out for the best in the long run. I also thank Samira for laughing at my bad jokes.

To Trevor Simard, for continually being a beacon of support and help. Even when he was busy, he never ceased to listen to both my complaints and achievements. He always found the time to read my work, going out of his way to be thorough and perceptive when making corrections. I could count on him to provide me with constructive feedback, honest truths, and insightful viewpoints. He taught me that attention to detail is an essential aspect to life in and out of the lab.

To Dr. Charles Cuerrier, for being my friend and colleague. I thank Charles for imparting in me a sense of confidence and his constant encouragement to reach for greatness. I am inspired by his remarkable scientific prowess, his humility, and his impressive photoshoping skills. No matter what the time or day, Charles was always available to provide me with insightful feedback, engage with me on enlightening discussions, and offering me his friendship at off-site retreats.

To Dr. Kevin Sun, for believing in me when the chips were down. He truly embodies altruism. When I first arrived on the scene in 2007, Kevin was the first to show me the ropes of the lab. I thank him for never losing faith in my abilities and reinforcing his belief in

vii

never giving up. I am forever grateful for always allowing me to bounce ideas off of him, for being available to discuss my results even when he was no longer working in the lab, and applying the big picture concept to my seemingly insignificant results. Kevin taught me the art of curiosity, the science of applying abstract concepts to experimental set-ups, the conviction of letting the results speak for themselves.

To Xiaoling Zhao, for her unremitting patience, technical skills, and calm resolve. I thank Xiaoling for taking care of my mouse colony, for running all genotyping in a timely manner, and her dedication to helping me organize my animal experiments when time was tight. I was impressed by Xiaoling's remarkable organization skills and always knowing where reagents and equipment were located in lab. I thank her for her being patient with me despite my continuous annoying inquires about the location of countless reagents and equipment.

To Dr. Xiaoli Ma, for her remarkable scientific expertise. She is incredibly proficient, highly meticulous at the bench, clever at designing experiments, and assertive in her writing. I thank Xiaoi for helping me with countless animal dissections, and for being a source of knowledge about experimental planning and methodology. I enjoyed getting to know Xiaoli in and out of the lab.

To Thomas Hu, for his persistent technical support and for making all the sweet recombinant proteins. I enjoyed our many conversations about the biochemistry of HSP27 and I'm grateful for him helping me with my qPCR experiments among others. Being an avid fisherman, Thomas taught me the importance of work/life balance.

I would like to thank Justin Caravaggio for his bone-marrow isolation talent. With strokes of genius - every swoop of the syringe being calculated, efficient, and resourceful -

viii

he continues to push me to break his unbeaten world record of 120 million total cells isolated from one mouse. I could always count on him to make me feel shorter than I already feel. I thank Vaggio for introducing me to the coveted Joys of Yiddish, for shedding light on The Great Kosher Pickle Debate, discussions about our prized hot sauces, the fateful evening when Candace Pert asked him to model for her drug company, and the countless post-lab schmoozes. Justin taught me the importance of friendship, camaraderie, and having a good time outside the lab.

I would like express my heartfelt gratitude to Lois Sample, Jiwan Gill, Josh Chan, Dr. Vincent Subanier, Dr. Mireille Ouimet, Dr. Paromita Deb-Rinker, Melissa McNulty, Scot Shi, Peter Ripstein, Dr. Patrick Burgon, Thet Niang, Dr. Darren Yip, Mike Cherun, Shira Goldberg, and David Pollitt – each of you helped me out in your own way making my life easier and more rewarding during the course of my studies. A huge thank you Victoria Stewart and Carol Anne Kelley from the Department for always being available to answer my questions about the program. I am grateful to Dan DeVette and the amazing staff at the UOHI Animal Care and Veterinary Services for tending to my constant needs and sometimes outrageous requests. I am also grateful to Suzanne Crowe for being incredibly patient and proficient in running over two years worth of flow samples.

To Mom, Dad, Alisa, and Sean and the rest of my family: I am forever indebted for your unconditional love, support, and devotion. Without you, I would be unable to spread my wings. Without you I would be blind. Without you I would be deaf. Without you I am not capable of reaching for the sky. You have been there every step of the way, through the hills and the valleys, the desert and the wooded forests, the high waters and desert oasis. Through the ups and downs, through triumphs and tribulations, through the calm and chaos

ix

you never stopped lending words of encouragement, bestowing your wisdom, and providing me with a steady path to follow my dreams. Thank you for believing in me; for teaching me the importance of values, compassion, and hard work.

Lastly, I am grateful to the Canadian Institute of Health Research for generously providing funding support during the course of my PhD including funding opportunities to present my work at national and international meetings. I am also grateful to the University of Ottawa Heart Institute for supporting my academic endeavors during my time working in the lab. Within these amazing wall, I had one of the most productive and rewarding years of my life.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT .		II
ACKNOWLE	DGEMENTS	IV
TABLE OF C	ONTENTS	XI
LIST OF ABI	BREVIATIONS	XIV
LIST OF FIG	URES	XVIII
LIST OF TAI	BLES	XX
1.0 INTR	ODUCTION	
1.1 Aı	n introduction to atherosclerosis	2
1.1.1	Risk factors, causes, and clinical outcomes	
1.1.2	Socioeconomic impact on Canadian society	5
1.1.3	Treatment strategies	6
1.2 Pa	thophysiology of Atherosclerosis	7
1.2.1	Early stages of lesion development: initiation of fatty streaks	
1.2.2	Development of intermediate and advanced lesions	
1.3 Ro	ble of the macrophages in atherosclerosis	
1.3.1	Activation states and phenotypes	
1.3.2	Macrophage foam cell formation	
1.4 M	echanisms of lipid uptake: Scavenger receptor A	
1.4.1	Scavenger receptor-A structure and functional properties	
1.4.2	Expression and regulation of SR-A	
1.4.3	Cellular Functions of SR-A	
1.4.4	Role of SR-A in atherosclerosis	
1.5 NI	F-κB and atherosclerosis	
1.6 He	eat Shock Protein-27	
1.6.1.	General introduction about heat shock proteins	
1.6.2	HSP2/: Structure and Function	
1.6.3	Intracellular cellular functions	
1.6.4	Role of HSP2/ in atherosclerosis	
1.7 Ba	ickground on HSP27 in the O'Brien Lab	
2.0 RAT	IONALE AND STATEMENT OF HYPOTHESIS / OBJECTIVES	59
2.1 Ra	tionale	59
2.2 St	atement of hypothesis / objectives	
2.2.1	Hypothesis	60
2.2.2	Global Objectives	60
3.0 Мет	HODS AND MATERIALS	61
3.1 O <sup>3</sup>	Brien Lab recombinant proteins	

3.1.1	Production and synthesis	61
3.1.2	2 Chaperone Activity Assay	61
3.2	Cell culture systems	62
3.2.1	Human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1)	62
3.2.2	Human monocyte derived macrophages (hMDM)	62
3.2.3	Mouse bone-marrow derived macrophages (BMDM)	63
3.2.4	THP-1 Blue Cells – NF-κB reporter cell line	63
3.2.5	Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells stably transfected with mouse SR-A	64
3.3	Treatment strategy for recombinant proteins and other blockers or inhibitors	64
3.4	AcLDL uptake assays	66
3.4.1	Flow cytometry analysis	66
3.4.2	2 Confocal microcopy and live cell imaging	67
3.4.3	Fluorescent plate reader method	67
3.4.4	Oil Red O foam cell assay	68
3.5	AcLDL binding assays	68
3.6	Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (q-PCR)	69
3.7	Western Blotting	70
3.8	SR-A surface expression.	71
3.8.1	Flow cytometry	71
3.8.2	2 Confocal microscopy	72
3.9	Cell viability and apoptosis assays	72
3.9.1	MTT assays	72
3.9.2	2 Annexin-V staining	72
3.10	Mouse models	73
3.10	.1 Genotyping	73
3.10	.2 HSP25 injection strategy	74
3.11	Serum cholesterol measurements	74
3.12	Preparation of the en face aorta and evaluation of atherosclerosis	75
3.13	Preparation of aortic sinus and evaluation of atherosclerosis	75
3.14	Quantification of macrophage content in lesions	76
3.15	Immunohistochemical expression of SR-A in the vessel wall	76
3.16	Statistics	77
4.0 R	ESULTS	78
4.1	Recombinant proteins	78
4.1.1	Folding properties	78
4.1.2	2. Chaperone Activity	78
4.2	Optimization of acLDL uptake and binding macrophages	79
4.2.1	Dose and time-dependent analysis of acLDL uptake	79
4.2.2	2. Specificity of acLDL uptake and binding via SR-A function	81
4.3	Effect of recombinant proteins on acLDL uptake or binding in macrophages	85
4.4	Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake in SR-A null macrophages	94
4.5	Alternative methods to quantify acLDL uptake	98
4.6	Effect of rHSP27 on SR-A expression in THP-1 macrophages	98
4.6.1	Gene expression	98
4.6.2	Protein expression	101

4.7	Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells engineered to express SR-A	107
4.8	The role of NF-κB in HSP27 mediated responses in macrophages	110
4	.8.1 Effect of rHSP27 on NF-κB activation	110
4	.8.2 Effect of NF-κB inhibition on HSP27-mediated responses	113
4.9	Controlling for endotoxin and cytotoxic effects of rHSP27	116
4	.9.1 Effect of polymixin B (PMB) on HSP27-mediated responses	
4	.9.2 Cell viability and apoptosis	119
4.1	D Effects of rHSP25 injection on atherosclerosis	119
5.0	DISCUSSION	133
6.0	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	159
6.0 7.0	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS Future Directions and Recommendations	159 163
6.0 7.0 8.0	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS REFERENCES	159 163 167
6.0 7.0 8.0 9.0	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS REFERENCES CONTRIBUTIONS OF COLLABORATORS	159 163 167 208
6.0 7.0 8.0 9.0 10.0	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS.   FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS   REFERENCES   CONTRIBUTIONS OF COLLABORATORS   PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE COPYRIGHT MATERIAL	159 163 167 208 209

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ABC	adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette receptor
ACAT	acetyl-coenzyme A acetyl transferase
АСЕН	acid cholesterol ester hydrolase
acLDL	acetylated low density lipoprotein
AGE	advanced glycation end product
ANOVA	analysis of variance
АроВ	apolipoprotein B
АроЕ	apolipoprotein E
Arg	arginase
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
B.I.D	bis in die (twice daily)
BMDM	bone marrow derived macrophages
bp	base pairs
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CAD	coronary artery disease
CCL	chemokine (cc-motif) ligand
CD	cluster of differentiating factor
CE	cholesterol esterase
СНО	chinese hamster ovary cells
CMV	cytomegalovirus
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ER	endoplasmic reticulum

ERE	estrogen response element
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ERβ	estrogen receptor beta
FBS	fetal bovine serum
GWAS	genome wide association study
HDL	high density lipoprotein
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
hMDM	human monocyte derived macrophages
HSE	heat shock element
HSF	heat shock factor
HSP27	heat shock protein-27
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule
IKK	Iκβ kinase
IFNγ	interferon gamma
IL	interleukin
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
JNF	jun N-terminal kinase
kDa	kilodalton
LAL	lysosomal acid lypase
LDL	low density lipoprotein
LDLr	low density lipoprotein receptor
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
LXR	liver x receptor

M1	classically activated macrophage state
M2	alternatively activate macrophage state
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
МАРКАР	mitogen-activated protein kinase activated protein
MARCO	macrophage receptor with collagenous structure
МСР	monocyte chemoattractant protein
M-CSF	macrophage colony stimulating factor
MI	myocardial infarction
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
NCEH	neutral cholesterol ester hydrolase
NF-κβ	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
Ni⁺NTA	nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid
NO	nitric oxide
NPC	neimanm pick type C protein
РАК	p21 activated kinase
PBMC	peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	phosophate buffer saline
PCR	polymerize chain reaction
PDGF	platelet derived growth factor
PE	phycoerythrin
РКС	protein kinase C
PMA	phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate

PMB	polymixin B
PPAR	peroxisome proliferators-activator receptor
PVDF	polyvinylidene fluoride
qPCR	quantitative real time polymerize chain reaction
ROS	reactive oxygen species
S.c	subcutaneous
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide
SEAP	secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase
SEM	standard error of the mean
SR-A	scavenger receptor-A
SRCC	scavenger receptor with C-type lectin type I/II
SREBP	sterol regulatory element-binding proteins
TGF-β	transforming growth factor beta
TIMPs	tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor alpha
UPR	unfolded protein response
VCAM	vascular cell adhesion molecule
VLDL	very low density lipoprotein

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Infiltration of lipids into the vessel wall and activation of macrophages during early lesion development	11
Figure 2. Cholesterol trafficking in macrophages and formation of foam cells	21
Figure 3. Structural features of scavenger receptors involved in macrophage lipid uptake during atherosclerosis	27
Figure 4. SR-A mediated uptake of cholesterol, its intracellular trafficking, and signaling leading to foam cell formation	32
Figure 5. Structural, biochemical and functional features of rHSP27 generated in the O'Brien lab	51
Figure 6. Dose and time-dependent effects of DiI-acLDL on acLDL uptake in macrophage	es 81
Figure 7. Role of PMA and SR-A ligands or blockers in acLDL uptake	84
Figure 8. Role of SR-A ligands or blockers in binding of acLDL	86
Figure 9. Deletion of SR-A affects acLDL uptake	87
Figure 10. Dose-dependent effect of HSP27 pretreatment on acLDL uptake	89
Figure 11. Dose-dependent effect of HSP25 pretreatment on acLDL uptake	90
Figure 12. Dose-dependent effect of C1 pre-treatment on acLDL uptake	91
Figure 13. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake in primary human macrophages	92
Figure 14. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL binding in THP-1 cells	94
Figure 15. Receptor competition effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake and binding	96
Figure 16. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake in SR-A null macrophages	98
Figure 17. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake in THP-1 cells using alternative methods 1	00
Figure 18. Effect of HSP27 on SR-A gene expression in THP-1 macrophages 1	03
Figure 19. Effect or HSP27 on SR-A protein expression in THP-1 macrophages 1	05
Figure 20. Effect of HSP27 on SR-A surface expression 1	07

Figure 21. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake and SR-A expression in CHO-SR-A cells. 108
Figure 22. Effect of SR-A ligands and blockers on acLDL uptake in CHO-SR-A cells 109
Figure 23. Effect of HSP27 on NF-κB activity in THP-1 Blue Cells
Figure 24. Effect of NF-κB inhibition on SR-A expression and acLDL uptake
Figure 25. Effect of polymixin B (PMB) on HSP27 mediated biological responses 118
Figure 26. Cell viability and annexin-V staining assays
Figure 27. Genotyping of SR-A <sup>-/-</sup> mice
Figure 28. The impact of SR-A expression in HSP25-mediated atheroprotection on aortic en face lesions in ApoE <sup>-/-</sup> SR-A <sup>-/-</sup> male and female mice
Figure 29. The impact of SR-A expression in HSP25-mediated atheroprotection on lesion size and macrophage content in female ApoE <sup>-/-</sup> SR-A <sup>-/-</sup> mice
Figure 30. Effect of rHSP25 treatment on SR-A expression <i>in vivo</i>
Figure 31. Total serum cholesterol levels and profiles in rHSP25 treated ApoE <sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE <sup>-/-</sup> SR-A <sup>-/-</sup> mice
Figure 32. Canonical and non-canonical NF-κB pathways
Figure 33. Extracellular HSP27 inhibits foam cell formation by downregulating SR-A expression

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Role of SR-A in murine models on atherosclerosis	36
Table 2. Compounds that block foam cell formation by inhibiting SR-A function and/or expression	r 42

## **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

This chapter will provide background information relevant to the topics addressed in this thesis. The first section will begin with an introduction to atherosclerosis, or "hardening of the arteries", giving a general overview about its etiology, socio-economic impact and risk factors, as well as primary and secondary treatment strategies. The second section will describe in detail the mechanisms of atherosclerosis pathophysiology addressing different stages of lesion development and highlighting important concepts and hypotheses currently accepted in the literature. Given that the macrophage is the major cell type studied in this thesis, the next section will specifically address the current understanding of the role of macrophage activation and its relation to inflammation in the vessel wall. The subsequent section logically transitions into an overview describing mechanisms of lipid uptake to provide a link between the dynamic phenotypic changes of macrophages during atherogenesis and the formation of foam cells during this process. Although scavengerreceptor A (SR-A) is a regulator of foam cell formation and a focus in this study, controversies outlined in the literatures are discussed in this section as well as some concluding remarks about the current understanding of SR-A as a therapeutic target for atherosclerosis. The subsequent section is designed to introduce the reader to heat shock protein 27 (HSP27), the central theme and research pursuit of the O'Brien laboratory. A brief introduction to highlight major discoveries in the field of molecular chaperone function will be followed by a discourse describing both the intracellular and extracellular function of HSP27 and its importance in atherogenesis. Finally, this chapter will conclude with a background describing seminal HSP27 discoveries in the O'Brien lab related to macrophage biology and protection against atherosclerosis. Readers will be provided with a current state

of knowledge at the initiation of experimental work to illustrate gaps in the understanding of HSP27 atheroprotection, and objectives to support appropriate hypothesis generation.

#### **1.1** An introduction to atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is a common disease process that is characterized by an inflammatory response in the vessel wall. Its initiation is thought to occur primarily due to localized damage to the endothelium followed by the accumulation of cholesterol deposits in the subendothelial space, which lies between the endothelium and intimal elastic membrane of the vessel. Over time, these initial steps in lesion formation may progress and lead to the formation of an advanced plaque that consists of lipid, fibrous material, calcification and infiltration of a number of cell types such as smooth muscle cells (SMC), macrophages, lymphocytes, and T-cells. Plaque growth occurs as accumulation of low density lipoproteins (LDL) and infiltration of blood-borne leukocytes counterbalances anti-atherogenic processes such as removal of cholesterol via high density lipoprotein (HDL), and egression of macrophages from the arterial wall. Although clinically relevant manifestation of atherosclerosis typically presents in the fifth or sixth decade of life, there are certainly exceptions, with some patients showing premature evidence of the disease – typically in the context of a strong family history of vascular disease. Atherosclerosis may be evident in autopsy specimens of young adults, with plaques or fatty streaks often observed well before clinical events occur (1). Despite the presence of the disease, it is currently held that clinical manifestations of atherosclerosis in the heart or cerebral circulation may be absent until plaque rupture occurs - an event characterized by the sudden rupture into the side-wall of an artery, typically at the site of modest narrowing of the vessel lumen - resulting in vessel occlusion due to thrombus formation.

#### 1.1.1 Risk factors, causes, and clinical outcomes

Atherosclerosis was once considered to be a disorder of cholesterol handling in the liver. It was originally hypothesized that cholesterol lowering drugs would be sufficient to prevent plaque build up in the arterial wall (2). Yet, the inability of cholesterol lowering drugs to completely abolish this disease provided evidence that atherosclerosis is a multi-faceted condition with an underlying pathology beyond inappropriate cholesterol storage. It is now accepted that atherosclerosis involves complex interactions between the systemic immune system and local inflammatory mediators. This immune-inflammatory axis is thought to interact with environmental and genetic risk factors to instigate, regulate, and propagate lesions in the vessel wall (2).

Hypercholesterolemia is one of the primary and strongest risk factors for the development of atherosclerosis. Based on results of the Framingham study and other clinical trials assessing the risk to benefit ratio of cholesterol lowering drugs, it was found that for every 10% reduction in serum cholesterol levels, coronary artery disease (CAD) mortality was reduced by 15% and total mortality by 11% (3). Whether these encouraging initial results remain valid in the current age of intense lipid lowering with "statin" drugs and other complementary medical treatments is unclear, as certainly we continue to see examples of refractory atherosclerotic disease states despite remarkably low cholesterol levels. Increased ratio of LDL ("bad" cholesterol) to HDL ("good" cholesterol) is also known as a risk factor. Whereas tobacco smoke, sedentary life style, hypertension, and diabetes are considered modifiable risk factors (4), non-modifiable factors that play a role are sex, age (i.e., males), family history, and genetic abnormalities like familial hypercholesteremia. Other risk factors thought to be associated with atherosclerosis are obesity, psychosocial stress (e.g. cortical

levels), diet low in fresh fruits and vegetables, and sedentary lifestyle (4).Currently, there is increasing interest in determining the role of genetics in cardiovascular risk, with some studies arguing that genetics alone accounts for more than half of the disease etiology (5). Recent advances in gene profiling technology have made it possible to efficiently perform genome-wide association studies (GWAS) to identify specific regions of genes or loci associated with disease (5). For example, a locus located at chromosome 9p21 was found to have a significant association with CAD, independent of common risk factors (6,7). Interestingly, ancient Egyptian mummies were found to have evidence of atherosclerosis, suggesting that atherosclerosis is not necessarily a disease exclusively linked to risk factors typically associated with modern society (8).

Many cardiovascular disorders are caused by atherosclerosis including peripheral vascular disease (e.g., aortic aneurysms, cerebrovascular disease) and CAD. Plaque development during atherogenesis is categorized into three developmental stages (discussed in detail below): fatty streak formation, intermediate lesions, and advanced lesions. As the plaque matures over time, it can be further categorized into two broad subclasses: stable or unstable. Plaque type is clinically relevant because in the stable form it tends to be asymptomatic due to build up of supporting extracellular matrix and cellular components such as smooth muscle cells, in turn, helping to resist the plaque's vulnerability to rupture. However, unstable or vulnerable plaques which are characterized by accumulation of foam cells as well as cellular debris and dying cells, develop an outer layer or fibrous cap that separates its contents from the arterial lumen. Unstable plaques tend to be weak, rendering them prone to rupture leading to intraluminal thrombi that can themselves block arterial blood supply. In addition to plaque rupture, physical narrowing of the arterial lumen due to

stenosis of the expanding plaque can restrict the blood supply that provides vital oxygen and nutrients to the myocardium. Chronic ischemia to the mycoardium manifests as angina pain.

#### 1.1.2 Socioeconomic impact on Canadian society

Although rates of heart disease have generally declined over the last four decades due to improvements in diagnostics, treatment, and management, cardiovascular disease is still the leading causes of mortality and morbidity in Canada. According to data from Statistics Canada (found at http://www.heartandstroke.com/), in 2008, 29% of all deaths in Canada were attributed to cardiovascular and its related diseases with 54, 20, and 23% as a result of ischemic heart disease, heart attack, and stroke, respectively (9). As a reflection of its prevalence, it was reported by the Public Health Agency of Canada in 2007 that 1.3 million Canadians (4.8% of the population) were living with the disease (10). Cardiovascular disease continues to impart a great burden on the Canadian economy. A report published by the Conference Board of Canada estimated that cardiovascular disease costs Canadian tax payers more than \$20.9 billion annually based on hospitalization services, lost wages, and decreased productivity (11). Moreover, hospital admission rates due to complications arising from atherosclerosis are steadily rising, accounting for 19.9% of total hospitalizations annually – the highest of all diseases in Canada (10). As the life expectancy in Canada continues to rise in the future, finding novel preventative strategies in addition to acute treatment strategies is an important consideration from both a public health and economic standpoint.

#### 1.1.3 Treatment strategies

Strategies to manage atherosclerosis are based on primary and secondary prevention as well as acute care. The Bogalusa Heart study revealed that the severity and number of atherosclerotic-related complications, as assessed by the size of lesions present in postmortem arterial specimens, positively correlated with the number of risk factors present in children and young adults (12-14). Since this landmark study, primary prevention strategies have shown beneficial effects in reducing the risk of developing clinically relevant atherosclerotic events later in life by focusing on limiting modifiable risk factors, e.g. increasing physical exercise, reducing LDL cholesterol and triglycerides through diet, and smoking cessation.

Secondary treatment strategies, on the other hand, are focused on reducing the risk of atherosclerotic events or myocardial infarctions (MI) when the disease is already established. HMG-coA reductase inhibitors or "statins" are the most commonly prescribed pharmacological therapy for the prevention of atherosclerosis-related events. The principal vascular protective effects of statins occur via lowering serum cholesterol levels by inhibition of cholesterol synthesis in the liver. Although not fully understood, statins are also known to have a variety of off-target, pleiotropic properties such as antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects, induction of endothelial nitric oxide, recruitment of endothelial progenitor cells, and plaque stabilization (15). The Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study, the first large clinical study to determine the efficacy of statins in prevention of atherosclerotic events, found a relative 30% reduction in death in a group of patients on simvastatin with established CAD (16). Other large randomized clinical studies such as the West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study (WESTCOPS) trial (17), the Myocardial

Ischemia Reduction with Acute Cholesterol Lowering (MIRACL) trial (18), and the Pravastatin or Atorvastatin Evaluation and Infection Therapy (PROVE-IT) trial (19), have demonstrated favorable outcomes for the use of statins in reducing serum cholesterol levels and lessening the risk of heart attacks or death in patients with hypercholesteremia or CAD.

Despite the beneficial outcomes of these strategies, atherosclerosis continues to be the most common cause of death in the Western world. Strategies to manage hypercholesterolemia using statin treatment were initially anticipated to erase the disease by the end of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, yet the rising incidence of atherosclerotic risk factors like obesity and diabetes coupled to increasing rates of life expectancy will likely continue to increase the prevalence of cardiovascular disease well into the 21<sup>st</sup> century. In addition, small cohorts of patients are intolerant to statin therapy rending their use ineffective in the treatment of the disease. Thus, development of better and more targeted therapies, either as complementary to existing interventions, or as stand-alone therapeutics, is certainly warranted.

Currently, much effort to prevent atherogenesis or slow its progression is united by research to elucidate novel molecular pathways. The macrophage has emerged as an essential component of the atherogenesis process – from early lesion development to advanced plaque formation (reviewed below). Understanding macrophage biology relating to regulation of inflammation and cholesterol handling in the artery wall may provide important insight into development of these therapeutic targets (20).

## **1.2** Pathophysiology of Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis pathophysiology is multi-factorial involving physiological systems and processes that converge on various cell types. The development of animal models to study complex human diseases has elucidated important advances in knowledge about its

molecular and cellular pathways that can only be reproduced in a living system.

Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) and LDL receptor (LDLr) transgenic mice are the most widely studied models in the atherosclerosis field. As ApoE and LDLr are involved in cholesterol transport, metabolism, and storage, their absence has been shown to initiate development of atherosclerotic lesions after a relatively short interval in rodents (early lesions at ~3-4 weeks and advanced disease by ~3 months), making murine models very efficient and cost effective. Importantly, vascular lesions in these mouse models share similarities to those observed in humans (21), and therefore are suited to study not only underlying biochemical and cellular interactions, but also provide fertile grounds for testing the development of novel therapeutic strategies. This section explores the underlying molecular and cellular pathways that participate in the progression of lesion development.

#### 1.2.1 Early stages of lesion development: initiation of fatty streaks

The healthy arterial endothelium normally acts as a selective barrier that protects the vessel wall from potentially damaging factors present in the circulation. Elevated sheer stress, inflammation, and serum cholesterol are known to cause endothelial dysfunction. Endothelial dysfunction appears to preferentially occur in susceptible areas of the arterial tree subjected to high hemodynamic load. It is thought that patterns of turbulent blood flow create shear stress on the vessel wall resulting in activation of endothelial cells, in turn, leading to perturbations in gene expression, including the upregulation of surface adhesion molecules (22). Loss of endothelial integrity allows contents of the plasma such as LDL to gain access to the underlying subendothelial space of the vessel wall. The positively charged domain of apolipoprotein B (ApoB), the major protein constituent of LDL, is thought to promote molecular bonds with negatively charged moieties of the extracellular matrix

leading to LDL retention in the arterial intima (23). The *oxidative modification hypothesis* proposed by Steinberg and colleagues suggests that these trapped lipoprotein complexes become prone to chemical or physical modification through oxidation, glycoxylation, or aggregation rendering them pro-inflammatory and readily taken up by resident macrophages (24,25). In addition, a number of enzymes located within the vessel wall have been shown to alter LDL including secretory phospholipase A2 (26) and sphingomyelinase (27). Accumulation of modified LDL in the subendothelial space further damages the endothelium leading to initiation of a chemotactic gradient that attracts circulating monocytes and T-cells to the site of injury – the hallmark of the *response-to-retention theory* (**Figure 1**).

Activation and recruitment of macrophages into the vessel wall involve multiple coordinated steps. Monocyte rolling and adherence are initially mediated by P-selectins expressed on the surface of activated endothelial cells (28-31). Next, capture and adhesion of monocytes to the endothelium occurs primarily through the interactions of  $\alpha\beta$  integrin subunits - expressed on the surface of activated monocytes - with fibronectin and other extracellular components (29,32,33). Integrins such as vascular-cell-adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM) and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) also interact with adhesion receptors expressed on endothelial cells (34-39). Once firmly adhered, monocytes



# Figure 1: Infiltration of lipids into the vessel wall and activation of macrophages during early lesion development

(A) Lesion genesis occurs with the formation of a fatty streak. Low density lipoprotein (LDL) translocates into the subendothelial space of the arterial wall, particularly at sites of high hemodynamic strain. LDL becomes retained in the extracellular matrix through its association with proteoglycans leading to its modification by enzymes and oxygen radicals present in the extracellular milieu. This leads to formation of oxidized (ox)LDL. OxLDL and together with secreted pro-inflammatory factors secreted from resident macrophages, induces activation of endothelial cells to express adhesion molecules such as vascular cell-adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM1). Expression of pattern-recognition receptors increases, such as scavenger receptors (SR) and toll-like receptor (TLR). SRs mediate uptake of oxLDL particles, leading to intracellular cholesterol build up and formation of foam cells. Foam cells accumulate in the subendothelalial space where they contribute to the net pro-inflammatory response during atherogenesis.

(**B**) Monocytes and T cells are recruited to the damaged endothelium, bind to VCAM1 expressing endothelial cells and transmigrate into the vessel wall in response to locally produced chemokines. Monocytes then differentiate into macrophages by responding to local chemokine such as macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF). Pro-inflammatory factors in the subendothelial space activate scavenger receptors and toll-like receptors on these cells. While SRs mediate oxLDL uptake, TLRs bind to lipopolysaccharide (LPS), heat shock protein 60 (HSP60), oxLDL and other ligands inducing secretion of many pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, oxygen and nitrogen radicals, other inflammatory molecules, which ultimately leads to inflammation and tissue damage.

Adapted from Hansson *et al.* (2) with minor modifications. © Massachusetts Medical Society (MMS); Reprinted with permission from MMS.

transmigrate across the endothelium into the subendothelial space in response to a local gradient of chemokines (33) (Figure 1).

During the initial stages of lesion formation the generation of a chemoattractant gradient plays an essential role in affecting the recruitment of monocytes to the vessel wall. Cytokines such as platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interleukin-1 (IL-1), interferon gamma (IFN $\gamma$ ) (40), monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1 (41-43) and chemokine (C-C motif) ligand (CCL)-5 (44) are all expressed in the plaque and known to be involved in chemotaxis of monocytes to the subendothelial space. The chemokine receptor, CX3CR1, plays a major role in lesion development by promoting monocyte arrest as demonstrated in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> Cx3CR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which are protected against atherosclerosis via reduced accumulation of monocyte-derived macrophages in the lesion (45,46). In addition, various transgenic animal models deficient in MCP-1 (43,47-49) or macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) (50) exhibit atheroprotection that is associated with reduced macrophage content and foam cell formation.

Once in the subendothelial space, monocytes upregulate pattern-recognition receptors such as scavenger and toll like receptors as well as other markers consistent with mature macrophages (51,52). Macrophages act to phagocytose modified lipids that become trapped in the subendothelial space - an effort that is initially adaptive to maintain proper homeostasis to initiate a healing process in the vessel wall. Over time, the gross accumulation of trapped lipids overwhelms the ability of the macrophage to remove lipid from the inflammatory milieu – rendering macrophage conversion into foam cells. Named for the appearance of defined cytosolic lipid droplets in their cytoplasm, foam cells are lipidladen macrophages that accumulate in the fatty streak. They are thought to generate an

inflammatory response by secreting various cytokines, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and proteases. An important concomitant process in the maintenance of vessel wall homeostasis is the clearance of dying macrophages by other macrophages or efferocytosis. Unfortunately, as part of the disease process, efferocytosis may also become defective; hence, an increase in macrophage number tips the local pro-inflammatory/anti-inflammatory balance in favor of a pro-inflammatory milieu (53,54). At this stage, the fatty streak is visible in the arterial wall.

#### 1.2.2 Development of intermediate and advanced lesions

The architecture of the lesion undergoes structural remodeling as the normal vessel wall extracellular scaffold is replaced by a lipid core containing free cholesterol, cholesterol crystals, and calcium. As the plaque evolves, macrophages are joined by other cells such as T cells, dendritic cells, neutrophils, mast cells, and to a lesser extent smooth muscle cells. The formation of an atheroma, which is now a visible structure, is characteristic of the intermediate stage of atherogenesis. Hypersecretory smooth muscle cells migrate from the vessel media into the intima, proliferate and secrete extracellular matrix components (e.g. collagen, fibronectin, and elastin) in response to local growth factors such as PDGF (55,56) and TGF- $\beta$  (57).

Foam cell formation initially promotes macrophage survival. However, over time unregulated uptake of lipids and accumulation of free cholesterol in the cell is thought to promote endoplasmic reticulum stress leading to activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR), which initiates macrophage apoptosis in the plaque (reviewed in (58)). Free cholesterol, calcium, extracellular matrix components, and cellular debris form a complex necrotic core surrounded by a fibrous cap containing smooth muscle cells and extracellular

matrix (59). Given that the contents of the necrotic core are potentially thrombolytic and prone to rupture, the fibrous cap functions as a barrier between the neointima and blood constituents (59). As the expanding neointima protrudes into the lumen, the vessel wall initially compensates by undergoing expansive (or positive) remodeling to increase its surface area, and in turn, preserve the lumen area (60). Continued synthesis of extracellular matrix components occurs as a result of increased activity of matrix metalloproteinase (MMPs) that overwhelms tissue inhibitors of MMPs enzymes (TIMPs) that would otherwise inhibit MMP activity. This leads to remodeling of the microenvironment and degradation of the fibrous cap (61-63). The destabilized plaque is now vulnerable and prone to rupture. Thrombosis occurs if the plaque ruptures, occluding the vessel lumen, which causes obstruction of blood flow, and ultimately myocardial ischemia (64).

The vast majority of acute coronary syndromes are caused by plaque rupture (64). Identification of molecular targets involved in plaque stability is therefore clinically relevant and an area of much importance for development of novel therapies to help prevent rupture (59,65) or stimulate regression via removal of inflammatory foam cells (66-68)

## **1.3** Role of the macrophages in atherosclerosis

Macrophages are members of the mononuclear phagocytic system and function as homeostatic surveillance cells of the innate immune system (69). They are distributed across different tissues of the body displaying heterogeneity and specific functional phenotypes based on their anatomical location (69). Some of these subpopulations include osteoclasts in the bone, alveolar macrophages in the lungs, histiocytes in the interstitial connective tissues, Kupffer cells in the liver, and foam cells in the atherosclerotic lesion. Macrophages are derived from hematopoietic stem cells that originate in the bone marrow. In the circulation

they exist as monocytes, functioning mainly as a reservoir to replenish the pool of tissue resident macrophages (69).

In response to a number of signals such as inflammatory mediators during early fatty streak formation, monocytes hone to the site of injury, migrate into tissues, and differentiate into macrophages where they become phagocytic cells that are defined by their ability to internalize cellular debris, apoptotic cells, and pathogens (66,70). As such, macrophages exist as the "poster" cell of the inflammatory response in the atherosclerotic plaque, acting as a rapid line of defense to clear potentially damaging factors in the vessel wall.

Macrophages are also involved in antigen presentation, demonstrating their pleiotropic actions as an important connection point between the innate and adaptive immune system. Under steady state conditions a number of negative feedback systems regulate macrophage activation. They display inherent anti-inflammatory phenotypes thereby preventing unfavorable inflammatory reactions from taking place (71-73). As a result, macrophages also play an important role in suppressing the immune system. These fine tuned checkpoints ultimately occur to prevent self antigens from being recognized as non-self, thereby mitigating inappropriate destruction and remodeling of tissues.

Macrophages comprise the major leukocyte population during early lesion genesis. It is not surprising then that atherosclerosis is characterized as a chronic inflammatory disease arising primarily from the persistent infiltration of monocytes into the subendothelial space. Unregulated engulfment of modified lipoproteins ultimately gives rise to foam cells and the subsequent inflammatory response that ensues thereafter (74,75). This section will focus on macrophage activation in the context of the developing lesion with particular emphasis on regulation of foam cell formation.

#### 1.3.1 Activation states and phenotypes

According to the review by Johnson and Newby (76), macrophages in the plaque can fall into a number of categories that broadly describes their roles in (a) the innate or adaptive immune system, (b) tissue destruction or repair, (c) immigration or emigration, (d) cholesterol accumulation or release, and (e) proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory. Within these dichotomous categories, macrophages have been shown to exhibit a plethora of phenotypic plasticity in response to acute changes in the particular local microenvironment they reside (77-84). Over the last decade there has been a growing appreciation for the temporal distribution of macrophage subpopulations at different stages of plaque development. In the mid 2000's Siamon Gordon summarized two different macrophage activation states or phenotypes based on expression of polarized markers - referred to as classical (M1) and alternatively (M2) activated cells (reviewed in (83,84)). As a result, a vast number of *in vitro* studies have been conducted to determine the relevance of macrophage polarization under different atherogenic conditions (recently reviewed in (33,76,85).

Classically activated or M1 macrophages are known to be activated by bacterial stimuli (e.g. lipopolysaccharide, LPS), as well as cytokines such as IFN $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and GM-CSF. They are also known to express arginase II (ArgII) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (86). M1 activation leads to production of a host of inflammatory effector molecules and cytokines that contribute to tissue degeneration and pro-inflammatory responses, including reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, IL1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-12 (87). Human monocytes treated with GM-CSF typically differentiate into unpolarized (M0) macrophages
(87). However, in the presence of LPS and IFN- $\gamma$  their differentiation states become skewed into an M1 phenotype with elevated expression of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-12 (87).

The alternate macrophage activation state, or M2, is induced by IL-3, IL-13, IL-10, corticosteroids such as glucocorticoid, members of the transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$  family, and IL-12 (87). They express high levels of ArgI, IL-10, IL-1, as well as scavenger, mannose, and galactose receptors. M2 cells generally function to promote tissue remodeling and angiogenesis. Recent data demonstrate that peroxisome proliferator-activator receptor (PPAR)- $\gamma$  is a novel marker for M2 macrophages in both *in vitro* (88,89) and human tissue specimens (88). In one study, Bouhlel *et al.*, demonstrated that expression of PPAR- $\gamma$  in human endartectomy specimens colocalized with cluster of differentiation (CD)68<sup>+</sup> expressing macrophages (88). PPAR- $\gamma$  is a transcription factor known to regulate genes involved in cholesterol efflux via upregulation of liver X receptor- $\alpha$  (LXR $\alpha$ ) and ATP-binding cassette (ABC)-G1 (90). PPAR- $\gamma$  activation was also found to reduce foam cell formation *in vitro* (91) though repression of SR-A expression (90,92), further providing evidence for the anti-inflammatory status of M2 macrophages.

In the healthy vessel the majority of resident macrophages are considered positive for Mac-1 (Mac1<sup>+</sup>), CD11b, CD68 (or macrosialin – a class D scavenger receptor), and the macrophage marker F4/80 (28,93,94). These macrophages serve an immuno-surveillance function by maintaining vessel wall homeostasis. However, during the inflammatory response, circulating levels of M-CSF signals for monocyte recruitment from bone-marrow precursor cells, and their differentiation into cells of a monocyte-macrophage lineage (95). Accordingly, plaque macrophages are found to be positive for the macrophage marker CD14<sup>+</sup> (96). Although the role of macrophage heterogeneity in the early versus advanced

lesion remains unclear, it is hypothesized that the classic pro-inflammatory M1 macrophage is the predominant population in the established plaque (97). However, M2 markers have also been identified in early plaques as well (85,98,99), making interpretations of macrophage phenotype confusing. Interestingly, aortas from LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed a high fat diet for 30 weeks were analyzed for a number of macrophage markers and revealed that 39% were  $CD86^+$  or of the M1 phenotype, and 21% expressed the mannose receptor CD206, specifying the M2 phenotype (99). Moreover, it has been shown that infiltration by iNOS<sup>-</sup> IL1<sup>-</sup>ArgI<sup>+</sup> (M2) macrophages during early lesion development in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice are gradually replaced by iNOS<sup>+</sup>IL1<sup>+</sup>ArgII<sup>+</sup> (M1) macrophages in the chronic lesion (100). M2 activation may exert atheroprotective actions in the early stages of atherosclerosis helping to dampen the pro-inflammatory response through clearing of atherogenic debris and dying cells (101). This effect may help counterbalance factors that favour lesion development, a process that may act similarly to an acute wound healing response on the surface of the skin, for instance. As the plaque develops, it is thought that a switch to the pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype may coincide with changes to the cytokine profile in the vessel wall, producing a net effect that signals a gradual shift to a more pro-inflammatory profile (101).

The balance of environmental signals during atherogenesis and its influence on macrophage gene programs and phenotype are complex. In addition, the interplay between macrophage activation states and foam cell formation is ambiguous and not fully appreciated. Indeed, it can be hypothesized that macrophage infiltration in the early stages of atherosclerosis functions to restore balance to the injured endothelium through secretion of anti-inflammatory mediators, uptake of pro-inflammatory lipids, and efferocytosis/egression of macrophages from the vessel wall. However, a positive feedback cycle develops probably

originating with oxidation of trapped LDL in the subendothelial space, which signals a gradual change in the microenvironment of the lesion including alterations in the cytokine profiles of the plaque, and gene expression patterns in macrophages. Ultimately, these steps lead to shifts in the anti/pro inflammatory balance that fall in favor of foam cell formation and the chronic inflammatory milieu giving rise to predominantly M1 macrophages in the advanced lesion. Do foam cells display heterogeneity with respect to macrophage markers and the stage of lesion formation? Can they be altered to change their inflammatory profiles in favour of M2 over M1 activation states? Certainly, future work will seek to identify the factors that drive foam cell phenotype into that of an apoptotic state in the necrotic core of the advanced plaque in an attempt to find targets to prevent plaque progression.

#### 1.3.2 Macrophage foam cell formation

Cholesterol is an essential molecule involved in cell viability, plasma membrane integrity, and metabolism of hormones. The body derives its sources of cholesterol through dietary intake and intracellular synthesis in the ER. In the blood, cholesterol is transported by LDL and is taken up into the cell by its receptor, LDLr. The cell has a number of tightly controlled feedback mechanisms that balance metabolism and transport of intracellular cholesterol involving circuits that route cholesterol for storage, and export outside of the cell for excretion (102). Once inside the cell cholesterol and cholesterol esters of LDL are trafficked within the endocytic pathway involving movement from endosome vesicles to the lysosome for degradation, and then to the endoplasmic reticulum for further sorting (102). Under normal physiological conditions, acid cholesterol ester hydrolases (ACEH) converts cholesterol esters to free cholesterol within the lysosome (103). Free cholesterol is then routed through a number of different pathways depending on the homeostatic balance of

cholesterol sensed by the cell. In response to increasing cholesterol levels, free cholesterol is delivered to the endoplasmic reticulum where it is re-esterified by acyl CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT) and sequestered into lipid droplets (104). Neutral cholesterol ester hydrolase (NCEH) located in lipid droplets cleave cholesterol esters back into free cholesterol where it is used by the cell for biochemical processes such as membrane assembly or sterol biosynthesis, as well as shuttled to extracellular cholesterol acceptors such as HDL (103,104). Free cholesterol is required to facilitate cholesterol efflux outside of the cell as a mechanism to control intracellular cholesterol levels; however, at high levels it is cytotoxic and thought to mediate cell death pathways (105) characteristic of macrophage morphology in the necrotic core of advanced plaques (106).

In response to high levels of intracellular cholesterol stores LDLr is down regulated a negative feedback cycle important to maintains homeostatic cholesterol levels by preventing its over-accumulation (107). Alterations in the chemical structure of LDL by enzymatic or chemical modification in the subendothelial space of atherosclerotic arteries renders LDL unrecognizable by its cognate receptor, LDLr; instead modified LDL is taken up by alternative mechanisms, particularly via scavenger receptors (108). Given that scavenger receptors are not suppressed when cellular cholesterol content rises, the continuous accumulation of lipids results in untoward storage of intracellular cholesterol esters (108) (**Figure 2**). Hence, it is now a widely accepted paradigm that endocytosis of



## Figure 2. Cholesterol trafficking in macrophages and formation of foam cells.

Scavenger receptors (SR) on the surface of macrophages internalize modified LDL (mLDL) into vesicles that subsequently fuses with acid lysosomes. In lysosomes, cholesterol esters (CE) are cleaved into free cholesterol (FC) by acid cholesterol ester hydrolase (ACEH). FE is then transported out of the lysosome and re-esterified by ACAT in the cytosol to form cholesterol esters, which get sequestered and stored in lipid droplets. At steady state cholesterol metabolism, cholesterol esters can be cleaved to FC by neutral cholesterol ester hydrolase (NCEH). FC can then be transported to cholesterol acceptors (HDL) in the extracellular space by efflux transporters such as ABCA1. Imbalance in cholesterol accumulation to cholesterol efflux shifts the pathway in favor of excessive cholesterol accumulation leading to foam cell formation.

Adapted from Daugherty A *et al.* (109) with modifications. © Wolters Kluwer Health; Reprinted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health.

modified lipoproteins – mediated, in part, by scavenger receptors – regulates *bona fide* foam cell formation, helping to drive the inflammatory response during atherogenesis.

Once modified lipoproteins are endocytosed by scavenger receptors, cholesterol and cholesterol esters are delivered to lysosomes in a similar process to the endocytosis pathway of native LDL. Lysosomal acid lipase (LAL), a subclass of ACEH, located in lysosomes hydrolyze cholesterol esters into its constitutive parts: free cholesterol and fatty acids (110). Excess free cholesterol is then trafficked to the ER (103) resulting in suppression of the sterol-regulatory element binding (SREB) pathway leading to inhibition of endogenous synthesis of cholesterol, and subsequent downregulation of the LDLr gene (111). ACAT reesterifies free cholesterol to cholesterol fatty acid esters in the ER (112) as a detoxification mechanism to limit the level of toxic free cholesterol (113). When metabolism and export systems become saturated, free cholesterol is then sequestered into peripheral components of the cell - namely in membrane bound lipid inclusion droplets that facilitate its storage, as well as lysosomes that continually attempt to promote its degradation (112). It is thought that lipid storage droplets form a continual extension of the ER, and it is this accumulation of cholesterol esters which gives the foam cell its morphological "foamy" appearance (114) (Figure 2).

As expected, lipid loading alters macrophage biology and this contributes to changes in macrophage function. For example, a recent study used a proteomic approach to elucidate differentially expressed proteins in peritoneal macrophages isolated from LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed a high fat diet versus a normal chow diet (115). The authors found that lipid loaded macrophages form networks involved in cytoskeletal regulation, vesicle-mediated transport, and lipid binding. Other reports have shown that lipid-laden macrophages demonstrate high

levels of DNA damage (116) that coincide with activation of ER-dependent stress pathways (58). These stress pathways likely contribute to apoptosis (116,117) and necrotic death (118) observed in the advanced states of lesion development.

The endosomal membrane spanning proteins Neimann-Pick Type C (NPC)1 and NPC2 are implicated in delivering esterified cholesterol from late endosomes into lipid vesicles for storage (104). Genetic mutations in NPC1 and NPC2 result in Neimann Pick disease, a lipid storage disorder characterized by disproportionate levels of free cholesterol accumulation in lysosmes, which reduces the accessibility of cholesterol to bind the surface receptors, ABCG1 or ABCA1, for efflux out of the cell (119,120). Cholesterol efflux is an important process involved in reducing lipid accumulation in macrophages, and therefore an important factor in plaque regression. It involves trafficking of free cholesterol from lysosomes to the plasma membrane for removal via ABCG1 or ABCA1 to HDL or ApoA1, respectively (121,122) (Figure 2). Mutations in the ABCA1 gene cause Tangier disease, which is characterized by defects in reverse cholesterol transport. Low circulating levels of serum HDL coupled to lipid poor ApoA levels leads to massive accumulation of foam cells in different regions of the body (123). Moreover, deletions of ABCG1 and ABCA1 in mice models of atherosclerosis are associated with increased lesion formation and enhanced foam cell formation (121). Taken together, these concepts highlight the central role of cholesterol efflux receptors in balancing removal of cholesterol, which in turn, helps protect the cell against elevated intracellular free cholesterol.

It is clear that macrophages are major mediators of atherosclerosis, playing important roles in all stages of lesion development. During fatty streak formation, the inflammatory response that occurs as a result of trapped lipoproteins in the subendothelial space leads to

macrophage infiltration and serves as an adaptive mechanism to remove these proinflammatory factors. Yet, the macrophage recognizes these lipoproteins as "non-self" thereby activating "scavenging" pathways via upregulation of scavenger receptors to facilitate lipoprotein removal (113). Thus, it has been suggested that lipid uptake pathways are independent from cholesterol metabolism systems that work to maintain proper cholesterol biogenesis for normal cell function (113). Indeed, internalization of cholesterol in the developing lesion initially elicits an adaptive response that involves cycling of cholesterol esters, its hydrolysis into free cholesterol, and upregulation of cholesterol efflux pathways. Under conditions of unregulated cholesterol uptake, these cytoprotective mechanisms ultimately fail. Cholesterol esters become trapped in lysosomal compartments as the macrophage becomes saturated with newly forming lipid droplets in the face of defective cholesterol esterification and efflux of free cholesterol. In addition, defective rates of efferocytosis and macrophage emigration from the plaque (28) lead to the overall net persistence of foam cells within the vessel wall, thereby contributing to the continual growth of the plaque.

Besides modified LDL, other factors also contribute to foam cell formation and the atherogenesis process. As reviewed by Seigel-Axel *et al.* platelets may contribute to a proatherogenic phenotype by binding and internalization of both modified as well as native LDL in the circulation (124). Moreover, emerging evidence suggests that scavenger receptors such as SR-A, CD36, and LOX-1 are expressed on the surface of platelets which may provide an explanation linking platelets to their lipid accumulation pathways (124). OxLDL loaded platelets that leak into the injured endothelium of the vessel wall (125) are phagocytosed by macrophages of the developing lesion - a process proposed as an

alternative mechanism for foam cell formation (126-128). Phagocytosis of platelets is also found to be mediated by scavenger receptors on the surface of intimal macrophages, and in this way may facilitate the transfer of modified LDL into macrophages further exacerbating foam cell formation (129-131). Lastly, beta-amyloid deposits in the plaque (132,133), and the presence of advanced glycation end products (AGE) common in hyperglycemia conditions (134) may also contribute to accelerated foam cell formation.

Hence, finding strategies to mitigate lipid uptake and cholesterol deposition in the early stages of foam cell formation is an important objective for the development of antiatherogenic therapies (113). As scavenger receptors are likely candidates for developing interventions to prevent foam cell formation, the next section will focus on these key receptors.

### 1.4 Mechanisms of lipid uptake: Scavenger receptor A

Lipid-loading pathways that culminate in the morphogenesis of macrophage foam cells are a salient feature in the development and evolution in the pathogenesis of atherosclerotic lesions. The identification of oxidized forms of LDL in mouse and human atherosclerotic lesions has strengthened the *oxidative modification hypothesis* (135). When these lipids are purified from the vessel wall, they are found to contain oxidation epitopes that are preferentially recognized and tightly bound to pattern recognition receptors, namely scavenger receptors (136-139). Over the last 30 years eight subclasses of scavenger receptors, A-H, have been identified for their roles in binding and internalizing modified forms of LDL (135) (**Figure 3A**). This section will focus on scavenger receptor-A (SR-A) of the class A family of scavenger receptors.



### Figure 3. Structural features of scavenger receptors involved in macrophage lipid uptake during atherosclerosis

(A) Schematic diagram illustrating different classes of scavenger receptors (class H is not shown). Modified forms of LDL are recognized by these receptors expressed on the surface of macrophages in the developing lesion. SR-A is a member of the class A family and is the most widely studied for its role in foam cell formation. Adapted from Moore and Freeman (140). © Wolters Kluwer Health; reprinted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health.

(**B**) Domain organization of SR-A type I and II. See text for details. Adapted from Platt and Gordon (141). © American Society for Clinical Investigation (ASCI); reprinted with permission from ASCI.

#### 1.4.1 Scavenger receptor-A structure and functional properties

SR-A was the first identified member of the scavenger receptor family. SR-A is a type II, single membrane-spanning, trimeric transmembrane glycoprotein that was purified in 1988 as a novel acetylated (ac)LDL binding site (142), and cloned from bovine macrophages in 1990 (143). The SR-A gene is located on chromosome 8p22, contains 11 exons (144), and produces three forms that are products of alternative mRNA splicing: type I, II, and III (145). Although SR-A type I and II are typically co-expressed, functional differences have yet to be ascribed between them. A third subtype, SR-A-III, does not reach the cell surface, but rather is found sequestered in the ER and shown to have a dominant negative effect on SR-A expression in transfected cells (146).

SR-A1 is the best characterized member of the scavenger receptor A family containing 6 distinct structural domains: N-terminus cytoplasmic (I), membrane (II), spacer (III),  $\alpha$ -helical coil-coil (IV), collagen-like (V), and C-terminus cysteine rich (VI) domains. Type II and III express a truncated C-terminus (147) with a cysteine domain approximately half the length of SR-AI (146) (**Figure 3B**). Based on structural homology in their cysteine rich domains, SR-A is further sub-classified with other members of the class A family. These include the macrophage receptor with collagenous structure (MARCO), which is expressed in macrophages but has roles mostly in pathogen host defense (reviewed in (148)); as well as a newly described member, SCARA5, which was found expressed on endothelial cells but does not bind modified LDL (149). Interestingly, another member of the class A scavenger receptor, scavenger receptor with C-type lectin type I/II (SRCL) has high homology to SR-A and MARCO but does not contain a cysteine rich domain nor does it recognize modified lipids (148). Although the cysteine-rich structure is highly conserved within class A members, its function remains ambiguous because its presence or absence does not appear to be directly associated with mediating binding of modified lipids (148).

The collagen-like domain is another hallmark structural feature found in all the members of the class A scavenger receptors (**Figure 3B**). It contains positively charged arginine and lysine clusters thought to mediate electrostatic interactions with negatively charged ligands (150). This domain has also been implicated in mediating cell adhesion to collagen substrate (151).

A third structural feature of class A receptors is the  $\alpha$ -helical coiled-coil domain. It is thought to contribute to structural flexibility acting like a "hinge" enabling SR-A to fold onto itself upon ligand binding (152) (**Figure 3B**). In addition, this domain participates in receptor processing in the lysosome proceeding internalization (153,154). Histidine residues are thought to regulate the lysosomal pH to facilitate ligand dissociation from the receptor. Lastly, the  $\alpha$ -helical coiled-coil domain may also be involved in ligand recognition and adhesion. A monoclonal antibody directed against this region (the 2F8 clone) was shown to alter the structure of the receptor, particularly at the collagenous domain interface by blocking acLDL uptake and adhesion to collagen coated surfaces (151,155).

#### 1.4.2 Expression and regulation of SR-A

SR-A1/II are expressed not only by macrophages but also by aortic endothelial cell and liver sinusoidal endothelial cells, albeit to a lesser level (156,157). Although human monocytes isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells express minimal levels of SR-A, mRNA levels appear to rise rapidly during differentiation into macrophages in culture (158,159). SR-A isoforms are highly expressed in foam (144,156,160,161) and smooth muscle cells (162) in human atherosclerotic lesions. In addition, both modified lipid uptake and expression of SR-A were higher in human monocyte-derived-macrophages isolated from healthy elderly individuals free of CAD than their younger counterparts (163), implying that SR-A expression may have a protective role in the aging process. Furthermore, SR-A gene levels in peripheral blood mononuclear cells were found to rise in patients experiencing acute coronary events compared to healthy controls further reflecting the role of SR-A in pathological states (164).

Many factors and cytokines regulate SR-A expression. *In vitro*, MCP (165), M-CSF (166), oxLDL as well as acLDL (167,168) have all been documented to positively regulate SR-A expression in macrophages. Phorbol esters (i.e. phorbol myristate acetate - PMA) are well known to differentiate the monocytic cell line, THP-1 cells, into macrophages, which is associated with increased functional expression of SR-A (169,170). Mechanical strain upregulates SR-A expression - a mechanism suggested to explain accelerated atherosclerosis in the context of hypertension (171). In contrast, TNF- $\alpha$  (172,173), TGF- $\beta$  (174), GM-CSF (175), INF $\gamma$  (176,177), and activation of PPAR transcription factors (178) downregulate SR-A expression. LPS was shown to reduce SR-A expression in human THP-1 macrophages (172,179), but increases expression in mouse peritoneal macrophages (179).

In 1992, Monty Krieger coined the term "molecular flypaper" (180) to describe SR-A for its *promiscuous* ability to bind a broad range of overlapping but sometimes distinct negatively charged (polyanionic) ligands involved many physiological and pathological processes (181). These include lipoproteins or proteins such as acLDL, oxLDL, malondialdehyde-modified LDL/albumin, AGE-modified LDL/albumin (182,183), ApoA, and ApoE (184); polyanions such as polyinosine and polyguanosine (185); polysaccharides such as dextran sulfate, fucoidan, polyinosinic acid, carrageenan, and beta-amyloid fibrils (186); bacterial products such as LPS and lipoteichoic acid (186); and phospholipids (e.g. phosphatidylserine) (187). Although it remains unclear why SR-A binds such a broad range of ligands, Bowdish and Gordon have suggested it may reflect both SR-A's ancient roles in cell adhesion, and phagocytic functions concomitant with more recent evolutionary roles in host-defense, self vs. non-self recognition, and homeostatic clearance of lipoproteins (188). From an evolutionary perspective many domains of SR-A are highly conserved among vertebrate lineages; as well, parts of its gene may also be evolutionary conserved in less complex organisms (188).

The physiological relevance of SR-A was brought into focus by the pioneering work of Brown and Goldstein in the late 1970's who discovered that unregulated receptormediated uptake and degradation of acLDL, but not native LDL, triggers massive accumulation of intracellular lipids (189). Scavenger receptors were initially denoted as "acLDL binding sites" because of their role in "foraging" modified forms of LDL unrecognized by the classical LDL receptor. SR-A plays an important role in atherogenesis because its gene is upregulated by macrophages in response to both binding of its modified lipid at the cell surface and increasing accumulation of intracellular lipid stores. In a

clathrin-dependent process (190) SR-A internalizes acLDL through a mechanism that involves its N-terminal cytoplasmic tail (143,190,191). Once internalized the clathrin-LDL complex is trafficked from early endosomes to lysosomes for processing (107,192-194). In the acidic environment of the lysosome, the ligand dissociates from SR-A allowing SR-A to be recycled back to the plasma membrane through the trans-Golgi network (195). As free cholesterol is toxic, it is either shuttled out of the cell or esterified for deposition into lipid droplets for storage. However, when efflux pathways become overwhelmed, SR-A expression is not shut down promoting progressive accumulation of lipid droplets. A positive feedback cascade is established involving continual recycling of SR-A to the cell surface in the face of continued modified lipid interaction at the cell surface, thereby perpetuating intracellular lipid stores, and ultimately leading to foam cell formation (**Figure 4**).

The precise mechanism(s) by which scavenger receptors mediate phagocytosis of its ligand is not entirely resolved. It has been hypothesized that intracellular signaling pathways are activated either directly through the cytoplasmic tail, or occur indirectly through adaptor proteins recruited to this region. The cytoplasmic tail has a unique internalization motif called VXFD. In mutant cells missing this SR-A motif, surface SR-A expression and internalization of ligands are abolished (196). It has been shown that acLDL binding to SR-A changes the confirmation state of the receptor complex, leading to phosphorylation at any one of the three conserved serine or one conserved threonine residues located on the C-terminus monomers (197,198). This initiates a classical pertussis toxin-sensitive signaling cascade (i.e. G protein-coupled receptor cascade) as well as activation of membrane protein kinase C (PKC), and involvement of the inhibitory G-coupled receptor domain (Gi/o)



# Figure 4. SR-A mediated uptake of cholesterol, its intracellular trafficking, and signaling leading to foam cell formation

SR-A function in the macrophage is tightly coordinated by trafficking and intracellular signaling pathways. Constitutive cycling of SRA between the plasma membrane (PM) and endosomes (E) may be altered by receptor binding of modified lipid (grey circle). This triggers one or a combination of positive feedback responses, ultimately leading to accumulation of cholesterol esters inside the cell: (1) endocytosis and recycling of SR-A back to the cell surface; (2) receptor relocation from one region of the plasma membrane to another via transcytosis; (3) intracellular signaling pathways that lead to increased SR-A gene expression; (4) degradation of both ligand and receptor in lysosomes (L) leading to recycling of the SR-A back to the cell surface; and (5) transcriptional regulation of *de novo* receptors. Please note that this figure is overly simplified, especially the intracellular signaling pathways, and meant only to provide an global appreciation for the pathways that regulate SR-A.

Adapted from Murphy et al. (199). © Elsevier Limited; reprinted with permission from Elsevier Limited.

(200,201). Treatment of mouse macrophages with pertussis toxin, a specific inhibitor of G protein-coupled receptor signaling, was found to prevent acLDL uptake without affecting SR-A expression receptors implying the role of G-coupled protein signaling cascades in a feedback process that positively regulates acLDL internalization (202,203). Furthermore, Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)-2 mediated phosphorylation of SR-A appears to be required for foam cell formation – an effect associated with protection against atherosclerosis in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice in which JNK2 is specifically deleted in macrophages (204). In another study, SR-A ligands, fucoidan and oxLDL, were found to stimulate secretion of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  by regulating signal transduction cascades involving protein kinase-mediated mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and PKC (205). This signaling pathway involves upstream regulation by p21-activated kinase (PAK), the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), JNK, and p38 (205). Activation of SR-A by fucoidan was also found to induce NO production in macrophages in a p38 and NF-kBdependent mechanism (206), implying the involvement of SR-A in controlling vessel wall vasodilation.

Induction of the SR-A gene, MSR1, occurs as a result of binding of the transcription factors PU.1/Spi-1, to highly conserved ETS-domains in the promoter regions of the gene (207). Transcriptional control of SR-A is also mediated by promoter regions identified as activator protein (AP)-1 binding sites (207). Both ETS-domain and ATP-1 binding sites are well known to be involved in cell differentiation, growth, and survival - linking activation of the MSR1 to the process of macrophage differentiation. Using a transgene reporter system, regulatory elements in the SR-A promoter were found to direct macrophage-specific expression of the human growth hormone receptor in mice as well in bone-marrow derived

macrophages in response to M-CSF (208). Transgene expression as well as foam cell formation was abolished in atherosclerotic mice when the PU.1 promoter region was mutated, consistent with the importance of SR-A regulatory genes in differentiation of macrophages and foam cell formation (208). A number of studies have demonstrated an influence of extracellular cytokines in controlling the activity of the MSR gene. M-CSF is known to upregulate SR-A in macrophages via GTPase (Ras)-dependent signal transduction pathways involving PKC activity (209,210). The Ras pathway is known to activate transcription through AP-1/ETS motifs in promoters of target genes (211,212); this provides evidence for a link between cytokines and transcriptional control of SR-A expression.

#### 1.4.3 Cellular Functions of SR-A

The contribution of SR-A to lipid uptake in atherosclerosis was initially evaluated by Suzuki *et al.* using SR-A null macrophages. SR-A was found to be responsible for binding and internalization of 80% of acLDL, and 50% of oxLDL (213). Development of SR-A and CD36 (a class B member of the scavenger receptor family also implicated in foam cell formation and atherogenesis) null mice further established that 90% of modified lipid uptake occurred via the combined effects of SR-A and CD36, validating the importance of scavenger receptor mediated endocytosis of lipids as a process central for foam cell formation (214).

In addition to its role in lipid uptake, SR-A has been shown to have pleiotropic functions including cellular adhesion, as well as recognition and clearance of bacteria (215) and their constituents (i.e. lipid A component of LPS) (216,217). SR-A dependent macrophage adhesion requires G protein-coupled receptors signaling and activation of PI3kinase (218,219), as well as actin cytoskeleton regulating Rho-GTPases molecules, Rac and

Cdc42 (220). SR-A is also involved in both clearance of apoptotic cells and in controlling apoptosis (148). Accumulation of intracellular free cholesterol induces a cellular stress response involving the ER (unfolded protein response) that is dependent on SR-A-mediated signaling mechanisms (221). The absence of both SR-A and CD36 in ApoE-/- mice fed a Western diet for 12 weeks is associated with reduced plaque macrophage apoptosis and necrotic core formation (222). Moreover, the demonstration that SR-A null mice are more susceptible to endotoxic shock in an infection model using *bacillus Calmette Guerin* led to the hypothesis that SR-A plays an important role in clearance of bacteria (217). Lastly, the ability of SR-A expressing dendritic cells to capture antigens for presentation to T-cells further provides important insight into the involvement of SR-A in mediating adaptive immune functions in the vessel wall (223).

#### 1.4.4 Role of SR-A in atherosclerosis

To gain better insight into the physiological relevance of SR-A *in vivo*, it is helpful to examine the various atherosclerosis-prone transgenic animal studies reported over the last 15 years. **Table 1** provides an up-to-date summary on the major results of these animal studies. Although loss of function and gain of function studies have confirmed the impact of SR-A in atherosclerosis, inconsistencies and surprising results have raised new questions surrounding the expected functions of SR-A.

Suzuki *et al.* were the first to show that SR-A deficiency is atheroprotective by crossing SR-A null mice (SR-A<sup>-/-</sup>) onto an ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> background after feeding with a normal chow diet (213). Targeted disruption of MSR1 reduced lesion size by greater than 55%. Peritoneal macrophages derived from these mice showed decreased modified lipid uptake *in vitro* compared to wild type controls. OxLDL uptake was also reduced by 15% in

Murine model	Background strain	Number of backcross generations	Sex	Diet type and length	Effect on lesion size	<i>Ex vivo</i> effect on modified lipid uptake/accumulation	Ref.
Msr-/-xApoE-/-	C57BL/6	N/A	N/A	High fat – 11wks	↓58%	↓ in peritoneal macs	(213)
Msr-/-xLDLr-/-	C57BL/6- 129/ICR chimera	N/A	F	High fat – 4 & 12wks	↓20%	$\downarrow$ in peritoneal macs.	(224)
Msr-/-xApoE3 Leiden tg	C57BL/6	11	M/F	High fat – 10wks	N.S.	Not studied	(225)
Msr-/-x LDLr-/-	C57BL/6	6	M/F	Butter fat – 30wk	↓>81%	Not studied	(226)
Msr-/-xApoE-/-	C46BL/6	7	M/F	Western - 8 wk	↑40% in males	$\downarrow$ in peritoneal macs.	(227)
Msr-/-x CD36-/- x ApoE-/-	C57BL/6	7	M/F	Western – 12 wk	*N.S	N.S	(222)
Msr-/-xApoE-/-	C57BL/6	7	M/F	High fat – 12wk	↓32% in female	Not studied	(228)
BMT SRAo/e→ApoE-/-	C57BL/6	3	N/A	Normal chow	N.S	↑ in peritononeal macs.	(229)
BMT SRAo/e→LDLr-/-	C57BL/6	4	N/A	Western 12wk post transplant	N.S	$\uparrow$ in peritoneal macs.	(230)
BMT SRAo/e→LDLr-/-	C57BL/6	10	N/A	High fat diet 8 wk post transplant	↓70%	Not studied	(231)

### Table 1. Role of SR-A in murine models on atherosclerosis

N/A = not available

N.S. = no differences (not significant) between  $SR-A^{-/-}$  null mice and littermate controls

BMT = bone marrow transplant

Ref = reference

\*Although CD36 and SRA deficiency did not impact the size of the lesion, content was affected by reducing expression of inflammatory genes as well as macrophage apoptosis and plague necrosis

macrophages that lacked SR-A. To further clarify the role of SR-A, Sakaguchi *et al.* demonstrated reduced lesion size in SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice on a LDLr background after 4 or 12 weeks of a high-fat diet compared to LDLr single null mice (224). In addition, Babaev *et al.* showed a >80% decrease in lesion size in SR-A-/- mice backcrossed to LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> C57/BL6 mice fed a butter-fat diet for 30 weeks (232). Despite these initial reports that agreed with the established concepts for the role of SR-A in foam cell formation and its expected pro-atherogenic contribution, disparate results obtained in subsequent studies sparked much debate.

Unlike the Suzuki et al study, SR-A null mice in on a hyperlipidemic ApoE3 Leiden background in the study by de Winther et al. showed a trend toward development of larger lesions in the double knockout mice (225). Moreover, Moore et al. showed a 40% increase, but slight decrease, in aortic sinus lesion area in male and female SR-A null mice on an ApoE background fed a Western diet for 8 weeks, respectively; however, these results were not statistically significant (227). Interestingly, mean cholesterol levels in the male ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice were 40% higher compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which paralleled the percent differences observed for lesion area. The increases in lesion formation in the absence of SR-A in the male mice were accompanied by accumulation of foam cell formation *in vivo* as observed by electron microscopy, suggesting that SR-A in this study is in fact protective against atherosclerosis and argued against the classical paradigm that attributes a casual role of SR-A in foam cell formation. The accumulation of foam cells in the absence of SR-A further implies that other scavenger receptors may compensate, or that alternative lipid uptake mechanisms may occur. Indeed, a recent study by Makinen et al. demonstrated that short hairpin RNA silencing of SR-A in mouse macrophages led to reciprocal upregulation

of CD36 expression (and vice versa) (233), providing a possible explanation why foam cell formation may continue to occur even in the absence of one or the other scavenger receptors. Interestingly, Moore *et al.* found that foam cell formation occurred independent from SR-A when SR-A null macrophages were incubated with aggregated LDL rather than with chemically modified LDL (acetylation or oxidation), providing more evidence that other non-receptor mediated uptake mechanisms may be playing a role (227). Kruth and colleagues have demonstrated a non-receptor mediated pathway via macropinocytosis of LDL that may explain accumulation of lipids and formation of foam cells independent from scavenger receptor function (234-236). Moroever, sex differences have been shown to impact the role of SR-A in atherosclerosis. Kuchibhotla et al. demonstrated a gender specific role of SR-A by showing that female but not male SR-A null mice backcrossed onto ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> C57/BL6 exhibited a 32% reduction in lesion area fed a high fat diet for 12 weeks (228), offering yet another interpretation into the disparity of SR-A in the literature.

In another study to further explore the impact of both SR-A and CD36 in development of foam cells and lesion formation in an advanced model of atherosclerosis, Manning-Tobin *et al.* crossed SR-A and CD36 null mice onto an ApoE background and fed the mice a Western diet for 12 weeks (222). No changes were reported in aortic *en face* and aortic sinus lesion as well as foam cell formation in the vessel wall of neither female or male ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>Cd36<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> littermates. Given that independent contribution of both SR-A and CD36 to foam cell formation is clearly documented in many earlier studies, the lack of protection effect afforded by combined deletion of both scavenger receptors was surprising and further ads to the confusion underlying the central understanding of scavenger receptor function in atherosclerosis. Although the deletion of

SR-A and CD36 in tandem did not alter atherosclerosis, a careful analysis of previous studies brings forth a number of technical and methodology caveats that may help shed light into the different results reported in each study. Whereas the Moore (227) and Manning-Tobin (222) study cited above use SR-A mice backcrossed into the C57BL/6 strain 7 times, earlier studies by Babaev, for example, report backcrossing onto this background strain 6 times (226) (**Table 1**). Strain background is well known to influence the outcome of murine atherosclerosis models. For example, a 6% lower C57BL/6 strain genome as a result of crossing a target gene 6 fewer generations into LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice caused 40% less atherosclerosis than the mice backcrossed more generations (237). Thus, the reports by Moore and Tobin-Manning that backcross the SR-A null mice 7 generations are more genetically homogeneous than previous studies. Furthermore, the early studies by Suzuki (213) and (224) reported significant reductions in lesion size in SR-A null mice on a chimeric C57BL/6-129/ICR background. While the commonly used C57/BL6 strain used in recent SR-A atherosclerosis models is considered more susceptible to plaque formation, the ICR/129 strain used in earlier studies is considered atherosclerosis-resistant (213,238). In addition, SR-A expression and uptake of lipids is shown to be higher in macrophages isolated from mice strains resistant to hypercholestermia compared to strains more susceptible to the disease (239).

The length and type of diet as well as the atherosclerosis background model is certainly a factor known to impact the size and composition of atherosclerotic lesions (21,240). Van *et al.* reported a 12 week study of atherosclerosis in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice transplanted with marrow cells overexpressing (o/e) SR-A and fed a normal chow diet supplemented with 5.7% fat (229). On the other hand Herigjgers *et al.* (241) reported another 12 week study but

in LDRr<sup>-/-</sup> transplanted with SR-Ao/e cells and fed a Western diet. Despite the use of different atherosclerotic transgenic models these studies also failed to detect any impact of SR-A on atherosclerosis. In other studies, bone marrow from SR-A overexpressing mice transplanted into irradiated LDLR<sup>-/-</sup> mice, and fed a high fat diet for 8 weeks showed reduced lesion formation by over 70% (231). The earlier study by Babaev et al. also demonstrated significant reduction in lesion size in SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> fed a butter fat diet for 30 weeks (226). Certainly, differences in ApoE and LDL null mice may account for such differences in results. LDL derived from the serum of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>, for example, is more potent in promoting binding to SR-A and CD36 than that of LDL from LDR null mice (242), demonstrating that the "atherogenicity" between these two transgenic models may provide possible explanations for the divergent impact of SR-A in the above studies. Lastly, in the study by Moore et al. macrophages isolated from SR-A null mice clearly exhibited impairment in their ability to take up modified lipids in vitro, however, this effect does not closely parallel inhibition of foam cell formation in the vessel wall (227). In vitro preparations of modified LDL are likely to display study-to-study variability in not only the extent of modification, but also contextual differences in the type of modification, which may account for the discordance of results observed between lipid uptake observed in vitro and foam cell formation reported in vivo. While acLDL is a known ligand for SR-A, the degree to which these *in vitro* preparations resemble modified lipids in the vessel wall of humans or animal models is unknown. It is well known that enzymatic modification of LDL by secretory phospholipase A2 can also induce foam cell formation in the plaque, similar to that observed with biochemical modification of LDL using acetylation or oxidation techniques (243). This provides evidence that other forms of modified lipids may render

foam cells *in vivo* involving alternative lipid uptake mechanisms independent from SR-A or CD36, and therefore may account for the progression of atherosclerosis previously observed despite the absence of SR-A.

A number of genetic studies have implicated the involvement of SR-A in human atherosclerosis but its contribution to lipid uptake pathways continues to remain unclear. SR-A is considered a polymorphic gene that contains many regions of genetic variability including single-nucleotide polymorphisms and frame-shift mutations (188). Studies performed on a founder family within a French-Canadian community revealed that a locus containing the SR-A gene may be associated with CAD (244). In another Canadian pedigree, overexpression of SR-A was observed in planar xanthomas tumors - a disease characterized by formation of papules in localized regions of the body containing foam cell deposits (245). Interestingly, no member of this family died due to CAD despite many patients displaying high plasma cholesterol profiles, further raising questions about the causative role of SR-A in lesion development.

Even in the face of apparent inconsistencies in atherosclerotic models as well as unexpected outcomes of SR-A in human diseases, it is evident that SR-A plays a pivotal role in influencing macrophage biology. Thus, development of drugs that could modulate scavenger receptor function and/or expression could potentially provide a strong basis for novel anti-atherosclerotic therapies, which could ultimately assist in further navigating the impact of SR-A *in vivo*.

#### 1.4.5 SR-A as a therapeutic target

Given the role of SR-A in mediating lipid uptake in macrophages, SR-A is considered a potential therapeutic target for atherosclerosis (246). **Table II** summarizes a number of studies that test natural or synthetic compounds as exogenous therapies to block foam cell formation. Using different macrophage cell types, these studies demonstrate that antagonizing scavenger receptor function or expression leads to reduction in foam cell formation, and the subsequent inflammatory response characteristic of atherogenesis.

Table 2. Compounds that block foam cell formation by inhibiting SR-Afunction and/or expression

Compound name	Compound source/type	Type of macrophage studied	Effect on SRA mRNA/protein	Effect on lipid uptake/accumulation	Uptake assay method	Ref.
Interleukin-4	Cytokine	Mouse peritoneal and J774	↓ protein	Ļ	I-125-acLDL	(247)
Interleukin-33	Cytokine	THP-1 and human MDM	↓ mRNA/protein	$\downarrow$	Dil-acLDL	(248)
Over-expressed GRP-78	Endoplasmic reticulum chaperone	Mouse peritoneal and THP1	N.S	$\downarrow$	Dil-acLDL	(249)
Peptide H11	Screened from a phage-displayed peptide library	THP1	↓ protein	Ļ	DiI-acLDL	(250)
Human protein S	Anti-coagulation cofactor	THP1, U937, human MDM	↓ mRNA/protein	Ļ	Alexa Fluor 488- acLDL	(251)
Heregulin-β1	Growth factor	Human MDM	↓ mRNA/protein	$\downarrow$	I-125-acLDL	(252)
LY379196	PKCβ inhibitor	Human MDM and THP1	↓ mRNA/protein	$\downarrow$	Dil-acLDL	(253)
Nobiletin	Citrus flavonoid	J774	N.S	$\downarrow$	H3-oleate	(254)
DTF	Metabolite of nobiletin	Human MDM and THP1	↓ mRNA/surface protein	Ļ	DiI-ac/oxLDL	(255)
Lycopene	Plant arotenoid	Human MDM and THP1	↓ mRNA in THP1s	$\downarrow$ CE synthesis	H3-oleate	(256)
1.35— 1,25(OH) <sub>2</sub> D3	Vitamin D	Human MDM from diabetic patients	↓ mRNA/protein	$\downarrow$	Dil-acLDL	(257)
Adiponectin	Adipocyte-plasma hormone	Human MDM and THP1	↓ mRNA/protein	$\downarrow$	Dil-acLDL	(258)
Phenolic acids	Blueberries	Mouse perit. cacs from blueberry fed mice -/-	↓mRNA/protein	↓ foam cells <i>ex vivo</i>	Oil-red-O staining	(259)
Lovastatin	Statin	THP-1	↓mRNA/protein			(260)
17β-estradiol	Estrogen	THP-1	Not studied	$\downarrow$	I-125-acLDL	(261)
HSP27	Heat shock protein	U937	Not studied	$\downarrow$	DiI-acLDL	(262)

Gene therapy has become a novel approach to modulate SR-A expression or activity (see review(246)). For example, an adenoviral vector expressed in macrophages to direct synthesis and secretion of the extracellular domain of SR-A yields a soluble SR-A molecule that may act as a "decoy" (263). This compound was found to block uptake of modified lipids and inhibit foam cell formation *in vitro* (263). Similarly, injection of a recombinant adenovirus vector encoding a similar soluble SR-A decoy into LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice results in a modest reduction in lesion burden (264,265). As such, blocking macrophage lipid accumulation through antagonism of SR-A may impede foam cell formation, offering a new strategy for prevention of morbidity and mortality associated with atherosclerosis.

#### **1.5** NF-κB and atherosclerosis

The nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- $\kappa$ B) is a key transcription factor that controls a wide variety of cellular functions including inflammation, immune regulation, survival, apoptosis, and proliferation (266).NF- $\kappa$ B is a key transcription factor that mediates important macrophage functions including survival, apoptosis, proliferation and inflammation in atherosclerotic plaques (267,268). The classical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway includes the inactive heterodimer, p50/p65, that is present in the cytoplasm and under basal conditions binds to I $\kappa$ B proteins that inhibit NF- $\kappa$ B. In response to inflammatory stimuli, a cascade of phosphorylation events increases the activity of the I $\kappa$ B kinase (IKK) complex that acts to phosphorylate I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , thereby leading to its degradation by the proteasome, and consequently, dissociation from the NF- $\kappa$ B dimers. Release of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  from p50/p65 promotes translocation of these subunits to the nucleus where they interact with specific promoter regions to modulate transcription of target genes (269). The alternative pathway (see Figure 32) is activated by members of the TNF- $\alpha$  family such as

lymphotoxin- $\beta$  (LyT- $\beta$ ) and involves IKK $\alpha$  phosphorylation of p100 leading to nuclear translocation of the p52 transcription factor (270).

NF-kB has been associated with pro-inflammatory responses in atherosclerosis (271,272); however, emerging *in vivo* data argues that NF- $\kappa$ B also regulates antiinflammatory processes in the atherosclerotic plaque (273). For example, in a study of atherosclerosis prone LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice with a macrophage-restricted deletion of IKK2 it was observed that the mice developed more severe atherosclerosis and had markedly decreased levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 (274). In addition, macrophages deficient in the NF- $\kappa$ B p50 subunit have a prolonged production of the inflammatory cytokine, TNF- $\alpha$  in response to LPS and while atherosclerosis prone LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice with a hematopoeitic deficiency for the p50 subunit have smaller lesions (41%) in the aortic root compared to LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> control mice, these lesions are characterized by an increase in accumulation of inflammatory leukocytes (275). In humans, there is evidence that a genetic deletion in the promoter of the NFKB1 gene results in decreased levels of the p50 subunit and is associated with a higher risk for coronary heart disease (276-278). Hence, these studies suggest that there are protective roles for NF-kB signaling in atherosclerosis and highlight the importance of macrophages in balancing pro- and anti-inflammatory signals in the developing lesion. Therefore, understanding the environmental conditions that promote the anti-inflammatory properties of NF-kB signaling in macrophages is crucial in the development of novel anti-atherosclerosis therapeutics. Interestingly, Lawrence et al. demonstrated that IKK $\alpha$  negatively regulates macrophage activation and inflammation by increasing degradation of p65, as well as via blocking p65 binding to promoter regions of pro-inflammatory genes (279). In addition, inactivation of IKK $\alpha$  in mice enhances

inflammation and bacterial clearance (279). These findings have led to the hypothesis that IKK $\alpha$  balances cross-talk between the alternative and canonical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway. This cross-talk works to limit the classical pro-inflammatory IKK $\beta$ – activation response, while regulating adaptive immunity through the canonical pathway (280). NF- $\kappa$ B regulates transcription of a number of inflammatory genes that have varying functions in the cell including membrane proteins, receptors, ligands, kinases, inhibitors, cytokines, adhesion molecules, apoptotic and anti-apoptotic factors, and transcription factors. Examples of genes regulated that play important roles in atherogenesis include the cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  (pro-inflammatory) (281), IL-10 (anti-inflammatory) (282,283), and GM-CSF (284).

#### **1.6 Heat Shock Protein-27**

#### 1.6.1. General introduction about heat shock proteins

In 1962, a co-worker in the Ritossa laboratory accidentally raised the water bath temperature in which larva salivary gland preps from Drosophila were incubating. Upon sub-lethal application of heat, the chromosomes within the cells of these salivary glands displayed a "puffing" pattern. The altered chromosomal pattern as a result of heat activation was interpreted as changes to the expression of particular proteins within the cells of the gland (285). This cellular process was termed the "heat shock response" and the proteins responsible for this effect were called "heat shock proteins". HSP70 was later discovered as the protein upregulated during Ritossa's serendipitous discovery, thus heralding the birth of the HSP field.

Over a decade later in 1978, Ron Laskey coined the term "molecular chaperone" to describe the function of nucleoplasmin, a nuclear protein, which was shown to aid in the

formation of the nucleosome, in part, by preventing untoward aggregation between histone complexes and DNA (286). By 1987 molecular chaperones were found to facilitate post-translational folding of proteins by binding with polypeptides as soon as they exit the ribosome complex thereby assisting with their tertiary structure and preventing newly synthesized proteins from aggregation (287).

Heat shock proteins are evolutionarily conserved proteins with high sequence homology across different species. Mammals and bacteria are known, for example, to share up to 50% sequence identity (288). Heat shock proteins are ubiquitously and constitutively expressed in all tissues of the body making up approximately 10% of total cellular protein content under normal conditions, and 15% upon activation of their genes (289).

HSP proteins have been previously classified by size, structure and function (290). The most commonly used classification method in the literature divides HSPs according to seven families based on molecular weights: HSP10, small HSPs (15-30kDa), HSP40, HSP60, HSP70, HSP90, and HSP110. HSPs are also named according to gene symbols with families often sharing similar members as those classified under the molecular weight system. For instance, the small HSP family, also called HSPB, possess 10 members including HSPB1 (or HSP27) and HSPB5 ( $\alpha\beta$  crysallin). These members share structural properties due to the presence of the  $\alpha$ -crystallin domain core in the protein sequence and are known to be upregulated under pathological conditions (291). Recently, an updated nomenclature system has been proposed to account for the growing diversity of family members within different organisms (reviewed in (292)). Briefly, these include the HSP70 superfamily (HSPA and HSPH families), the DNAJ (HSP40) family, the HSPB (small heat

shock proteins) family, the HSP90/HSPC family, and the human chaperonin families (HSBD/E and CCT).

Heat shock protein function is ascribed to maintaining cellular homeostasis as a chaperone molecule where they assist in assembly, folding, and translocation of target proteins (289). The cytosol is extremely concentrated due to high levels of protein turnover at any given time; therefore, molecular chaperones also function to prevent inappropriate aggregation of newly synthesized unfolded proteins as they exit the ribosome complex (287). They play important roles in cellular surveillance by stabilizing the three dimensional structure of proteins when cells are subject to a variety of stress conditions such as temperature changes (e.g. hyperthermia), nutritional deficiency, ultraviolet radiation exposure, oxidative stress or hypoxia, reperfusion following ischemic injury, and exposure to cytokines (289). Although functional redundancy exists between most members of heat shock protein families, each HSP is known to perform a specific task in the cell. HSP60 for instance, aids in refolding nonnative proteins in an adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-dependent manner, while HSP70 assists in refolding of aggregated proteins (293). Heat shock protein transcription is tightly regulated by heat shock factor (HSF1), a transcription factor that interacts with heat shock elements promoter regions of HSP genes (294).

In the decades that followed their discovery in the 1960's, molecular chaperones were believed to reside purely as intracellular proteins with entirely intracellular functions. However, emerging evidence now beckons the notion that they should in fact be viewed as "multiphase proteins" found both in the extracellular milieu as circulating blood factors, and bound to the cell surface. In 1989, Hightower and Guidon were the first to report that members of the HSP70 family were released from cultured embryonic cells (295); this study

supported previously ignored findings by Tytell showing that molecular chaperones were transported in the extracellular milieu from glial cells to neurons (296). Molecular chaperones are now widely studied as key players in immunological responses where they are secreted from antigen presenting cells and participate in both paracrine and autocrine cell signaling processes.

HSPs play a number of important roles relating to maintaining homeostasis of the vessel wall. The vessel wall and subendothelial space are continually exposed to a number of stress factors such as hemodynamic strain, as well as damaging factors within the blood itself (i.e. pathogens, carcinogens, and oxLDL). Therefore, vascular cells are known to produce high levels of HSPs in an attempt to protect against the potentially damaging effects of pro-inflammatory mediators (297). Accumulating evidence suggests that HSP27 is one of these HSPs that participate not only as an intracellular protective factor but also as an extracellular molecule. HSP27 is upregulated under stress conditions and capable of transducing signaling responses in a number of vascular cells including macrophages. The next series of subsections will focus on HSP27.

#### 1.6.2 HSP27: Structure and Function

Human HSP27 (and its mouse homolog, HSP25) is an ATP-independent molecular chaperone and a member of the small HSP (sHSP) family. There are 10 known sHSP genes, HSPB1-10, spanning nine chromosomes that produce protein products with different molecular weights, some displaying alternative splicing giving rise to different isoforms with varying homology (reviewed in (298). The HSP27 gene, HSPB1, encodes a sequence of 205 amino acids and contains a number of heat shock binding elements (HSE) (298). Binding of HSFs to HSEs are known to play key roles in cell survival (299,300), division

(301), differentiation (301), and ischemic stress (302). The promoter region of HSP27 also contains an estrogen response element (ERE) that regulates HSP27 transcription in response to estrogen-induced stimulation and binding of estrogen receptors to this promoter region (303,303)

The HSP27 structure is divided into domain sequences (**Figure 5A**). The  $\alpha$ -crystallin domain in the C-terminus is highly conserved among species and comprises approximately 40% of the HSP27 amino acid sequence (304). The  $\alpha$ -crystallin domain contains  $\beta$ -sheets and is involved in providing a flexible mechanical hinge essential for dimerization and chaperone function (304). The IXI domain is also highly conserved; it is located in the C-terminus and believed to participate in self-assembly of the protein by formation of hydrophobic intermolecular interactions (305). At the flanking region of the C-terminus, although not fully understood, the flexible domain is believed to play a role in binding with target proteins in addition to involvement in oligomerization and solubility of the protein (306). The N-terminus contains phosphorylation sites as well a tandem sequence of amino acid residues containing tryptophan, aspartic acid, praline, and phenylalanine, known as the WDPF motif – these domains are important for oligomerization, as well as chaperone activities (304,306). The phosphorylation sites are also involved in intracellular cell signaling pathways (discussed below).



C)





# Figure 5. Structural, biochemical and functional features of rHSP27 generated in the O'Brien lab

(A) HSP27 consists of 205 amino acids and has multiple domains including the highly conserved  $\alpha$ -crystallin domain, the IXI site, the C-terminus flanking flexible domain, three serine phosphorylation sites in the N-terminus (S15, S78, S82) and the partially conserved WPDF domain (see text for further discussion on structure/function).

(**B**) Structural schematic of full length and truncated rHSP27 domain sequences generated in the O'Brien lab. rC1 lacks 60% of the full length HSP27 amino acid sequence. Black box:  $\alpha$ -crystallin domain; White circles: serine phosphorylation sites

(C) rHSP27 was run on an SDS-PAGE gel under reducing and non-reducing conditions to illustrate its monomeric (reducing conditions) and dimer confirmation (native).

(**D**) For chaperone activity assays, insulin was incubated with DTT in the presence or absence of rHSP27, rHSP25, or rC1. Aggregation of insulin was determined by measuring absorbance using spectrometry as a function of time (courtesy of Mr. Thomas Hu of the O'Brien Lab).

HSP27 is subject to several post-translational modifications involving classical phosphorylation cascades, many of which are associated with survival pathways following stress conditions (298). These signaling cascades occur extremely rapidly following exposure to stress even before transcriptional activation of HSP27 transcripts can occur - reflecting the role of HSP27 as an early stress responder (298). HSP27 phosphorylation sites are located on serine residues 15, 78, and 82 in the N-terminus of the amino acid sequence (306) and are directly catalyzed by the MAP kinase activated protein kinase (MAPKAP)-2/3 (307-309). The mouse homologue, HSP25, on the other hand contains phosphorylation sites on serine 15 and 86 (306). PKC (310) activates HSP27 phosphorylation in response to phorbol esters (311). Both MAPKAP and PKC are regulated upstream by phosphorylation of p38 MAP kinase (312), implicating many signaling effectors such as growth factors, differentiating cytokines, and oxidative stress in modulating HSP27 phosphorylation states.

HSP27 oligomer size and chaperone activity are tightly controlled by phosphorylation activation states. Unphosphorylated and phosphorylated HSP27 are in constant steady-state, balancing chaperone activity with nascent cellular functions. Under normal conditions phosphorylation tends to decrease the size oligomers promoting actin stabilization (313), whereas conditions of stress tends to induces dephosphorylation and favors assembly of large oligomeric structures involved in chaperone activity, in turn, promoting resistance against cellular damage by helping to restore protein refolding (313). While the large unphosphorylated oligomers have greater potential to provide a sink for misfolded polypeptides serving a cytoprotective function through their chaperone activity (314), phosphorylated dimers function to stabilize the cytoskeleton at the level of F-actin turnover (314) as well as interaction with apoptosis factors (315). Large oligomers also
target denatured proteins to the proteasome (316). Unlike other chaperone molecules, HSP27 functions without the requirement of ATP. Therefore, HSP27 oligomers act as a reservoir to triage misfolded polypeptides until they can become processed by ATPdependent chaperones (317) or degraded by the proteosome (316).

#### 1.6.3 Intracellular cellular functions

HSP27 is involved in a number of intracellular cellular processes. Phosphorylated HSP27 has been shown to bind to estrogen receptor (ER)- $\beta$  and influence its cellular localization in response to estrogen signaling (318). As circulating estrogen is known to be protective against atherosclerosis, HSP27 may be an important regulator of estrogen function in the vessel wall (319). Moreover, activation of p38 MAPK, an upstream activator of HSP27, (320) regulates the induction of IL-10 secretion from human monocytes (321). HSP27 blocks TNF- $\alpha$  signaling (322), and suppresses NF- $\kappa$ B activation (323), implicating HSP27 as an anti-inflammatory stimulus. In addition, phosphorylated HSP27 negatively regulates smooth muscle cell function (324) by modulating actin filament dynamics and focal adhesions (306). As implied above, HSP27 regulates remodeling of cytoskeletal elements such as F-actin (325), microtubules (326) and intermediate filaments (327), further supporting its involvement in cellular migration and adhesion pathways (328,329).

HSP27 is cytoprotective under a variety of conditions. As an anti-oxidant, HSP27 protects cells exposed to oxidative challenges via decreasing levels of ROS and NO production (314,330,331). Another mechanism of HSP27 cytoprotection is its ability to inhibit apoptosis by blocking upstream signals that trigger cytochrome c release from mitochondria (332,333), in turn, preventing activation of downstream caspase 3 activity (334,335). Furthermore, HSP27 expression is noted in regions localized to the fibrous cap of

advanced atherosclerotic plaque (336). Taken together with its pro-survival actions, these findings may provide an explanation for HSP27's role in prevention of plaque instability and rupture (337).

Reducing HSP27 expression promotes apoptosis (333,338-340). Since high levels of HSP27 are found in many cancer cells (341,342), inhibiting HSP27 expression is currently a potential target in development of strategies to interfere with cancer progression (313,343). The cytoprotective functions of HSP27 has been further explored in a variety of other pathological conditions such as stroke (344-346), seizures (347), renal disease (348), gastric ulcers (349), myocardial infarction (350,351), Alzheimer's disease (346), and Huntington's disease (352,353). Lastly, the discovery that inherited neuropathologies like Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease are associated with HSP27 mutations (354) supports HSP27 as an important intracellular cytoprotective factor.

#### 1.6.4 Role of HSP27 in atherosclerosis

There is emerging evidence that molecular chaperones have "moon-lighting" functions acting both as traditional intracellular chaperones but also functioning outside the cell as immunoregulatory pluripotent modulators (288). A number of heat shock proteins such as HSP70 (355,356), HSP90, and calnexin are secreted from cells via vesicle-like exosomes (357) in response to stress stimuli. This provides evidence that intracellular chaperone molecules have the ability to exit the cell. In addition, members of the HSP70 superfamily bind the cytoplasmic domain of SR-A in macrophages (357,358). Exogenous HSP27 prevents differentiation of monocytes into dendritic cells by modulating the inflammatory response to TLR4 at the cell surface (359) strengthening the notion that HSPs mediate adaptive and innate immune responses in the context of atherosclerosis.

The O'Brien laboratory, in conjunction with two other laboratories, simultaneous provided evidence to suggest that HSP27 may be a biomarker of atherosclerotic disease. Martin-Ventura et al. found that patients suffering from carotid atherosclerotic disease had lower serum HSP27 level compared to healthy controls (360). The O'Brien lab (336) and the Rose lab (361) reported diminished expression of HSP27 in atherosclerotic plaques compared to vessels free of disease further validating the association between augmented HSP27 levels and protection against atherosclerosis. Despite using a small sample size, Park *et al.* reported elevated HSP27 levels in patients with acute coronary syndrome, and diminished levels of HSP27 in plaque compared to adjacent disease free regions (362). Lastly, a proteomic study demonstrated that HSP27 was elevated in stable compared to unstable plaques further implicating HSP27 in events relating to plaque vulnerability (363).

It is clear that there is a link between HSP27 levels in the serum and expression in the vessel wall with atherosclerosis in humans. Yet, it remained ambiguous whether HSP27 levels are secondary to atherosclerosis as an artifact or stress response during the disease process, or if HSP27 plays a causal role in directly regulating its pathology. The next section provides the chronology of milestone HSP27-related discoveries in the O'Brien lab, and sets up a contextual framework for the work presented in this thesis.

#### **1.7 Background on HSP27 in the O'Brien Lab**

It is well known that premenopausal women are protected from CAD compared to age-matched men; however, rates of CAD rise in women after menopause and surpass that of men later in life (364). The differences in CAD between men and women were originally hypothesized by the O'Brien lab to occur through the loss of ovarian estrogen levels in postmenopausal women. Estrogens mediate its biological effects through activation of

estrogen receptors (ER) that bind to promoter regions of target genes. While ER $\alpha$  is largely studied as a regulator of reproductive tissue function as well as in pathological conditions such as uterine and breast cancers,  $ER\beta$  is found differentially expressed in non-reproductive tissue such as in the heart. For example, Christian *et al.* showed that ER $\beta$  but not ER $\alpha$  was abundantly expressed in coronary arteries of post-menopausal women and correlated with advanced atherosclerosis suggesting that estrogen mediates its cardioprotective actions through regulation of ER $\beta$  in the vessel wall (365). Hence, the O'Brien lab postulated that novel proteins may associate with ER $\beta$  to regulate its protective functions. In 2005, the O'Brien lab discovered HSP27 as an ER- $\beta$  associated protein that functions as a co-repressor of estrogen signaling *in vitro* (336). Interestingly, this study further showed that HSP27 expression decreases, and is proportional to the increased stage of CAD in humans - an effect that was independent from ER $\beta$  in the vessel wall. As previously indicated above, simultaneous findings by De Souza et al. and Martin-Ventura et al. confirmed that HSP27 levels were diminished in regions of the vessel wall that contain plaque versus those regions which are disease free (360,361). In 2008, to further explore the role of HSP27 in atherosclerosis, the O'Brien lab crossed ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice with HSP27 overexpressing mice (262). When HSP27 overexpressing mice were fed a high fat diet they exhibited higher HSP27 serum levels (>10 fold increase) and atheroprotection compared to littermate controls, but only in the females. In fact, correlation of HSP27 serum levels with lesion size revealed decreased HSP27 serum levels associated with increased lesion size, suggesting that augmented levels of HSP27 is required to confer its protective effects. In addition, in vitro data showed that estrogens promoted the release of HSP27 from macrophages into the serum.

Next, two papers were published in the O'Brien lab demonstrating the role of estrogen in HSP27 mediated atheroprotection effects. Using an ovariectomy model, removal of estrogens from HSP27 overexpressing mice blunted the reductions in lesion formation compared to mice with intact ovaries (366). However, infusion of estrogen therapy to the ovariectomized transgenic mice rescued the protective effect previously observed in the HSP27 overexpressing animals, demonstrating that HSP27 serum levels are directly associated with atherosclerosis. Moreover, treatment of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice with 8βVE2, an ERβ specific agonist, reduced lesion size and induced secretion of HSP27 from macrophages *in vitro* (367).

To explore the cells that were instrumental in producing HSP27 mediated atheroprotection (e.g., vascular smooth muscle cells vs. cells of hematopoietic origin) transplantation of HSP27 overexpressing bone marrow cells into  $ApoE^{-/-}$  recipients was performed.  $ApoE^{-/-}$  recipients receiving HSP27 overexpressing cells showed dramatic reductions in lesion burden demonstrating that immune cells are central for HSP27 responses *in vivo* (368). This study supported the 2008 report from the O'Brien lab showing that extracellular HSP27 modulates macrophage biology by competing with SR-A for acLDL thereby inhibiting foam cell formation and favoring a sequelae of downstream inflammatory responses involving secretion of the anti-inflammatory IL-10, and blocking release of the pro-inflammatory IL-1 $\beta$  (262).

In a chronic model of atherosclerosis where HSP27 overexpressing ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice were fed a high fat diet for 12 weeks, the protective response of HSP27 was not limited to female mice (as observed in the previous acute model). Atheroprotection was achieved in both male and female mice in the aforementioned chronic experiment and was accompanied

by elevated HSP27 serum levels as well as reduced lipid, macrophage content and apoptosis in the plaque (369). However, it remained unclear how HSP27 was regulating cholesterol handing in the lesion and how it interacted with SR-A at the surface of macrophages to attenuate foam cell formation.

To explore the utility of extracellular HSP27 as an anti-atherogenic therapeutic, the O'Brien lab recently generated purified rHSP27 using bacterial expression systems. Initial studies revealed that treatment of female and male ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed a high fat diet concomitant with subcutaneous injections of rHSP27 for 3 weeks lead to a reduction in lesions compared to control groups (370). This was accompanied by reductions in total serum cholesterol levels, as well as decreases in macrophage content and apoptosis in the lesion. Finally, the number of apoptotic cells and macrophage content in the plaque were reduced by 80% and 45% respectively with rHSP27 treatment. Preliminary pharmokinetics revealed that injection with rHSP27 was sufficient to raise serum HSP27 levels 100-fold higher than levels observed in the HSP270/e model, e.g. 200 ng/ml at the half life of rHSP27 injection (90 min) compared with 2 ng/ml in the HSP270/e mice, which may provide an explanation for the ability of HSP27 to overcome the aforementioned sex-dependent effects (communication with Dr. Charles Cuerrier). As will be described, the O'Brien lab has also produced rHSP25 (murine homologue) plus a truncated form C-terminus form (C1) that appears to be a biologically inactive control.

# 2.0 RATIONALE AND STATEMENT OF HYPOTHESIS / OBJECTIVES2.1 Rationale

The focus of this thesis is HSP27, a protein that the O'Brien lab initially discovered to associate with ER $\beta$  and subsequently as an anti-atherogenesis (or "atheroprotective") factor (336). Moreover, while heat shock proteins are generally thought to function inside the cell as molecular chaperones, it was the release of HSP27 into the extracellular space / serum that was found to be critical for the modulation of atherogenesis (262). Three important observations arose from these initial studies: 1) Extracellular HSP27 interacts with SR-A in macrophages where it favorably modulates downstream anti-inflammatory processes, 2) Atheroprotection in HSP27 o/e ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice is associated with reduced macrophage and cholesterol accumulation in the lesion, and 3) rHSP27 administered systemically during the early stages of atherogenesis (3 weeks of a high fat diet or HFD) in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice led to therapeutic benefits (370). There is convincing evidence that HSP27 appears to modulate macrophage biology by regulating cholesterol uptake in the vessel wall. Nonetheless, gaps remain in the understanding of how HSP27 confers atheroprotection. Specifically, how HSP27 interacts with SR-A in macrophages to control foam cell formation and accumulation of macrophages in the lesion is yet to be determined. SR-A is a crucial player in initiating foam cell formation and the inflammatory response central for lesion development. Given the role of SR-A in atherogenesis, this thesis asks two important questions: 1) How does HSP27 interact with SR-A to regulate foam cell accumulation?; and 2) Is SR-A is an essential target for HSP27 atheroprotection? Therefore, in order to advance the exploration for the utility of HSP27 as a new, endogenous therapeutic for vascular

disease, the central purpose of this thesis is to elucidate the mechanism(s) by which HSP27 is atheroprotective - focusing specifically on its effects on SR-A.

# 2.2 Statement of hypothesis / objectives

# 2.2.1 Hypothesis

HSP27-mediated atheroprotection requires the presence of SR-A.

More specifically, three sub- hypotheses include:

- A) Extracellular HSP27 inhibits foam cell formation by blocking acLDL uptake in macrophages via modulation of SR-A expression in macrophages.
- B) The effect of HSP27 on SR-A expression is NF-κB-dependent.
- C) SR-A is important for HSP27 atheroprotection in vivo.

# 2.2.2 Global Objectives

The global objectives of this thesis are to elucidate HSP27's effect on SR-A to inhibit foam

cell formation, and whether this interplay is important for HSP27 atheroprotection in vivo.

Four specific objectives were pursued:

- A) Explore whether extracellular HSP27 modulates acLDL uptake and binding in human and mouse macrophages.
- B) Determine if HSP27 modulates SR-A expression at the gene and protein level.
- C) Determine whether HSP27 mediates signaling events downstream of the cell surface, and whether interaction with NF-κB is involved in these biological responses.
- D) Determine if SR-A is required to mediate HSP27 anti-atherogenic responses *in vivo* by injecting rHSP27 into ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

# **3.0 METHODS AND MATERIALS**

# 3.1 O'Brien Lab recombinant proteins

#### 3.1.1 Production and synthesis

N-terminal His-tagged full length HSP27 or HSP25 DNA was constructed into a pET-21a vector. The plasmids were then transformed into *Escherichia coli* (E.coli) expression strain (Rosetta cell set, Calbiochem - Mississauga, Canada). For the HSP27 truncated mutant (rC1), amino acid 1-92 of the full length HSP27 N-terminus was cloned as previously described. Recombinant proteins were purified with Ni-NTA resin (Qiagen, Duesseldorf, Germany) and refolded by dialysis. Endotoxin was determined using the Limulus Amebocyte Lysate (LAL) test as per manufacturer's instructions (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland). Removal of endotoxin was performed using Detoxi-Gel Endotoxin Removing Gel as per manufacturer's instructions (Thermo Scientific, Ottawa, Canada). After purification, endotoxin levels were determined to be less than 5 endotoxin units (EU) per mg consistent with acceptable levels for cell culture (371,372), and studies using murine models (373). Purity of the final recombinant proteins were determined to be > 95% by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide (SDS-PAGE). After production and purification of each lot of recombinant proteins were run on a 10% an SDS-PAGE gel either in the absence or presence of DTT (to bread disulfide bonds) to confirm proper folding and oligerimization.

#### 3.1.2 Chaperone Activity Assay

To measure the functional chaperone activity of recombinant proteins DTT-induced aggregation of insulin was performed in the absence or presence of rHSP27, rHSP25, rC1 and PBS at pH 7.4. Insulin (40  $\mu$ M. Novo Nordisk – Denmark) was incubated with 4 $\mu$ M rHSP27, rHSP25 or rC1 in a PBS solution containing 20mM DTT (Sigma, St. Louis, MO)

and incubated for 10min at 43°C. Aggregation was monitored by measuring the absorbance at 320nm in a Bioteck Synergy Mx (Winooski, VT) spectrophotometer for 1 min. intervals up to 30min (374).

#### **3.2** Cell culture systems

#### 3.2.1 Human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1)

The human THP-1 monocytic leukemia cell line was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATTC, Manassas, VA) and grown in complete RPMI 1640 media (Hyclone, Ottawa, Canada) containing 10U/ml penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, Burlington, On), 5mM sodium pyruvate and 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco) at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> according to manufacturer's instructions. Subcultures were split every three or four days and maintained at 0.2-1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml as per manufactures instructions. Cell counts were routinely performed with a Beckman Coulter counter (Mississauga, Ontario) system using trypan blue dye exclusion for determination of viability. For all experiments, except where otherwise indicated, undifferentiated cells, between passage 3 and 16, were seeded at 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/well in 24-well plates, and stimulated with 50 ng/ml phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA, Sigma - St. Louis, MO) to induce differentiation into a macrophage-like phenotype as previously described (169,375). Cells were considered differentiated into mature macrophages after exposure to PMA for 2 days and used as the primary *in vitro* model to reflect the function and regulation of macrophages in the vessel wall (376).

#### 3.2.2 Human monocyte derived macrophages (hMDM)

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from whole blood of healthy individuals by Histopaque (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) gradient centrifugation. PBMCs were seeded at 10 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells in 24-well plates in complete RPMI media (Gibco, Burlington, On). Media was changed 2 hours after initial seeding, then once every 48 hours thereafter to remove non-adherent contaminating cell populations such as platelets, and lymphocytes. After 7 days, spindle shaped adherent cells were considered differentiated macrophages as described previously (377).

#### 3.2.3 Mouse bone-marrow derived macrophages (BMDM)

Bone marrow cells were isolated from at least 8 week old female or male ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> or SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Bone marrow from the tibia and femur of excised hind limbs were flushed out, and seeded at 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/well in 24 well plates. Cells were grown and maintained in DMEM (Gibco, Burlington, On) supplemented with 20% L929 (ATCC, Manassas, VA) conditioned media (containing secreted M-CSF), 10% FBS, and 10U/ml penicillin/streptomycin. M-CSF is known to play a role in differentiation of macrophage populations and used in previous studies as a macrophage differentiation factor for cells of bone marrow origin (378,379). Incubation for 10 days rendered the cells into differentiated macrophages with previously described characteristics including spindle morphology, Mac-2 staining, and acLDL uptake (379).

#### 3.2.4 THP-1 Blue Cells – NF- $\Box$ B reporter cell line

THP-1 Blue cells were purchased from Invitrogen (San Diego, CA). They are a human monocytic cell line stably transfected with an NF- $\kappa$ B inducible secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) gene. Stimulation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway activates the SEAP reporter gene, which leads to translation of SEAP protein and subsequent secretion into the media. It has previously been reported (ref) that assayed SEAP levels directly reflect levels

of NF- $\kappa$ B activity. THP-1 Blue cells were maintained at 0.2-1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml, and subcultured in complete RPMI-1640 media supplemented with Zeocin (100ug/ml, InvivoGen - San Diego, California) –to select for positive reporter clones. For NF- $\kappa$ B activity experiments, cells were seeded at 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells in 96 well plates in complete RPMI media in the absence of Zeocin. Cells were differentiated with PMA (50ng/ml) for 24 hours followed by addition of fresh media without PMA. Following experimental treatment, conditioned media from each replicate group was measured for the presence of SEAP using Quanti-blue medium as per manufacturer's instructions (Invitrogen, San Diego, CA).

3.2.5 Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells stably transfected with mouse SR-A

CHO-SR-A and mock (CHO-K1) cells were obtained from Dr. Dawn Bowdish (McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada). CHO cells which otherwise do not express SR-A, were stably transfected with a mouse SR-A1 plasmid under the control of a *Cytomegalovirus* (CMV) promoter to induce constitutively active expression of the target gene. Cells were used between passages 2-5. They were maintained and subcultured in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS and 10U/ml penicillin/streptomycin. For uptake and immunoblotting assays, cells were seeded at 1 x  $10^6$  cells well in 24 well dishes.

# **3.3** Treatment strategy for recombinant proteins and other blockers or inhibitors

Cells were treated with molar equivalent concentrations of recombinant proteins for consistency between the different proteins (rC1 and rHSP27/25 have different amino acid sequence lengths) and ease of interpreting the data in the text. Since the sequence of rC1 is 60% less than rHSP27 and rHSP25, the molar equivalent of the full length proteins were determined based on the number of amino acids present in the sequence and the amount of

protein used in the experiment. For example, 9.6 µM is equivalent to 250 µg/ml of rHSP27 (and rHSP25) and 150 µg/ml of rC1 For experiments involving THP-1 cells, recombinant proteins were added to the media either at the same time as addition of PMA (then incubated for 2 days to induce differentiation), or 24 hours after the 2 day PMA differentiation process. For uptake assays involving receptor competition experiments, recombinant proteins were added either 1 hr prior to addition of acLDL or simultaneously. In SR-A gene experiments involving qPCR, cells were treated for either 6 or 24 hours after PMA differentiation as indicated. Moreover, in some experiments 10 ng/ml polymixin B (PMB, Calbiochem), was added to the media at the same time as the recombinant proteins or LPS (Sigma and Calbiochem) to neutralize endotoxin contamination (380,381). For experiments involving THP-1 Blue, hMDM, or BMDM cells were treated with recombinant proteins or LPS for 24 hours after the respective differentiation processes. Cells were pre-treated with fucoidan (10 and 50µg/ml - Sigma), and antibodies against SR-A for 1 hour before addition of DiI-acLDL. Anti-hSR-A1 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) was used for THP-1 cells and the 2F8 clone used for CHO-SR-A1 cells (AbD Serotec, Raleigh, NC). In some experiments, 250 µg/ml unlabeled acLDL (Biomedical Technologies, Stoughton, MA) was added to cells at the same time as DiI-acLDL. In experiments testing the involvement of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, cells were pre-treated with the NF-kB inhibitor, BAY11-7082 (Calbiochem) at the accepted concentration (10  $\mu$ M) (382) for 1 hour prior to addition of rHSP27 or LPS.

#### **3.4** AcLDL uptake assays

Uptake of acLDL was confirmed by multiple techniques including flow cytometry, confocal microscopy, fluorescent plate reader method, and oil red O staining. Except for oil red O, these methods involved the use of a fluorescent probe, 1,1'-dioctadecyl-3,3,3'3'- tetramethylindocarbocyanine perchlorate (DiI) conjugated to acLDL (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen) (383,384). Unless otherwise specified, cells were incubated with DiI-acLDL at  $5\mu g/ml$  for 3 hours prior to being assayed for the level of incorporated fluorescence using the techniques as described below.

#### 3.4.1 Flow cytometry analysis

For flow cytometric analysis following incubation with DiI-acLDL, cells were washed twice with ice cold PBS to rinse away excess dye and cell debris. Cells were then incubated with detachment buffer (5mM EDTA in PBS pH 7.4 and RPMI 1640 containing 10% FBS) for 15 min at 37°C, then lifted by gently flushing of the well with a pipetter. Cells were filtered by passing the cell suspension solution through a 70µM strainer (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ) before being spun at 400g for 5mins at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in wash buffer (0.13% EDTA and 1% FBS in PBS) to prevent cell clumping, spun again, and then resuspended in 300ul of PBS containing 1% BSA (Sigma). At least 100 000 cells were analyzed in a BD FACSAria (San Jose, California) using system software (BD FACS Diva version 6.1.2). Baseline fluorescence values and gating were based on cells not incubated with labeled lipoproteins. Representative histograms are displayed next to each graph and show the amount of fluorescence as a function of cell population. Percent positive Dil-acLDL cells were interpreted as the amount of labeled lipoproteins incorporated

into the cell. For some datasets, the percent positive DiI-acLDL cells in each experimental group were adjusted and plotted as a percent of the no treatment control.

#### 3.4.2 Confocal microcopy and live cell imaging

Confocal microscopy imaging of live cells was performed to simultaneously visualize incorporation of acLDL into the cell and measure the amount of dye being taken up. THP-1 cells were seeded at 6 x  $10^5$  cells/well into 24 well plates on glass coverslips. Following treatment and incubation with DiI-acLDL, cells were washed twice with PBS then incubated with 25 µg/ml Hoechst (Sigma) to label nuclei. Coverslips were mounted onto live cell imaging chamber slides in media supplemented with 10mM Hepes buffer to maintain pH during processing of images. Slides were then placed into a heated chamber fixed onto the microscope stage. Using identical parameters for each control or experimental group, fluorescent images in the DiI channel (excitation: 551nm; emission; 565 nm) and Hoechst channel (excitation 353nm; emission 435 nm) were captured in triplicates at 1000x magnification using oil immersion. To quantify the level of fluorescence, integration of fluorescence intensity was determined by software analysis in each DiI image and normalized to the number nuclei counted in the 1000x field. The ratio of DiI fluorescence/cell number was further plotted as a percent of the no treatment control.

#### 3.4.3 Fluorescent plate reader method

THP-1 cells were seeded at  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/well into 96 well plates. DiI-acLDL was added to the cells for 3 hours following pre-treatment with recombinant proteins. Cells were washed at least twice with PBS to remove excess dye. Complete media was then added to the cells before fluorescent signal was measured in a SynergyMX (BioTech) fluorescent

plate reader at an excitation of 520nm and emission of 580nm. Cells were then incubated with Hoechst  $(25\mu g/ml)$  for 15 min at 37°C then washed three times with PBS. Hoechst fluorescence was measured at an excitation of 348 nm and emission of 455 nm. AcLDL uptake was analyzed by calculating a ratio of the DiI to Hoechst fluorescence.

#### 3.4.4 Oil Red O foam cell assay

BMDM isolated from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> were seeded onto glass coverslips and differentiated as previously described above. To confirm the impact of SR-A in foam cell formation, macrophages were incubated with 50 µg/ml acLDL (Biomedical Technologies) for 24hr then evaluated for foam cell formation as previously described (385). Briefly, cells were washed twice with PBS then fixed in 4% paraformadehyde (PFA, Sigma) in PBS for 10 min. Cells were then rinsed in 60% isopropanol for 15 seconds to facilitate staining of neutral lipids followed by staining with 6:4 filtered oil Red O (Sigma) working solution to water at 37°C for 10 min (stock solution prepared using 0.5% w:v Oil red O in 100% isopropanol pre-warmed to 60°C). Cells were rinsed with 60% isopropanol for 15 sec then rinsed 3X with PBS for 3 min. Cells were then counterstained with hematoxylin, washed with PBS to remove excess stain then mounted on glass coverslips using 0.5% glycerol solution. Images were captured using a light microscope with oil immersion at 1000X magnification. Positive-stained (red) cells were considered macrophages-derived foam cells.

# **3.5** AcLDL binding assays

Macrophages were seeded at  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/well in quadruplicate in a 96-well plate. Binding assays involved incubation of cell with DiI-acLDL at 4°C for 2hrs (rather than 37°C for uptake assays to prevents endocytosis of ligand/receptor complex into the cell (386).

Cells were then washed extensively to remove unbound dye. Fluorescent signal was measured using the SynergyMx plate reader at 520nm excitation and 580nm emission specta.

# **3.6** Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (q-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted from THP-1 cells with TRIZOL reagent (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer's instructions. RNA quality (integrity, purity, and degradation) were assessed by size chromatography on RNA 6000 Agilent Nano chips using the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer instrument and software (Mississauga, ON). Samples with relative index numbers (RIN) above 7 were considered acceptable for further processing as per manufacturer's instructions and published guidelines (387). RNA concentration was determined using a Nanodrop Spectrophotometer ND-100 (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, Canada) before purification by RNAeasy Mini Kit as per manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Duesseldorf, Germany). Total RNA was converted to cDNA with a Transcriptor First Strand cDNA synthesis kit (Roche Scientific, Laval, Quebec) in a final volume of 20 µl using 1 µg RNA and anchored-oligo(dT)18 primers according to manufacturer's instructions. qPCR was performed in a Roche 480 LightCycler. All qPCR experiments were performed in triplicate using the LightCycler 480 SYBR Green 1 Master kit (Roche). Each reaction (20ul) contained 5µl template cDNA, 0.5µM of each primers, 10 µl Master Mix (containing buffer, dNTPs, SYBR Green, and Tag polymerase), and 3 µl PCR-grade water. The following primers were used for SR-A: sense - TGGAATAGTGGCAGCTCAACTCC; antisense -CATTTCCTCTTCGCTGTC ATTTCCTT, and for β-actin: sense -

GCCATCCTGCGCTGACTGACTACC; antisense - GGCGACGTAGCACAGCTTCTCC. The amplification program consisted of 1 cycle at 95°C for 5 minutes, followed by 45 cycles with a melting phase at 95°C for 10 seconds, an annealing phase at 60°C for 5 seconds, and an elongation phase at 72°C for 8 seconds. A melting curve analysis was performed after amplification to verify the accuracy of the primer product. For verification of the correct amplification, a selection of PCR products was visualized on an ethidium bromide-stained 1% agarose gel. A calibration curve was generated for SR-A and  $\beta$ -actin primers to determine their efficiencies using the following purified amplicon serial dilutions: 1x10<sup>4</sup>, 1x10<sup>5</sup>, 1x10<sup>6</sup>, and 1x10<sup>7</sup>. Crossing point values were determined using the Roche LightCycler 1.5 software. Relative expression ratios between experimental and control groups using target and reference gene efficiencies and crossing points (Cps), were calculated using the Pfaffl method as previously described (388).

# 3.7 Western Blotting

Immunoblotting was used to semi-quantitatively measure the level of SR-A protein expression in total cellular lysate. Media was aspirated from THP-1 and CHO cells followed by washing twice with ice cold PBS. Cells were lysed with RIPA buffer (5M NaCL, 1M Tris, 10% SDS, Triton X-100, 0.25g Na-deoxycholate, and 1 tablet of complete protease inhibitors (Roche, Scientific), and incubated on ice for 30 min to allow protein digestion to occur. Insoluble cell components were pelleted by spinning lysate at 13.3 x 10<sup>3</sup> RPM at 4°C for 20min. The supernatant containing soluble proteins were removed and quantified using a BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Scientific, Ottawa, Canada). Cell lysates were then prepared in 5X non reducing sample buffer (0.25M Tris-Cl pH 6.8, 10% SDS, 50% glycerol, and bromophenol blue). 25  $\mu$ M of protein was resolved by 8% SDS-PAGE for anti-hSR-A blots and 6% gels for anti-CD204 (2F8 clone). Proteins were transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes for 7 min at 20 volts using the semi-dry iBlot apparatus (Invitrogen, San Diego, CA). PVDF membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk in tris

buffered saline supplemented with 0.5% Triton X (TBS-T) for 1hr, probed with mouse antihuman SR-A1 (1:500, R&D), or at anti-mouse CD204 (1:700, Serotec), or mouse anti- $\beta$ actin (1:100 000, Abcam - Cambridge, MA) antibodies. Blots were then incubated with goat anti-mouse IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP) secondary antibody (1:5000 for hSR-A1 blots; 1:10000 for  $\beta$ -actin blots, Santa Cruz - Santa Cruz, California), or goat anti-IgG-HRP (1:5000, Millipore - Billerica, MA) for CD204 blots. Finally, blots were incubated for 5 min with a chemiluminescence substrate, ECL plus (GE Health Care - Baie d'Urfe, Quebec). Bands were detected using an Alpha Innotech (Santa Clara, California) imaging station and densitometry performed using AlphaEaseFc software. For each experiment, quantification of target protein band density was standardized to  $\beta$ -actin as a control.

#### 3.8 SR-A surface expression

#### 3.8.1 Flow cytometry

To quantify surface expression of SR-A using flow cytometry, cells were lifted with detachment buffer, filtered, spun, and washed once in washing buffer as previously indicated above for acLDL uptake assays. Cells were resuspended in 2% BSA in PBS, and then incubated with 0.5µg of anti-human SR-A1 or IgG2B isotype control conjugated to phycoerythrin (PE, antibodies obtained from R&D). Unbound antibody was removed by washing the cells twice in PBS. At least 100 000 events were analyzed in a BD FACSAria using the PE channel. Gating was set according to basal fluorescence in unlabeled cells. The level of surface SR-A was calculated by plotting the percent positive PE labeled cells as a percentage of the no treatment control.

#### 3.8.2 Confocal microscopy

Confocal microscopy was also used to visualize the SR-A surface expression. Live cell imaging was performed as previously described.

### **3.9** Cell viability and apoptosis assays

#### 3.9.1 MTT assays

To rule out that differences between experimental and controls are the result of reduced cell number due to cytotoxicity effects, cell viability was assessed with a (3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. Cells were incubated with MTT solution (5mg/ml, Sigma) for ~4hr. Media containing MTT was aspirated followed by solublization of blue crystals with 2-propanol and 0.2M HCL (7.3:1 mixture). Absorbance, which is proportional to the number of surviving cells, was read at 570 nM in a SynergMx spectrophotometer.

#### 3.9.2 Annexin-V staining

To rule out the possibility that recombinant protein treatment is activating apoptosis, cells were labeled with PE-Annexin V and the cell viability marker 7-AAD as per manufacturer's instructions (PE Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit I, BD Scientific -). Cells were processed for flow cytometry analysis as indicated above. At least 100 000 events were run and analyzed using appropriate gating and colour compensation in cells that received no antibody and dual stains, respectively.

#### **3.10** Mouse models

#### 3.10.1 Genotyping

All animals used in this study conform to the University of Ottawa Animal Care and Veterinary Services (ACVS) standard operating procedures with respect to handling, husbandry, and ethics guidelines. ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> (double knockout, KO) mice were received from Dr. Kathryn Moore (New York University, New York) backbred at least 10 generations into the C57/BL6 strain. Littermates were generated from crossing heterozygous SR-A<sup>+/-</sup>ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice to each other to generate SR-A<sup>+/+</sup>ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> followed by inbreeding these mice to produce ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Genomic DNA from ear and/or tail clippings were extracted using QIAGEN DNeasy Blood and Tissue kit according to manufacturer's instructions and genotyping for MSR and ApoE PCR were performed as previously described (227). Briefly, genotyping of ApoE and SR-A knockout mice involve the use of three primers that span either the coding region or interrupting insert of the respective model. For genotyping of ApoE mice the following primers were used: primer #1: GCCTAGCCGAGG

GAGAGCCG; primer #2: TGTGACTTGGGAGCTCTGCAGC; primer #3:

GCCGCCCCGACTGCATCT. Primer #1 and #2 amplifies 155 base pairs (bp) of the wild type allele while primer #1 and #3 amplifies 245 bp of the targeted allele. For genotyping of SR-A mice the following primers were used: primer #1: AGAATTTCAGCATGGCA

ACTG; primer #2:CCATCTGCACGAGACTAGTGAGAC; and primer #3:

ACGGACTCTGA CATGCAGTG. Primer #1 and #2 will amplify a 400 bp band from the targeted allele while primer #1 and Primer #3 will amplify a 200 bp band from the wild type allele. DNA samples were loaded onto agarose gels supplemented with 25µg/ml ethidium bromide (Sigma).

#### 3.10.2 HSP25 injection strategy

Mice were fed a normal chow diet (Harlan, Indianapolis, IN) until 7 or 8 weeks of age. Concomitant with the start of twice daily (B.I.D) subcutaneous injections (S.C) of 50µg rHSP25 or PBS (both 50µl), mice were placed on a high-fat diet *ad libum* consisting of 1.25% cholesterol and 15.8% fat (Harlan). S.C injections commenced for three weeks with a minimum of 8 hours between the morning and afternoon doses. Injections were performed at the nape region of the neck using 1cc insulin syringes (Terumo, Somerset, NJ). The dose of rHSP27 and 3 week timeline was chosen based on previous optimization experiments from the O'Brien using different over 3 weeks. In addition, given the large amount of recombinant protein required to carry out these experiments, the 3 weeks duration was chosen due to the limited quantity available at this time. Three weeks of a high fat diet induced early lesion formation and the extent of lesion formation in our model was significant and measurable at the time of sacrifice as compared to other studies using similar models (389). Body weight was measured on the first and last day of injection.

#### **3.11** Serum cholesterol measurements

After completion of the final injection, mice were euthanized and blood samples were collected in serum separator tubes (BD Scientific) via puncture of the left ventricle for analysis of total serum cholesterol using an enzymatic assay kit as per manufacturer's instructions (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd, Osaka, Japan). Serum samples were run using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) to obtain cholesterol profiles of lipid fractions (262).

#### **3.12** Preparation of the en face aorta and evaluation of atherosclerosis

The aorta was microdissected from the ascending aorta to the thoracic segments and the adventitial tissue was removed before it was pinned to a black wax surface using microneedles and imaged using an Olympus BX50 microscope (Center Valley, Pennsylvania). Thereafter, the aorta was opened longitudinally with the primary incision following the lesser curvature of the arch. To obtain a flat preparation for imaging, a second incision was made along the greater curvature of the arch down to the level of the left subclavian artery. Lipid-rich intraluminal lesions were stained with oil red O (0.5% in propylene glycol) and imaged as previously described (262). The *en face* atherosclerotic lesions of aorta were analyzed by three blinded independent observers using Image-Pro software (Media Cybernetics, Silver Spring, MD) to calculate the total and atherosclerotic lesion areas. As described previously the extent of atherosclerosis was expressed as the percentage of surface area of the entire aorta covered by lesions (262,390).

#### **3.13** Preparation of aortic sinus and evaluation of atherosclerosis

The top half of the heart containing the aortic root was frozen in Tissue-Tek O.C.T. media. Serial 10-µm sections of the aortic sinus with valves were cut, beginning at the level where the aortic valve first appears, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E), Masson's trichrome and oil red O. Additional tissue sections were used for immunohistochemical / immunofluorescence labeling. For the quantification of atherosclerotic lesion areas all micrographs were captured with a bright field / fluorescence microscope (Olympus BX60, magnification at 40-1000) and analyzed by two observers using Image-Pro software. Lesion area data for each mouse is presented as the mean lesion area of six sections.

#### 3.14 Quantification of macrophage content in lesions

Immunolabeling of tissue sections for macrophage content was performed using the immunofluorescence method as described previously (391). Briefly, the *en face* aortia or serial 10- $\mu$ m sections of aortic sinus were pre-incubated with 10% normal horse serum in PBS for 5 minutes followed by an rat anti-mouse macrophage primary antibody (Mac-2; Accurate Chemical and Scientific Corp., Westbury, New York, USA) diluted in PBS 1:500 at 4°C overnight. After repetitive rinsing with PBS, the sections were incubated with a FITC-conjugated anti-rat IgG second antibody (1:100; Vector Laboratories - Burlington, Ontario) for 20 minutes at room temperature (RT) before addition of the nuclear fluorochrome Hoechst 33258 for 5 minutes at RT (0.1 µg/ml; Sigma). The immunopositive areas in cross sections were quantified using Image-Pro software according to previously described techniques (262,390).

### 3.15 Immunohistochemical expression of SR-A in the vessel wall

Immunolabeling of tissue sections for SR-A content was performed using the avidinbiotin-alkaline phosphatase method (Vector Laboratories, as described previously (390). Briefly, serial 10- $\mu$ m sections of aortic sinus were pre-incubated with 10% normal horse serum in PBS for 5 minutes followed by an goat anti-mouse SR-A primary antibody (A-20, Santa Cruz) diluted in PBS 1:50 at 4°C overnight. After repetitive rinsing with PBS, the sections were incubated with a biotinylated rabbit anti-goat secondary antibody (1:100, Vector Laboratories) for 10 minutes at room temperature. The endogenous peroxidase was quenched with 3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> for 10 minutes. Antibody reactivity was detected using an ABC kit (Vector Laboratories, and visualized with diaminobenzidine (DAB) / hydrogen peroxidase

as chromogenic substrate, resulting in a brown-colored precipitate at the antigen site. As a negative control, tissue sections from each mouse were subjected to the same immunohistochemical protocols but in the absence of the primary antibody. Sections were counterstained with hematoxylin to identify the nucleus, cleared, and mounted.

# **3.16** Statistics

All data sets of at least three independent experiments are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM), unless otherwise indicated. Graphs and statistics were analyzed using Sigma Stat 3.5 software (San Jose, California). Comparisons across two groups were analyzed by a t-test, while comparisons between multiple groups were performed using One Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) followed by the post-hoc test, Student Newman–Keuls. Statistical significance was considered at p<0.05.

# 4.0 **RESULTS**

# 4.1 **Recombinant proteins**

To test the hypotheses generated in this thesis, the experiments described herein use three recombinant proteins that were synthesized in the O'Brien Lab: rHSP27, rHSP25, and rC1, a truncated HSP27 variant which lacks amino acid 1-92 of the full length N-terminus (**Figure 5B**). These proteins are >95% pure, with the LAL endotoxin test consistently measuring less than 5 EU/mg protein rendering them sufficient for the treatment of cultured cells (392). Following dialysis of purified proteins to aid with protein refolding and removal of superfluous agents and ions that accumulated after isolation and purification, biochemical and chaperone properties were assessed to ensure proper folding and function.

#### 4.1.1 Folding properties

Purified rHSP27 was loaded onto an SDS-PAGE gel either in the absence or presence of DTT to break disulfide bridges of the tertiary and quaternary protein structure (**Figure 5C**). While a single band was detected at the predicted molecular weight of 27 kDa in the sample with DTT, two bands were also detected at ~27 and 54 kDa in the sample without DTT, suggesting that HSP27 can form multimers.

#### 4.1.2 Chaperone Activity

Given heat shock proteins are traditionally thought of as intracellular chaperones it was also important to test their fidelity using in vitro protein re-folding chaperone assays. Aggregated insulin not properly re-assembled after addition of DTT to disrupt disulfide bridges, showed higher absorbance units than insulin in the presence of rHSP27 or rHSP25 (Figure 5D). Despite being synthesized in nearly the identical manner as the full length

protein, addition of rC1 to insulin had virtually no effect on the aggregation absorbance levels, which paralleled those of insulin alone.

### 4.2 Optimization of acLDL uptake and binding macrophages

#### 4.2.1 Dose and time-dependent analysis of acLDL uptake

Since this thesis focuses on SR-A related to foam cell formation it was important to first determine the kinetics of acLDL uptake in the macrophage model used herein. The ability of macrophages to internalize DiI-acLDL as a function of time and concentration was tested in THP-1 macrophages to determine optimal conditions for subsequent experiments. THP-1 monocytes were allowed to differentiate for 2 days with 50 ng/ml PMA.During this time, cells displayed morphological and biological characteristics of differentiated macrophages such as adherence to the culture dish, cell spreading (including formation of lamallipodia), and expression of macrophage markers such as SR-A (see below), and CD68 (not shown). Differentiated macrophages were incubated with increasing concentrations of DiI-acLDL (5, 10, and 25  $\mu$ g/ml) for 3 and 24 hours. At each time point (3 and 24 hours) the increasing doses of DiI-acLDL coincided with a proportional elevation in the amount of cells taking up dye (**Figure 6A and Figure 6B**).

As well, concomitant addition of unlabelled acLDL at 50-fold excess of each DilacLDL concentration diminished uptake of DiI-acLDL via competitive inhibition. The amount of dye incorporated was further enhanced with a longer incubation time reflecting the positive feedback characteristics of this ligand / receptor interaction. For example, incubation of cells with 5  $\mu$ g/ml acLDL for 3 hours resulted in approximately 45% and 70% of cells taking up the dye at 3 and 24 hours, respectively. Uptake was saturable, as the curve plateaued with doses beyond 5  $\mu$ g/ml for both 3 and 24 hours demonstrating the receptor



# Figure 6. Dose and time-dependent effects of DiI-acLDL on acLDL uptake in macrophages

THP-1 macrophages were differentiated with PMA (50 ng/ml) for 2 days followed by incubation with increasing doses of DiI-acLDL, and/or 50-fold excess unlabelled acLDL for (A) 3 and (B) 24 hours. The amount of DiI-acLDL positive cells were determined using flow cytometry analysis. Representative flow histograms are depicted at the top of each graph and show the fluorescent signal against cell number.

dependence of SR-A for acLDL. Thus, 5 µg/ml DiI-acLDL was determined to be the optimal dose and was used for subsequent uptake assays.

4.2.2 Specificity of acLDL uptake and binding via SR-A function

A number of approaches were used to describe the functional characteristics of acLDL uptake in THP-1 macrophages, and to demonstrate its specificity for SR-A. First, 45% (p=0.008) more cells incorporated the dye when incubated with acLDL compared to nLDL (**Figure 7A**). Second, acLDL uptake could be blocked by 78% (p<0.001) with excess (50-fold) amounts of unlabeled acLDL reflecting a receptor competition effect and supporting acLDL specificity (**Figure 7B**). Third, undifferentiated cells not incubated with PMA are SR-A deficient as demonstrated by immunoblotting, and showed no uptake relative to PMA differentiated cells that express SR-A (**Figure 7B**). Fourth, a neutralizing antibody against hSR-A1 blocked uptake by 31% (p=0.002) versus control (**Figure 7C**), while the IgG negative control did not affect uptake. Finally, fucoidan, a known SR-A competitive ligand (393), inhibited uptake in a dose-dependent manner (e.g., 41 and 63% reductions at concentrations of 10 and 50 μg/ml respectively; p<0.001 for both, **Figure 7D**).





D)



# Figure 7. Role of PMA and SR-A ligands or blockers in acLDL uptake

(A) THP-1 differentiated macrophages were incubated with either nLDL or acLDL for 3 hours. Percent DiI-acLDL positive cells was measured using flow cyotmetry showing that acLDL is taken up more readily than nLDL (n=4). (B) Immunoblot using an antibody against hSRA-1 and  $\beta$ -actin, and uptake assays showing the role of PMA in upregulating SR-A expression and stimulating acLDL uptake compared to undifferentiated cells not incubated with PMA (n=6). Incubation of differentiated THP-1 cells with anti-SR-A (5 µg/ml) or mouse IgG (C, n=3-9) and fuciodan (F) at indicated concentrations (µg/ml) (D, n=6) demonstrating the role of SR-A in acLDL uptake under baseline conditions. Representative flow histograms are depicted above each uptake graphs.

Consistent with these results, addition of unlabelled acLDL, fucoidan and the SR-A neutralizing antibody also blocked acLDL binding at 4°C (**Figure 8**) further demonstrating functional acLDL binding sites on the cell surface.

Uptake of acLDL was also tested in BMDM isolated from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice using Oil red O staining and flow cytometry. ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> cells showed less accumulation of Oil red O compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> cells (**Figure 9A**). This was confirmed with flow cytometry that revealed a 37% reduction (p=0.04) of acLDL uptake in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> cells relative to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> cells (**Figure 9B**). To further demonstrate the role of SR-A in these cells, additional experiments revealed that acLDL could be blocked in the presence of unlabelled acLDL and fucoidan (data not shown).

# **4.3** Effect of recombinant proteins on acLDL uptake or binding in macrophages

The first objective of this study was to explore whether extracellular HSP27 could modulates macrophage biology, and test the hypothesis that rHSP27 could alter uptake and binding of acLDL – a key step during foam cell formation.

THP-1 macrophages were pre-treated with increasing molar equivalent doses of recombinant proteins (1.9, 3.8, and 9.6  $\mu$ M) before addition of DiI-acLDL at 1, 3, and 24 hours. Pre-treatment of cells with rHSP27 reduced acLDL uptake in a dose-dependent manner at each incubation time point compared to no treatment control using flow cytometry (**Figure 10**). Although 9.6  $\mu$ M showed the maximal effect on uptake, the potency of rHSP27 in blocking acLDL uptake was diminished at each incremental time point. rHSP27 treatment reduced uptake by 58% (p=0.008, **Figure 10A**), 34% (p=0.002, **Figure 10B**), and 31% (p=0.008, **Figure 10C**) at 1, 3, and 24 hours, respectively compared to the



Figure 8. Role of SR-A ligands or blockers in binding of acLDL

The functional properties of acLDL binding to the cell surface of THP-1 macrophages were assessed using SR-A ligands and blockers. Cells were incubated with DiI-acLDL at 4°C for 2 hours following 1 hr pre-treatment with 50× unlabeled acLDL (**A**); anti-SR-A (5  $\mu$ g/ml) **B**); and indicated concentrations ( $\mu$ g/ml) of fucoidan (F) (**C**). F=fucoidan. Fluorescence intensity was measured (arbitrary units) using a fluorescent plate reader. n=5.



# Figure 9. Deletion of SR-A affects acLDL uptake

Bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDM) isolated from  $ApoE^{-/-} SR-A^{-/-}$  mice exhibit less acLDL uptake than  $ApoE^{-/-}$  cells when stained with Oil red O (red) (**A**), or incubation with DiI-acLDL (3 hr) using flow cytometry (**B**, n=6). Representative flow histograms are illustrated for flow cytometry analysis.


## Figure 10. Dose-dependent effect of HSP27 pretreatment on acLDL uptake

THP-1 macrophages were pre-treated with or without increasing doses of rHSP27 for 24 hours followed by incubation with DiI-acLDL for 1 (A, n=4), 3 (B, n=6), and 24 (C, n=6) hours. The percent positive DiI-acLDL cells were determined using flow cytometry. Representative histograms illustrated above each graph depicting the no treatment control and the highest dose of rHSP27 used in this experiment (9.6  $\mu$ M equivalents or 250  $\mu$ g/ml).

no treatment control. A similar dose-dependent profile was observed when cells were pretreated with rHSP25, with 9.6µM maximally inhibiting uptake by 64% (p<0.001, **Figure 11**).

Pre-treatment with the truncated mutant, rC1, failed to influence acLDL uptake at either 1, 3, or 24 hours despite using equimolar concentrations (**Figure 12**). Similar effects of rHSP27 (and rHSP25) were demonstrated in hMDM isolated from healthy donors. There were 39% (p=0.017) and 37% (p<0.033) reductions in acLDL uptake when hMDMs were treated with rHSP27 versus control and rC1, respectively (**Figure 13**). To test the baseline characteristics of acLDL in these cells, DiI-acLDL was incubated with unlabelled acLDL and fucoidan resulting in inhibition of acLDL uptake (data not shown).

Next, to test if HSP27 could alter acLDL binding to the cell surface, THP-1 macrophages pre-treated with recombinant proteins were incubated with DiI-acLDL at 4°C to prevent endocytosis of ligand/receptor complex into the cell. Fluorescent signal was measured using a fluorescent plate reader. rHSP27 dose-dependently reduced binding of acLDL, with 9.6 µM demonstrating the most potent affect (p=0.008, **Figure 14A**). Similarly, treatment with rHSP25 also reduced acLDL binding by 21% (p=0.026) compared to control (**Figure 14B**). No affect on binding occurred with increasing does of rC1 (**Figure 14C**).

To simulate a receptor competition phenomenon in acLDL uptake assays, recombinant proteins were added to the media of THP-1 cells either 1 hour before or



## Figure 11. Dose-dependent effect of HSP25 pretreatment on acLDL uptake

THP-1 macrophages were pre-treated in the presence or absence of increasing doses of rHSP25 for 24 hours following incubation with DiI-acLDL for 3hrs. Percent positive DiI-acLDL cells were determined using flow cytometry. Representative histograms depict the no treatment control and the highest dose of rHSP25 used in this experiment (9.6  $\mu$ M equivalents or 250  $\mu$ g/ml). n=5.



## Figure 12. Dose-dependent effect of C1 pre-treatment on acLDL uptake

THP-1 macrophages were pre-treated in the presence or absence of increasing doses of rC1 for 24 hours following incubation with DiI-acLDL for 1 (white bars), 3 (grey bars), and 24 (black bars) hours. Percent positive DiI-acLDL cells were determined using flow cytometry. Representative histograms depict the no treatment control and the highest dose of rC1 (9.6  $\mu$ M equivalents or 150  $\mu$ g/ml) used at the 3hr time point.



# Figure 13. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake in primary human macrophages

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) isolated from healthy individuals were differentiated into macrophages for 7 days, and then treated with or without 9.6 $\mu$ M rC1, rHSP27, or rHSP25 for 24 hours before addition of DiI-acLDL for 3 hours. Cells were subjected to flow cytometry and the percent DiI-acLDL cells in each treatment group were plotted as a percent of the no treated control (Ctl). Representative flow cytometry histograms are shown. n=4.



#### Figure 14. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL binding in THP-1 cells

THP-1 macrophages were incubated with DiI-acLDL at 4°C for 2 hours before 24 hour pretreatment with or without rHSP27 (A, n=6), rHSP25 (B, n=4), and rC1 (C, n=5) at indicated doses. Fluorescence intensity in each group was measured using a fluorescent plate reader. Autoflourescence of the cells alone are illustrated as the no dye control. n=6.

simultaneously with acLDL. In contrast to the inhibition effect by rHSP27 *pre-treatment* in THP-1 macrophages as outlined above, addition of rHSP27 *simultaneously* with acLDL did not influence acLDL uptake (**Figure 15A**) or binding (**Figure 15B**). Taken together, these results suggest that rHSP27 modulates acLDL uptake and binding in macrophages and that treatment timing is crucial for HSP27's biological action.

#### 4.4 Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake in SR-A null macrophages

Given the role of SR-A in the biological effects of HSP27 in macrophages, the next logical step was to test the specific requirement of SR-A on acLDL uptake in SR-A null cells. BMDC were isolated from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice, differentiated for 10 days and treated with rHSP27 in acLDL uptake experiments. Flow cytometry analysis revealed that treatment of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> cells with rHSP27 reduced acLDL uptake by 38% (p<0.001) compared to controls consistent with HSP27's effect in other macrophage cell types (**Figure 16A**). As expected, rC1 had no effect on uptake. In the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> cells rHSP27 and rHSP25 showed a trend toward reduced uptake by 22% and 9%, respectively compared to non-treatment control (p=0.059) (**Figure 16B**). A similar trend was also observed when the treatment groups were compared to rC1, which had no effect on uptake in these cells versus the non-treatment control. Two way ANOVA analyses revealed no statistical differences

between the HSP27 treated ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> cells.



# Figure 15. Receptor competition effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake and binding

rHSP27, rHSP25, and rC1 were incubated simultaneously with DiI-acLDL for 3 hours at  $37^{\circ}$ C and for flow cytometry uptake assays (**A**, N=3-5), and DiI-acLDL at 4°C for 2 hours for binding assays using a fluorescent plate reader (**B**, N=5). Representative flow cytometry histograms are illustrated in panel A. Autoflourescence is shown as the no dye control



#### Figure 16. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake in SR-A null macrophages

BMDM isolated from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> ( $\mathbf{A}$ , n=6) and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> ( $\mathbf{B}$ , n=8) mice were treated with indicated recombinant proteins for 24 hours before being incubated with DiI-acLDL for 3 hours. The percent positive DiI-acLDL cells in macrophages isolated from each genotype were analyzed by flow cytometry and plotted as a percent of the no treatment control (Ctl). Representative flow histograms are illustrated.

#### 4.5 Alternative methods to quantify acLDL uptake

The inhibitory effects of rHSP27 on acLDL uptake were further demonstrated using alternative methodologies: confocal microscopy and recordings from a fluorescent plate reader. Confocal microscopy images illustrated diminished acLDL accumulation in THP-1 cells treated with rHSP27/25 versus controls (**Figure 17A**). Quantification of fluorescent intensity in these images revealed a 36% reduction (p<0.001) in DiI-acLDL signal when normalized to the number of nuclei in each field (**Figure 17B**). The use of a fluorescent plate reader also demonstrated reductions (p<0.002) in acLDL uptake by rHSP27 as normalized to Hoechst fluorescence (**Figure 17C**).

#### 4.6 Effect of rHSP27 on SR-A expression in THP-1 macrophages

To investigate the hypothesis that the reduction in acLDL uptake and binding is the result of altered SR-A expression, mRNA and protein were measured in THP-1 cells.

4.6.1 Gene expression

qPCR was performed to measure RNA transcript levels of human SR-A in the presence or absence of rHSP27 (9.6  $\mu$ M) treatment for 6 and 24 hours in THP-1 macrophages.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a reference gene. Treatment of cells with rHSP27 for 6 hours reduced SR-A mRNA levels by 46% (p=0.009) compared to no treatment controls







## Figure 17. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake in THP-1 cells using alternative methods

THP-1 macrophages were pretreated with rC1, rHSP27, and rHSP25 for 24 hours followed by incubation with DiI-acLDL for 3 hours. (A) Representative live cell images (1000x magnification) using confocal microscopy illustrate reduced accumulation of DiI-acLDL (red) into the cell. Nuclei are stained with Hoechst (blue). (B) DiI signal in each treatment or control groups were quantified using confocal fluorescent integration software as a ratio of the number of cells in each field. The data was then plotted as a percent of the non-treatment control (Ctl); n=5-6. (C) DiI fluorescence was measured in cells using a fluorescent plate reader and normalized to Hoechst fluorescence. Data was expressed as a percent of the no treatment control (Ctl). n=5.

100

(**Figure 18A**). A similar inhibitory effect was observed for rHSP25. However, when cells were treated with rHSP27 for 24 hours there was a 25% increase (p=0.025) in SR-A transcript levels; no change was observed in cells treated with rHSP25 (**Figure 18B**). rC1 treatment did not have an effect on SR-A mRNA at both time points.

#### 4.6.2 Protein expression

To test if the reductions in SR-A mRNA are reflective of SR-A protein levels, total lysate was collected from THP-1 cells treated in the presence or absence of rHSP27 or rHSP25 for 24 hours. Immunoblotting revealed 63% (p<0.001), and 55% (p=0.002) reductions in SR-A1 protein versus no treatment and rC1, respectively (**Figure 19A**). In addition, rHSP25 dose-dependently attenuated the abundance of SR-A protein, with 9.6  $\mu$ M showing the maximum response (p=0.002, **Figure 19B**).

Next, flow cytometry was performed to test if reductions in total cellular SR-A levels were associated with altered SR-A levels at the cell surface. There was a 36% reduction (p=0.009) in surface SR-A levels in HSP27 treated cells compared to controls (**Figure 20A**), an effect further validated using confocal microscopy showing reduced SR-A staining at the cell surface (**Figure 20B**). While no affect on SR-A levels were observed for rC1 compared to no treatment controls, a similar inhibitory affect on SR-A surface expression was observed for rHSP25. No SR-A expression was observed at the cell surface of undifferentiated THP-1 cells. In addition, the IgG negative control failed to show a fluorescent signal in confocal images and flow cytometry analysis demonstrating specificity of the antibody used in this system.



# Figure 18. Effect of HSP27 on SR-A gene expression in THP-1 macrophages

THP-1 macrophages were treated with 9.6 $\mu$ M rC1, rHSP27, or rHSP25 for 6 (A, n=3-5), and 24 (B, n=4-6) hrs. qPCR analysis was performed using primers complimentary to hSR-A and  $\beta$ -actin. Cp ratios were calculated from SR-A and  $\beta$ -actin fluorescent signals, and then plotted as a percent of the no treatment controls (Ctl).



# Figure 19. Effect or HSP27 on SR-A protein expression in THP-1 macrophages

Total cell lysate from THP-1 macrophages treated with rC1 and rHSP27 (A, n=5), or rHSP25 (B, n=3) for 24 hours were subjected to Western Blotting analysis using antibodies against hSR-A and  $\beta$ -actin. Amount of SR-A expression was determined using densitometry ratios between SR-A and  $\beta$ -actin in each control or treatment group. Ratios were then plotted as a percentage of the no treatment control (Ctl). Representative immunoblots are illustrated above each graph.





#### Figure 20. Effect of HSP27 on SR-A surface expression

(A) THP-1 macrophages treated with specified recombinant proteins were lifted, and then incubated with an SR-A1 antibody conjugated to phycoerythryn (PE). Flow cytometry analysis was performed to determine the percent positive PE cells, and then plotted as a percent of the no treatment controls (Ctl). Representative histograms are exhibited. n=3-10.
(B) Representative confocal microscopy images illustrating SR-A-PE (red) and nuclei (blue) of live THP-1 cells treated with recombinant proteins.

Taken together, these results provide evidence that HSP27 affects SR-A mRNA levels, the outcome of which leads to reductions in total SR-A expression at the cell surface.

#### 4.7 Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells engineered to express SR-A

To test whether HSP27 could alter SR-A expression and acLDL uptake in a cell system where SR-A promoter activity is constitutively active, CHO cells – which otherwise do not express SR-A – were stably transfected with a mouse SR-A plasmid under control of a CMV promoter. The rationale was that if HSP27 could alter SR-A expression in a cell system that lacks regulation of SR-A gene expression, it would provide clues about whether SR-A is regulated at the post-translational level. Indeed, immunoblotting and flow cytometry analysis revealed no differences between HSP27 treatments and controls for both acLDL uptake (**Figure 21A**), and SR-A protein expression (**Figure 21B**).

To validate the functional role of SR-A in these cells, uptake assays were assessed using unlabelled acLDL, a neutralizing antibody against SR-A, and fucoidan. These conditions were effective in blocking acLDL uptake (**Figure 22**) demonstrating the functional utility of SR-A overexpression in this cell line. Mock transfected CHO cells (CHO-K1) showed low levels of acLDL uptake compared to transfected cells further confirming the fidelity of this cell model and additionally validating specificity of acLDL for SR-A.



#### Figure 21. Effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake and SR-A expression in CHO-SR-A cells

CHO cells stably transfected with mSRA-1 on a CMV promoter were treated with indicated recombinant proteins for 24 hours. (A) Cells were incubated with DiI-acLDL for 3 hours followed by flow cytometry analysis of percent positive DiI-acLDL cells Representative histograms are depicted. n=3. (B) Total cell lysate was subjected to immunoblotting for mSR-A and β-actin. Representative immunoblots are shown.



### Figure 22. Effect of SR-A ligands and blockers on acLDL uptake in CHO-SR-A cells

The percentage of DiI-acLDL positive cells were quantified using flow cytometry after CHO-SRA1 cells were treated with indicated SR-A ligands and blockers. Mock transfected cells (CHO-K1) served as a negative control. Representative histograms are illustrated. n=4.

4.8 The role of NF-κb in HSP27 mediated responses in macrophages Previously, the O'Brien lab demonstrated that HSP27 favorably modulates
macrophage inflammatory mediators such as IL1β and IL10 (262) – cytokines known to be
regulated by NF-κB signaling. NF-κB is a key transcription factor that controls a battery of
atherosclerotic gene programs, primarily via differential regulation of cytokine expression
patterns that, in turn, regulate macrophage phenotype and activation in the vessel wall
during lesion formation. To determine the molecular mechanism by which HSP27 alters SR-A expression, it was hypothesized that HSP27 mediated responses (e.g., acLDL uptake and
SR-A expression) are dependent on intact NF-κB signaling mechanisms.

#### 4.8.1 Effect of rHSP27 on NF-κB activation

THP-1 Blue cells stably transfected with an NF- $\kappa$ B promoter upstream of a secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) gene provided a useful tool to study NF- $\kappa$ B activity, as expression and secretion of SEAP into the media is proportional to NF- $\kappa$ B activity. LPS is a potent activator of NF- $\kappa$ B. As a positive control, THP-1 Blue Cells were treated with LPS. This led to a 7.3 fold (p<0.001) increase in absorbance (i.e. NF- $\kappa$ B, **Figure 23A**) compared to no treatment control. Next, treatment of cells with rHSP27 and rHSP25 induced 6.8 and 5.2 fold respective increases in NF- $\kappa$ B activity versus control (p<0.001 for both; **Figure 23A**). rC1 did not significantly increase NF- $\kappa$ B activation above control levels further demonstrating that rC1 lacks biological activity (**Figure 23A**) and is a reasonable protein null control.

To illustrate the specificity of NF- $\kappa$ B activation in the THP-1 Blue cell reporter assay, an NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor (BAY11-7082) was tested in this system. BAY11-7082 blocks

110



B)





### Figure 23. Effect of HSP27 on NF-KB activity in THP-1 Blue Cells

An NF- $\kappa$ B reporter assay was performed using THP-1 macrophages stably transfected with an NF- $\kappa$ B reporter. (**A**) PMA-differentiated cells were treated in the presence or absence of LPS (1 µg/ml), rHSP27 (9.6 µM), rHSP25 (9.6 µM), or rC1 (9.6 µM) for 24 hours (n $\geq$ 5). An NF- $\kappa$ B antagonist, BAY11-7082 (10 µM), was added alone or 1 hour before treatment with LPS (1 µg/ml) (**B**, n=3); rHSP27 (**C**, n=4); or rHSP25 (**D**, n=4). The absorbance of secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) was measured in conditioned media of each treatment and control group using a spectrometer. translocation of the NF- $\kappa$ B-p65 subunit into the nucleus inhibiting NF- $\kappa$ B activity. LPS induction of NF- $\kappa$ B was partially blocked by 1.8 fold (p=0.015) in the presence of BAY11-7082 (**Figure 23B**). No effect was observed when the BAY compound was added to the cells alone. THP-1 Blue cells were then treated with rHSP27 (and rHSP25) in the presence of BAY11-7082. There was a partial inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B activity in cells treated with rHSP27 (2.0 fold; p=0.014, **Figure 23C**), and rHSP25 (2.4 fold; p=0.001, **Figure 23D**) in the presence of BAY compared with cells that received only the respective recombinant proteins without the BAY compound.

#### 4.8.2 Effect of NF-κB inhibition on HSP27-mediated responses

Given that HSP27 specifically increased NF-κB activity in macrophages, the next goal was to explore the dependence of this pathway on SR-A expression. It was hypothesized that inhibition of NF-κB would reverse HSP27-mediated responses on SR-A expression, in turn, affecting acLDL uptake. Indeed, the presence of BAY11-7082 restored the inhibitory effect of rHSP27 on SR-A mRNA by 41% (p=0.006, **Figure 24A**), and SR-A protein by 47% (p=0.009, **Figure 24B**) compared to cells treated with rHSP27 alone – effects that showed SR-A mRNA and protein returning to baseline levels in the presence of BAY. The rescue effect on SR-A expression by BAY11-7082 in HSP27 treated cells was further associated with attenuation of HSP27 inhibition of acLDL uptake (36%; p=0.004, **Figure 24C**). These results demonstrate not only the dependence of NF-κB in regulating SR-A expression, but also illustrate that altering SR-A protein levels reflects the acLDL uptake in these cells. Thus, intact NF-κβ signaling is required for HSP27 regulation of SR-A expression, especially at the level of transcription.







## Figure 24. Effect of NF-κB inhibition on SR-A expression and acLDL uptake

THP-1 macrophages were incubated with BAY11-7082 (10  $\mu$ M) alone or 1 hour before treatment with rHSP27 for 24 hours. (A) qPCR analysis using primers complimentary to hSR-A1 and  $\beta$ -actin. Ratio of SR-A and  $\beta$ -actin Cps were plotted as a percent of the no treatment control (Ctl; n=5). (B) Total cell lysate was subject to Western Blotting for hSR-A1 and  $\beta$ -actin loading control. Quantification of SR-A protein was exhibited as the ratio of densometric units between SR-A and  $\beta$ -actin bands, and then expressed as a percentage of the no treatment controls (Ctl; n=5). (C) For uptake assays, cell were incubated with DilacLDL for 3 hours, then subjected to flow cytometry analysis. Data is expressed as the percentage number of DiI-acLDL positive cells. Representative flow histograms are illustrated (n=4).

#### 4.9 Controlling for endotoxin and cytotoxic effects of rHSP27

#### 4.9.1 Effect of polymixin B (PMB) on HSP27-mediated responses

Despite best attempts to remove 99% of residual endotoxin associated with synthesis and purification of the HSP recombinant proteins generated from bacteria, it was necessary to perform a number of control experiments to ensure that rHSP27 effects on macrophages were not secondary to residual endotoxins that are present after synthesis. PMB is an antibiotic known to bind and neutralize LPS. As proof-of-principle to demonstrate the efficacy of PMB in neutralizing endotoxin mediated activation of NF-κB, THP-1 Blue cells were incubated with LPS in the presence of PMB. As expected, the 8.4 fold (p<0.001) increase in NF- $\kappa\beta$  activity by LPS was completely blocked with PMB (p<0.001) - returning NF-κB to baseline levels (Figure 25A). There was no affect on NF-κB activity when PMB was added to the cells alone. Moroever, addition of PMB did not alter the effects of rHSP27 or rHSP25 on activation of NF-kB signaling compared to no treatment controls and rC1 (Figure 25B). Similarly, when PMB was added to normal THP-1 cells treated with rHSP27 or rHSP25 in acLDL uptake (Figure 25C) or SR-A immunobloting experiments (Figure **25D**), no additional effect of PMB was observed on these endpoints, suggesting that endotoxin related effects do not play a role in HSP27 mediated responses.

A)







# Figure 25. Effect of polymixin B (PMB) on HSP27 mediated biological responses

THP1 Blue cells were incubated with LPS (1µg/ml) (**A**, n=6) or indicated recombinant proteins (**B**, n=5-6) for 24 hours in the presence or absence of PMB (10 µM). NF- $\kappa$ B activity was determined by assaying the conditioned media for SEAP using a spectrometer. Normal THP-1 macrophages were incubated with indicated recombinant proteins for 24 in the presence or absence of PMB before being subject to flow cytometry for acLDL uptake assays (**C**, n=5-9) and immunoblotting using an antibody against hSR-A1 and β-actin as a loading control (**D**). Representative flow histograms and immunoblots are illustrated.

#### 4.9.2 Cell viability and apoptosis

To rule out the possibility that recombinant protein treatments in the above experiments affect cell viability as well as apoptosis, MTT assays and Annexin-V (an early apoptosis marker) staining were performed using flow cytometry in THP-1 cells. MTT assays revealed no difference in cell viability between cells receiving rHSP27, rHSP25, rC1 and a no treatment control (**Figure 26A and 26B**). In addition, using flow cytometry, no increase in early apoptosis was observed above baseline controls when cells were treated with the recombinant proteins (**Figure 26C**).

### 4.10 Effects of rHSP25 injection on atherosclerosis

Previous results from the O'Brien lab demonstrated that b.i.d s.c injection of 50 μg rHSP27 into ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed a high fat diet for 3 weeks was effective in reducing lesion burden and maintaining elevated levels of serum HSP27, thereby suggesting that extracellular HSP27 may represent a novel anti-atherogenic therapeutic (370). However, the precise role of SR-A in HSP27 atheroprotection *in vivo* remained elusive. Accordingly, it was hypothesized that (a) HSP25 (the mouse homologue of HSP27) administered as an exogenous therapy would be as efficacious as rHSP27 in reducing lesion size, and (b) HSP25-mediated protection would be dependent on the presence of SR-A by using ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice, and therefore provide an *in vivo* mechanistic explanation for the atheroprotective actions of HSP27. Genotyping was performed in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> (double knout out, DKO) and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice to determine the fidelity of the gene deletions, and confirm the presense of the DNA disruption. DNA was isolated from tail or ear clippings while cDNA was synthesized from liver RNA. Primer #2 binds to a region in the A)





### Figure 26. Cell viability and annexin-V staining assays

THP-1 macrophages treated with indicated recombinant proteins for 24 hours were assayed for cell viability with MTT tests using a spectrometer (**A & B**, n=4), and Annexin-V staining using flow cytometry (**C**, n=5). Representative flow cytometry density plots are illustrated of cells stained with Annexin-PE against the viability marker 4-AA7.

exogenously added insert of the SR-A gene, while primers #1 and #3 bind regions flanking upstream and downstream of the SR-A gene, respectively. PCR reactions using primers #1 and #2 revealed the presence of bands at 400kbp in both DNA and cDNA samples from the DKO mice (**Figure 27A, lanes 3 & 5**, respectively). As expected, no bands were observed in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice using this primer combination (**Figure 27A, lanes 2 & 4**), suggesting the presence of insert in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup>. Bands at ~200kbp were present in PCR reactions using primers #1 and #3 in DNA and cDNA samples isolated from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>, but not in samples from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Figure 27, lanes 6 & 8, and 7 & 9**). The heavier sized bands seen in the DNA from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice reflect the presence of a large product in the SR-A null sequence as demonstrated with sequencing results (**Figure 27B**).

Next, female and male ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice were fed a high fat diet (HFD) for 3 weeks while receiving rHSP25 (50 µg in 50 µl) or PBS (50 µl) subcutaneously twice daily (B.I.D). There were no differences in body weights between rHSP25 and PBS groups in both genotypes after the 3 week time-course (data not shown). Analysis of *en face* aortas of female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice treated with rHSP25 revealed a 39% (p<0.001) reduction in lesion size compared to PBS control (**Figure 28A**), confirming previous atheroprotective effects for HSP27 (370). A similar trend was observed for male mice, with a 38% decrease in *en face* lesions in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to PBS control (p=0.06; **Figure 28B**). However, when both female (**Figure 28A**) and male (**Figure 28B**) ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with rHSP25 there was no difference in lesion size compared to PBS (p=0.791 for females and p=0.627) for males, suggesting that rHSP25-mediated atheroprotection is abolished in the absence of SR-A. A) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

B)

>Exon #1 in KO mouse

CAGCTCAGCTTTTGAATTGGGAAATGAAGAACTGCTTAGTTTGTTCA CTTAACACAAGTGACACATCTCAAGGTCCTATGGAAAAAGAAAATA CCAGTAAAGTGGAAATGAGATTTACAATTATCATGGAACACATGAA GGACATGGAGGAGAGAATCGAAAGCATTTCAAACTCAAAAGCCGA CCTTATAGACACGGAACGCTTCCAGAAGCATTTCAAACTCAAAAGCCGA CCTTATAGACACGGAACGCTTCCAGAATTCAGCATGGCAACTGACC AAAGACTTAATGATATTCTTCTGCAGATTCAGCATGGCAACTGACC CAAGGAACATGGGAATTCCTGCAGCCCGGGGGGATCCACTAGTTCT AGTCGAGGAATTCTACCGGGTAGGGGAGGCGCTTTTCCCAAGGCAG TCTGGAGCATGCGCTTTAGCAGCCCGGCGGGGCACTTGGCGCTACA CAAGTGGCCTCTGGCCTCGCACACATTCCACATCCACCGGTAGGCG CCAACCGGCTCCGTTCTTTTGGTGGCCCCTTCGCGCCACCTTCTACT CCTCCCCTAGTCAGGAAGTTCCCCCCCGCCGCAGCTCGCGTCGT GCAGGACGTGACAAATGGAAGTAGCACGTCTCACTAGTCTCGTGCA GATGGA ----->

## Figure 27. Genotyping of SR-A-/- mice

(A) Agarose gel showing bands that correspond to PCR reactions of SR-A amplicon products from genomic DNA and cDNA of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> (WT) and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> (KO) mice. Lane 1 and 10 are DNA ladders. Lanes 2 and 3 are genomic DNA products from WT and KO mice, respectively, amplified using primers #1 & #2. Lanes 4 and 5 are cDNA products from WT and KO mice, respectively, amplified using primers #1 and #2. Lanes 6 and 7 are genomic DNA products from WT and KO mice, respectively, amplified using primers #1 and #2. Lanes 6 and 7 are genomic DNA products from WT and KO mice, respectively, amplified using primers #1 & #3. Lanes 8 and 9 are cDNA products from WT and KO mice, respectively, amplified using primers #1 and #3.

(**B**) mRNA sequence showing exon #1 of the KO mouse MSR gene. Illustrated are the locations of the canonical gene (turquoise) and insert (black) as well as the locations of the primers in the sequence – primer #1 is in red, primer #2 spans the insert and is in orange, and primer #3 is in dark yellow.


# Figure 28. The impact of SR-A expression in HSP25-mediated atheroprotection on aortic en face lesions in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> male and female mice

rHSP25 (50  $\mu$ g in 50  $\mu$ l) or PBS (50  $\mu$ l) was administered subcutaneously B.I.D for 3 weeks to female (**A**, n=8-9) and male (**B**, n=4-8) ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Area of Oil red O staining in the *en face* preparation were quantified as a percentage of the aortic area. Representative aortic *en face* images are exhibited.

It should be noted that the female PBS control ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice displayed a  $\sim 48\%$ reduction in lesion size compared to PBS control ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice, suggesting an effect of SR-A on lesion size in the en face lesions. Interestingly, in the males, SR-A did not have an effect on *en face* lesions at baseline. Furthermore, rHSP25 treated female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice led to 36% (p=0.002) and 28% (p=0.006) reductions in a ortic sinus lesion area (Figure 29A) and macrophage content (as assessed by mac-2 staining) (Figure 29B). Although there was a trend toward reduction of aortic sinus lesions and macrophage content by 25% and 10%, respectively in the rHSP25 treated ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to their respective PBS littermates, these effects were not statistically significant (p=0.14 and p=0.432, respectively) (Figure 29C). In addition, two way ANOVA revealed no difference between the rHSP27 treated ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice groups. Unlike the *en face* lesion in the female mice, there was no effect of SR-A in lesions (as well as macrophage content) quantified in the aortic sinus when PBS control ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice were compared to PBS control ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Taken together, although the effect of rHSP27 was lost in the absence of SR-A in both the *en face* and aortic sinus of both female and male mice, there appeared to be sex- and sitedependent affect of SR-A on atherosclerosis (e.g., at baseline the absence of SR-A reduced en face lesions size in female but not male mice yet had no effect in the aortic sinus in the females).







# Figure 29. The impact of SR-A expression in HSP25-mediated atheroprotection on lesion size and macrophage content in female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice

rHSP25 (50  $\mu$ g in 50  $\mu$ l) or PBS (50  $\mu$ l) was administered subcutaneously B.I.D for 3 weeks to female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice. (**A**) Area of Oil red O staining was quantified as a percent of the aortic sinus. Representative aortic sinus images shown. n=9 for all groups. Macrophage content was quantified as the area of mac-2 staining (green) of the aortic sinus lesion (**B**), and also illustrated in the *en face* aortic arch lesions (**C**). Representative mac-2 staining images are shown. n=9 for all groups.

The anti-atherogenic effect of rHSP25 treatment was associated with reduced SR-A expression in the intima of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice as observed qualitatively by immunohistochemistry (**Figure 30A-C**). Absence of SR-A immunolabeling in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> tissue illustrated the specificity of the antibody against SR-A *in vivo* (**Figure 30D**).

Interestingly, HSP25 treatment resulted in a decrease in total serum cholesterol levels in female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice by 32% (p=0.002, **Figure 31A**), as well as ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice by 25% (p=0.026, **Figure 31B**) compared to PBS controls of their respective littermates, validating previous findings with rHSP27 (370). Serum lipid profiles revealed a reduction in the VLDL and LDL fraction in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice treated with rHSP25, an effect less pronounced in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice. In contrast, rHSP25 treatment did not alter cholesterol levels in male mice (**Figure 31C**) despite the observed atheroprotective effect in the vessel wall.



## Figure 30. Effect of rHSP25 treatment on SR-A expression in vivo

Immunohistochemistry of mouse SR-A (brown staining) in aortic sinus sections of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice treated with PBS control (**A & B**) or rHSP25 (**C**). SR-A staining in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice was performed as a negative control to demonstrate antibody specificity (**D**). Tissues were counterstained with haematoxylin and eosin. L=lumen side, I=intima, M=media, A=adventitia. Magnification = 400x for A, C, and D; 1000x for B.





# Figure 31. Total serum cholesterol levels and profiles in rHSP25 treated ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Cholesterol levels were assayed from total and FPLC fractions of serum isolated from female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> (**A**, n=8) and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> (**B**, n=9) mice injected with rHSP25 or PBS. Total serum cholesterol levels were also measured in male mice (**C**, n=3-8). HSP25 treatment led to reductions in total cholesterol levels in both ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> in female but not male mice.

### 5.0 **DISCUSSION**

The data presented in this thesis is an extension of previous work in the O'Brien laboratory demonstrating that augmented serum HSP27 levels attenuate lesion burden by modulating macrophage function in the vessel wall (262,370). However, this thesis expands upon the current understanding on how HSP27 acts to protect against atherosclerosis, and provides new data underlying how HSP27-mediated atheroprotection is achieved. Specifically, this thesis sought to determine how SR-A is associated with HSP27 mediated inhibition of foam cell formation, an effect previously identified as a consequence of the physical interaction between HSP27 and SR-A in macrophages in vitro (262). Secondly, this thesis asks whether SR-A is important for HSP27 therapeutic atheroprotection *in vivo*. Three findings are made: 1) Extracellular HSP27 blocks uptake of modified lipids into macrophages by reducing SR-A expression, possibly through gene regulation, leading to reduction of receptors at the cell surface, 2) HSP27 effects on SR-A expression may be associated with the NF-kB pathway, and 3) HSP27-mediated atheroprotection requires intact SR-A expression because in the absence of SR-A the therapeutic effect of HSP27 is abolished. The loss of protection in the absence of SR-A occurred despite achieving reductions in total serum cholesterol levels in all of the HSP25 treated genotypes. These findings provide evidence that the therapeutic actions of HSP27 are pleitropic and include blocking foam cell formation via modulation of SR-A expression in the vessel wall but also by reducing total serum cholesterol. As such, these observations support previous findings from the O'Brien lab and agree with the working hypothesis presented in this thesis showing that SR-A may be a target for HSP27 protection. Please note that HSP27 and HSP25 are used interchangeably in the Discussion chapter.

#### rHSP27 modululates SR-A expression

Previous studies was the O'Brien lab demonstrate that HSP27 is actively secreted from macrophages via endosomal vesicles (262). Once in the extracellular space it was postulated that HSP27 interacts with SR-A to modulate inflammatory foam cell formation by competing with SR-A for acLDL uptake. Specifically, the O'Brien lab demonstrated that binding of HSP27 to macrophages was completely abolished in the absence of SR-A, suggesting that SR-A is a principle target for HSP27 (262). This thesis expands upon these observations showing that rHSP27 may not necessarily physically interact with SR-A on the surface of macrophages, *per se*, as previously described, but rather downregulate SR-A expression at the cell surface as a means to block foam cell formation.

There is a growing body of literature to suggest that traditionally described intracellular chaperone molecules are released from cells of the immune system into the extracellular space where they act as danger signals via physical interactions with pattern recognition receptors (394-396). Indeed, extracellular HSP27, used in the form of a recombinant protein throughout this study, affects macrophage biology by blocking uptake of acLDL, as well as protection against atherosclerosis *in vivo*. This supports the argument in favor of exogenous HSP27 as an important player in the extracellular milieu of the lesion, acting to inhibit foam cell formation during the developing lesion, and therefore dampening the inflammatory response characteristic of atherosclerosis.

A number of studies have demonstrated that other HSPs physically interact with pattern-recognition receptors on the surface of antigen-presenting cells. For example, the endoplasmic reticulum heat shock protein, gp96, was found to bind with SR-A on the surface of macrophages and become internalized by this receptor (397). Extracellular HSP70

binds with members of the scavenger receptor family (358,398,399) as well as TLR2/4 (400). The results presented in this thesis illustrate that rHSP27 may not physically bind with SR-A on the surface of macrophages or compete with acLDL for uptake into the cell as was originally described (262). Rather, it was found herein that HSP27 blocks lipid uptake by acting to downregulate SR-A expression, possibly at the gene level. When rHSP27 is added simultaneously to the culture media with acLDL, binding and uptake of acLDL is not blocked, suggesting an alternate mechanism as opposed to competing with SR-A for acLDL uptake. Instead, a pre-treatment strategy was required in order for HSP27 to be effective in inhibiting acLDL binding and uptake.

The length of time in which acLDL was added to the culture media also influences the efficacy of HSP27 to inhibit uptake. For example, at the maximal dose of 9.6 μM, rHSP27 inhibited uptake by 54%, 34%, and 31% at 1, 3, and 24 hours of acLDL challenge following pre-treatment of HSP27, respectively. The loss of inhibition with increased time of acLDL incubation most likely reflects 1) a saturation effect of DiI-acLDL into the cell, and/or 2) an alternative receptor or mechanisms of acLDL uptake. It is clear that acLDL is a ligand for SR-A, as demonstrated in differentiated THP-1 macrophages and CHO-SR-A cells using unlabelled acLDL for receptor competition assays, a neutralizing antibody against SR-A, and fucoidan. Also, SR-A null bone-marrow-derived macrophages are more resistant to foam cell formation compared to wild type cells as demonstrated using oil-red-O staining as well as flow cytometry (37% reduction in acLDL uptake compared to singleknockout ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> cells). However, 63% of acLDL remains in the cells in the absence of SR-A, which is significant compared to other studies demonstrating that SR-A accounts for more than 70% of acLDL being taken up into macrophages (213,214). Since a significant amount of acLDL appears to be taken up by the cells even in the absence of SR-A, these experiments do not fully support the hypothesis that the diminished uptake of acLDL in THP-1 cells in response to HSP27 is specific for the proportion that is SR-A mediated uptake. Although the effect of HSP27 on acLDL uptake is diminished in the SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> macrophages and is not statistically lower than control, uptake is still decreased by ~25%. Indeed, other scavenger receptors such as CD36, and LOX-1 are known to bind and take up acLDL. Future experiments using CD36<sup>-/-</sup> or LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> would help clarify whether HSP27 affects other lipoprotein ligands, such as LDL or oxLDL and provide important controls for not only the specificity of the effect for SR-A but also the effect of acLDL as a SR-A specific ligand. Certainly, a limitation in these experiments is the use of commercially purchased acLDL. The degree of modification is known to affect receptor specificity and its uptake in macrophages (168). Since, acLDL can become oxidized during its shelf life, one explanation for the high levels of residual acLDL in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> cells is that that preparation become oxidized over time and thus rendering it a ligand for CD36.

Nevertheless, given that inhibition of acLDL binding and uptake by HSP27 is timedependent, and that acLDL is a well established ligand for SR-A, it was hypothesized that HSP27 mediated downregulation of SR-A would lead to loss of receptors at the cell surface and might explain the inhibitory effect of HSP27 on acLDL binding/uptake. Indeed, the observation that HSP27 reduces total cellular SR-A, an effect associated with reduction of receptors at the cell surface, confirms this hypothesis and is further supportive of the antifoam cell role of HSP27. Furthermore, HSP27 reduced SR-A expression at the gene level – an effect that was only observed at 6 hours. At 24 hours, on the other hand, HSP27 returned mRNA levels beyond baseline levels. The SR-A gene is tightly controlled in macrophages

(207,208). THP-1 cells used in this experiment are differentiated with PMA, which is a potent PKC activator, and positive regulator of SR-A expression (401). Therefore, it is likely that a feedback regulation effect occurs whereby early changes in SR-A message levels may stimulate a proportional increase in message levels at later times. The temporal changes in SR-A levels by HSP27 treatment may illustrate the importance of the macrophage in maintaining SR-A transcriptional equilibrium. Translation of a gene message into functional protein is a highly regulated process. Many factors such as timing, the signaling pathways involved, transcription factor binding, and mRNA stability/half-life all influence delays between coding of a transcript message and production of its subsequent protein on the ribosome complex. Changes in SR-A gene expression by HSP27 at 6 hours does not appear to reflect the protein stoichiometry at 24 hours. It is likely that the increase in SR-A message at 24 hours compensates for decreased levels observed at early time points. How this biphasic response is translated to a sustained decrease in SR-A *in vitro* or *in vivo*, that ultimately alters atherogenesis, is unclear. Certainly, in order to maintain elevated HSP25 serum levels and in turn atheroprotection, a twice daily injection regimen was required and this could ultimately translate into reducing SR-A mRNA and sustained reduction in protein over time. Although immunohistochemistry staining of lesions provided evidence that SR-A expression may be diminished in the rHSP25 treated mice, this qualitative data is only suggestive. Longer time-course studies for mRNA and protein in THP-1 cells is required to fully appreciate the long term effect of HSP27 treatment on SR-A expression. Furthermore, given that macrophage content in the plaque were reduced in the rHSP25 treated mice it is unclear if SR-A expression is actually lower on a per cell basis or the result of decreased

numbers of macrophages in the lesion. Measurements of SR-A mRNA expression in the aorta and normalization to Mac-2 staining would help answer these questions.

To further confirm whether the influence of HSP27 on SR-A expression occur at the transcriptional level, CHO cells were engineered to express SR-A on a plasmid with a CMV promoter. Treatment of these cells with rHSP27 failed to reveal changes in either SR-A protein or acLDL uptake compared to control. The CMV promoter constitutively drives SR-A expression, which prevents SR-A gene activity from being regulated. As such, these results provide some evidence against post-translational modification as an explanation for HSP27's effect on SR-A expression. However, it should be noted that there is no evidence in this thesis that HSP27 or HSP25 effects the binding and/or uptake of acLDL in the same manner as they do with THP-1 cells. Since CHO cells do not normally express SR-A, they likely lack other receptors and signaling moieties important for HSP27 signaling responses compared to THP-1 macrophages. Therefore, caution must be taken in the interpretation of these results linking HSP27 to regulation of SR-A expression specifically at the gene level rather than regulation via intracellular trafficking and signaling pathways that involve lysosomal or ubiquitin-mediated degradation (199). In preliminary experiments performed (not shown in the thesis) using known inhibitors of the proteosomal and lysosomal degradation pathways, MG123 (402) and E64/pepstatin (403), respectively HSP27 mediated inhibition of acLDL and SR-A protein expression were restored, suggesting that SR-A may be regulated by a proteosomal pathway. Interestingly, MG132 has also been found to inhibit NF-kB activation (404), agreeing with the hypothesis that HSP27 regulates SR-A through an NF-κB pathway.

Previous observations from the O'Brien lab demonstrate that HSP27 binds to SR-A on the surface of macrophages, and in this way competes with acLDL uptake. On the other hand, results presented in this thesis provide evidence that HSP27 may not physically interact with SR-A but rather downregulate its expression. A number of factors may provide an explanation for the differences in results between this study and the earlier O'Brien reports. In Rayner et al., HSP27-transfected macrophages were stimulated to secrete HSP27 tagged with EGPF (262). Conditioned media containing HSP27-EGFP was then applied to naïve macrophages and using immunoprecipitation techniques found to interact with SR-A. The HSP27 that is secreted from macrophages likely has different conformation states than the rHSP27 protein produced using *in vitro* methodologies. Processing of *de novo* proteins in macrophages is under control of physiologically relevant machinery compared to rHSP27 being synthesized artificially in bacterial expression systems. Thus, differences in the confirmation or oligomeric states of eukaryotic HSP27 versus bacterially generated rHSP27, may have contributed to the differences in their binding capacities to surface receptors. While the results presented in this thesis suggest that HSP27 does not compete with acLDL for uptake via SR-A, it does not exclude the possibility that HSP27 still binds to SR-A in a manner that is distinct from the acLDL binding site and activates intracellular signaling pathways, consistent with previous findings by Rayner *et al.*. Oligerimization states play important roles in the biological functions of intracellular HSP27 (405,406). Although biochemical analysis of O'Brien rHSP27 reveals that it exists as a dimer when added to the SDS-PAGE under non-reducing conditions, it is currently unknown exactly what confirmation or folding states are required for its physical binding or association with its cognate receptor (or SR-A) in the extracellular space. Furthermore, the variability in protein

characteristics such as oligomerization states or folding properties among different batches of rHSP27 are important limitations that need to be acknowledged in this study. Certainly, discovery of novel HSP27 interacting factors may provide an alternative target to stimulate HSP27's release into the circulation as previously demonstrated by estrogens (366), or ER $\beta$ isoform selective agonists (367). However, these targets may themselves possess off-target side-effects. Therefore, the most efficacious strategy to augment HSP27 serum levels, either by direct injection of rHSP27 protein or stimulation of its release from cells, is an area that requires further research.

#### Extracellular HSP27 and NF-кВ activity

Macrophages express a variety of NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent genes that promote a balance of both anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory responses during atherogenesis (407,408). The O'Brien lab previously demonstrated that extracellular HSP27 favorably modulates macrophage inflammatory responses by increasing IL-10 secretion into the culture media while decreasing secretion of IL-1 $\beta$  (262) – cytokines known to be controlled by NF- $\kappa$ B. In addition, HSP27 was found to modulate a number of macrophage functions such as adhesion , migration (262) and apoptosis in the vessel wall (369,370). Therefore, it was hypothesized that extracellular HSP27 alters the inflammatory profile of macrophages by specifically modulating NF- $\kappa$ B activity (409). Using differentiated THP-1 macrophages stably transfected with an NF- $\kappa$ B-inducible secreted alkaline phosphatase gene, it was demonstrated that rHSP27 and rHSP25 activated NF- $\kappa$ B activity – results that are in agreement with previous observations from the O'Brien lab (409). Induction of the canonical (i.e. classical) NF- $\kappa$ B pathway by LPS or HSP27 could be blocked in the presence

of BAY-7082 - an NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor that precludes phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , in turn, preventing its degradation and subsequent translocation of its binding proteins, p50/p65 transcription factors, into the nucleus (**Figure 32**). This demonstrates specificity of NF- $\kappa$ B induction by rHSP27 and provides "proof-of-principle" for the antagonistic actions of the BAY compound on NF- $\kappa$ B activation.

Given that HSP27 appears to signal through NF- $\kappa$ B in macrophages, it was still unclear what the functional importance of this pathway entailed. Therefore, it was hypothesized that HSP27 regulates SR-A expression and acLDL uptake through NF- $\kappa$ B activation. THP-1 macrophages were treated with rHSP27 in the presence of the NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor before being assayed for SR-A mRNA, protein, and acLDL levels. Indeed, blocking NF- $\kappa$ B activation restored SR-A gene and protein levels to baseline compared to non treated control levels. These results were confirmed functionally in uptake assays as *rescuing* SR-A expression by NF- $\kappa$ B inhibition was associated with a return of acLDL uptake levels to baseline. These experiments provide evidence that extracellular HSP27 may may activate NF- $\kappa$ B leading to downregulation of SR-A gene expression and inhibition of lipid uptake.

Although it is unknown whether extracellular HSP27 relays its signal via a surface receptor or is translocated directly or indirectly across the plasma membrane where it may activate signaling partners upstream of NF- $\kappa$ B, a number of studies have demonstrated an interaction between HSPs and NF- $\kappa$ B activity. Parcellier *et al.* demonstrated that overexpression of HSP27 in human U937 macrophages stimulates NF- $\kappa$ B activity, in turn, promoting cell survival in response to the apoptosis inducer etoposide (404). In another study, Lui *et al.* transfected THP-1 cells with an HSP27 construct and found that HSP27



# Figure 32. Canonical and non-canonical NF-KB pathways

The canonical or classical NF-kb pathway is activated by TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, or LPS. Phosphorylation of the IKK $\beta$  catalytic subunit targets I $\kappa$ B for ubiquination and its degradation in the proteosome. Dissociation of p50 and p65 from IKK $\beta$  leads to their tanslocation into the nucleus and activation of target genes involved in inflammation and cell survival. The BAY compound was used in this study to inhibit the classical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway by blocking IKK $\beta$  phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B thereby preventing its degradation and subsequent translocation of the p50/p65 transcription factors into the nucleus. The noncanonical or alternative pathway is triggered by members of the TNF- $\alpha$  family (e.g. LT-B and BLys) and is dependent on IKK $\alpha$  phosphorylation of p100 leading to release of the RelB subunit. The alternative pathway is known to play a role in innate immunity as well as regulation of inflammation by the canonical pathway. Although This thesis demonstrates that HSP27 likely activates the classical pathway. Figure adapted from Karin and Lin (270) with modifications. © Nature Publishing Group; reprinted with permission from Nature Publishing Group.

enhanced LPS stimulation of iNOS and COX-2 via increased NF-κB activity, but not MAPK activation (410). Although the latter two studies agree with the results presented in this thesis in human THP-1 cells, HSP27 has been shown to have variable effects on NF-κB activity in human and rodent cell lines. Conversely, studies have shown that HSP27 is a negative regulator of NF-κB activity in rat skeletal muscle (411), aortic smooth muscle cells (412), as well as in the rat heart (412). Comparisons between the above studies and the results generated in this thesis are difficult to make, considering most studies focus on intracellular HSP27, which likely affects intracellular signaling pathways differently then signals originating from outside the cells. Asea *et al.*, however, illustrated that exogenously added rHSP70 was found to bind TLR2 and TLR4 on the surface of monocytes leading to stimulation of NF-κB activity and activation of downstream cytokines (400), which is in agreement with the role of extracellular heat shock proteins such as HSP27 in modulating macrophage biology.

SR-A is also known to be differentially regulated in human and murine cells. For example, Fitzgerald *et al.* demonstrated that LPS reduced SR-A expression in human THP-1 macrophages, but increased SR-A expression in mouse macrophages (179). Since LPS is a well described NF- $\kappa$ B activator, this suggests that NF- $\kappa$ B and SR-A may a) not be linked and b) differentially regulated in these different cell systems. However, HSP27 was

previously shown in the O'Brien lab to stimulate NF-kB activity in a RAW mouse macrophage cell line stably transfected with an NF-kB reporter as well as stimulate translocation of p65 into the nucleus using immunolabelling experiments in both human THP-1 and peritoneal macrophages (personal communication with Tara Seibert in the O'Brien lab), suggesting comparable responses between species. Despite these observations an alternative interpretation could be the following: if HSP27 affects SR-A similarly in mouse and human cells, but has differential effect on NF-kB this may suggest that HSP27 acts through some other pathway to regulate SR-A expression. It should be noted that NF- $\kappa$ B antagonist, BAY11-7082, used in this study is not totally specific to NF- $\kappa$ B. It has been shown to affect other kinase regulated pathways such as p38 MAPK, ERK, and JNK (413,414). Since these signaling kinases have also been shown to be major regulators of SR-A expression and function in different macrophage cell types (173,204,205,219,220,401), it can be argued that HSP27 may also be regulating SR-A expression and foam cell formation through alternative mechanisms. Other NF-κB or MAPK pharmcocological inhibitors or siRNA technology to compliment the BAY studies in this thesis would certainly be needed to confirm the specificity of HSP27 activation of NF- $\kappa$ B vs. other signaling factors such as MAPK and how these are involved in modulation of SR-A expression.

Activated NF- $\kappa$ B was found to be present in atherosclerotic lesions compared to vascular tissue that is devoid of lesion formation (415). Moreover, inhibition of its activation has been shown to reduce foam cell formation, implicating NF- $\kappa$ B as an important player in mediating lesion development (416). Many studies attribute NF- $\kappa$ B activation as proinflammatory with consequent pro-atherogenic actions. Yet, a burgeoning body of literature has revealed new anti-inflammatory roles of NF- $\kappa$ B (417) that agree with the general

framework of this thesis - implicating NF- $\kappa$ B as an anti-inflammatory target for HSP27. For example, Lawrence *et al.* demonstrated that NF- $\kappa$ B plays a role in preserving antiinflammatory gene programs during leukocyte apoptosis (417). In the context of atherosclerosis, Kanters *et al.* demonstrated that recipient LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice transplanted with NF- $\kappa$ B deficient bone marrow cells have more extensive lesions compared to controls – an effect that was associated with reduction in IL-10 secretion *in vivo* (381). In a follow up study, Kanters *et al.* showed that silencing of the p50 subunit of NF- $\kappa$ B attenuated lipid uptake into bone-marrow-derived macrophages via downregulation of SR-A expression (418).

There is evidence to support the working hypothesis that HSP27 acts as an antiinflammatory stimulus. For example, incubation of rHSP27 with human monocytes was previously shown by De *et al.* to activate IL-10 secretion (321). IL-10 is a strong antiinflammatory target gene for NF-κB. Furthermore, IL-10 is expressed in human advanced plaques (282) underscoring its atheroprotective properties in a number of animal models (283,419). Recently, incubation of THP-1 macrophages with IL-10 was found to prevent oxLDL uptake, an effect explained partially by downregulation of SR-A expression (420). Given that treatment of macrophages with rHSP27 induced IL-10 secretion (262), these findings further support HSP27 as an important regulator of inflammation and lipid uptake.

In the context of macrophage activation states, a number of studies demonstrate that deletion of IKK $\beta$  decreased alternative (M2) macrophage markers relative to classical (M1) activation states in a variety of macrophage cell types (421,422). As M2 macrophages have anti-inflammatory features, these studies implicate NF- $\kappa$ B activation as a contributing factor in HSP27-mediated atheroprotection. The role of NF- $\kappa$ B during foam cell formation is

difficult to reconcile for a number of reasons. First, NF- $\kappa$ B can simultaneously control both pro and anti-inflammatory atherosclerotic gene programs, affecting lipid uptake and handling in macrophages. Second, foam cell formation may have beneficial and harmful actions during different stages of lesion development. In early stages of fatty streak formation foam cell formation may be the consequence of macrophages acting to clear proinflammatory lipids. However, foam cells also contribute to plaque progression and necrotic core formation of the advanced plaque. Therefore, the role of NF- $\kappa$ B on lipid uptake pathways and SR-A expression may ultimately depend on the context of both macrophage function and the stage of lesion development.

During foam cell formation, regulatory elements in the promoter regions of the SR-A gene are known to be activated by AP-1 and ets-domain transcription factors (207,208). Although it is unclear whether NF-κB transcriptions factors (i.e., p65/p50) directly influences SR-A gene regulation in these promoter regions, previous results from the O'Brien lab demonstrate translocation of the p65 into the nucleus in response to rHSP27 (368). In addition, LPS (179,423) and TNF- $\alpha$  (172), are known to downregulate SR-A expression in THP-1 macrophages. Both LPS and TNF- $\alpha$  are potent activators of NF-  $\kappa$ B signaling, supporting the idea that p65 may bind to promoter elements in the SR-A gene, silencing its message, and leading to downregulation of SR-A expression. Moreover, Bassuk *et al.* demonstrated that NF- $\kappa$ B interacts with Ets domains to regulate T-cell activation (424), providing indirect evidence for NF- $\kappa$ B dependent regulation of SR-A gene expression.

Although this thesis highlights a novel intracellular signaling pathway for exogenous HSP27 atheroprotection, several interesting questions arise from the current work. Namely, it remains unclear precisely how HSP27 activates NF-κB signaling, if a cognate receptor is

required for this effect, what the identity of this receptor is, and finally whether HSP27 internalization is required. Certainly, identification of a receptor is the focus of ongoing studies, which may potentially yield a novel therapeutic target.

Limitations in this thesis are acknowledged that are implicit in utilizing recombinant proteins. Recombinant proteins generated in bacterial expression systems are known to contain contaminating endotoxin. Despite best attempts to remove the majority of this contamination using polymixin B coated columns, residual endotoxin levels may still remain, which may contribute to NF-kB activation or other untoward effects independent from the true effect of the recombinant protein under study (392). Furthermore, endotoxin has been shown to reduce SR-A expression in THP-1 macrophages (423), and previously found to be a confounding factor in studying the role of rHSP70 (371) and rHSP60 (372) in induction of inflammatory responses in macrophages. Polymixin B (PMB) is known to neutralize LPS and prevent its binding to surface receptors such as TLR2/4 (380) as demonstrated by its ability to completely suppress LPS induction of NF-κB in THP-1 Blue cells. When PMB was added to the culture media in the presence of rHSP27 or rHSP25 no confounding effect was observed on NF- $\kappa$ B, SR-A protein, and lipid uptake. As well, the truncated rC1 served as a protein null control given that it showed no activity in chaperone or subsequent assays used in this study. At equimolar concentrations any endotoxin-related effects would have also been observed with rC1 since it was generated in the same manner as full length rHSP27. Therefore, these results demonstrate that the effect of rHSP27 on macrophage biology (i.e. NF-kB activation, SR-A expression, lipid uptake) reflects the properties of the protein itself rather than residual endotoxin contamination that may conceivably be present in the recombinant protein preparation.

#### Absence of SR-A leads to loss of atheroprotection in both males and females

It is well established that expression of macrophage SR-A during lesion development is associated with foam cell formation (161) and that SR-A represents an important therapeutic target for the prevention of atherogenesis. In the absence of SR-A, HSP25 protection is completely lost in the *en face* lesions of females and males. While the data is not statistically significant, there appears to be a trend to a HSP25-induced reduction in atherosclerosis in aortic root lesions of female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A <sup>-/-</sup> mice treated with rHSP25 compared to controls. In addition, at baseline, SR-A appears to alter lesion development in females, but only when lesions are measured *en face*. On the other hand, both the female aortic sinus and male *en face* lesions were unaffected by the absence of SR-A. The HSP27 inhibition effect on acLDL uptake in bone-marrow derived macrophages isolated from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice is partially lost in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> cells but comparisons between HSP27 treated the single and double knockout cells revealed no statistical difference. The uptake results of the uptake experiments in the SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> suggest that SR-A may play a incomplete role in HSP27-mediated inhibition of foam cell formation.

If SR-A is in fact a key target for HSP25 during foam cell formation one would expect that in its absence, rHSP25 would no longer be efficacious in reducing lesion formation. Certainly, when the gene for SR-A is not present, NF-κB dependent HSP27 signaling is also lost during foam cell formation, presumably because NF-κB activation specifically targets the SR-A promoter or related proteins involved in the transcription of this gene. Therefore, in the absence of SR-A, modified lipids may be taken up by alternative mechanisms driving foam cell formation and rendering rHSP25 no longer atheroprotective in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice. However, HSP25 may have some effects in the SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice given that there was a modest protective effect (p=0.14) when lesions were measured in the aortic sinus. This suggests that SR-A may not be the only target for HSP25 and lends support for another mechanism to explain its atheroprotection. GM-CSF, a hematopoietic growth factor linked to salutary effects on lesion and serum cholesterol levels in rabbits (425,426), was previously shown by the O'Brien lab to be upregulated (and secreted) from macrophages in response to extracellular HSP27 (409). At the time this thesis was written, studies in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> GM-CSF<sup>-/-</sup> mice were in progress to determine whether this cytokine plays a role in HSP27 atheroprotection.

Other classes of scavenger receptors like CD36, LOX-1, CD68 and SR-PSOX are expressed in macrophages. A wealth of animal studies describing their role in atherosclerosis has provided evidence linking them to lipid uptake pathways (135,140,427). Recently, receptor-independent forms of lipid endocytosis have emerged as an alternate mechanism thought to incite foam cell formation. Macropinocytosis of LDL has been described by Kruth and colleagues as a non-saturable fluid phase endocytosis pathway involving well characterized signaling cascades such as Rho GTPase and PI3-kinase. Accumulation of intracellular cholesterol occurs in lipid droplets much in the same way as described for receptor-mediated endocytosis – a process that is independent from downregulation of LDL receptors (234,428). In a recent review, Kruth et al. provides evidence that fluid-phase macropinocytosis occurs in the atherosclerotic plaque and may be an important target in limiting cholesterol accumulation into the vessel well (236). In the absence of SR-A, HSP27 mediated protection is completely abolished in both female and male mice. Although not tested in this thesis, it is conceivable that other receptors or sources of lipid uptake other than SR-A are not affected by HSP27 in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice. This

would allow pro-atherogenic processes to proceed unperturbed leading to foam cell formation and increased lesion burden as demonstrated in the absence of SR-A.

While HSP27-mediated atheroprotection is lost in both male and female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice, it is important to note that in female mice the absence of SR-A alone is associated with a reduction in en face lesion size, but not in the aortic sinus. Furthermore, the effect of SR-A deletion on atherosclerosis was not observed in the aorta of male mice. In spite of these conclusions, this implies that SR-A may not necessarily play a role in the development of lesions in these mice. However, injection of HSP25, which possibly acts through diminished expression of SR-A, conferred protection in the single knockout ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Based on these results one could argue against HSP25-mediated effect on SR-A expression affecting atherosclerosis. A first explanation for this anomalous result might include methodological limitations. Since 3 weeks of a high fat diet is considered early stage lesion formation, it is possible that the extent of atherosclerosis development in the Apo $E^{-/-}$  mice (389) would not be great enough to observe differences in lesions in the aortic sinus. Lesion formation along different regions of the aortic tree has previously been shown to develop at varying rates (429). Therefore, a longer time-course is required to test if observable changes in lesion development occur as a result of SR-A deletion, especially in the aortic sinus.

Other studies have documented site-specific effects of various knockout models and therapeutic interventions. For example, Goel *et al.* reported increased lesion size in the aortic sinus but reduced lesions in the lesser curvature of the aorta in Pecam-1<sup>-/-</sup>LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice (430). Other reports using therapeutic intervention such as procubol (431) and the estrogen

receptor  $\beta$  agonist, 8BVE2 (367), have all documented site-specific anti-atherogenic effects in ApoE-/- mice.

The role of SR-A in lesion development is complex and begs the question: are there sex-specific (or even ovarian hormone specific) as well as site-specific factors that confound the analysis of the atherogenesis in SR-A null mice? Although it is not entirely clear how sex hormones or vessel regions affect SR-A during atherogenesis and whether they are even related, they are not surprising given that a number of studies have reported divergent functions of SR-A in atherosclerosis, many of which show sex as well as region (e.g. aortic versus sinus lesion) specific differences (see **Table I**). For example, Moore *et al.* found a 40% increase in aortic sinus lesion size in male ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed a high fat diet for 8 weeks compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> females (227). Kuchibhotla *et al.*, on the other hand, reported a 32% decrease in sinus lesion size in female mice on a high fat diet for 12 weeks compared to male counterparts (228). Differential patterns of SR-A as well as CD36 expression within different geographical vessel regions have also been noted within the plaque (432), providing evidence that lipid uptake mechanisms may be unequal in the aortic arch versus the sinus regions. Indeed, SR-A expression is known to be co-localized in macrophages of human atherosclerotic lesions compared to diffuse non-atherosclerotic intimal thickening or in the adjacent healthy arterial tissue (156). However, the intensity of SR-A immunoreactivity is known to peak in the fatty streak because studies have shown decreased expression of SR-A in advanced lesions, suggesting that SR-A may have differential roles and expression profiles in every stage of lesion development (156). During early lesions formation SR-A functions to phagocytose modified lipids in the vessel wall contributing to fatty streak formation, yet in the advance plaque where cell death contributes to the necrotic

core, SR-A is known to play an important role in not only initiating these cell death pathways (221) but also in the clearance of dying cells (433). SR-A may have both anti- or pro-atherogenic roles depending on the stage of lesion formation. Early clearance of modified lipids from the vessel wall acts to dampen the inflammatory response, but when lipid uptake and cholesterol metabolisms pathways become overwhelmed, foam cell formation ensues leading to macrophage apoptosis and the formation of the necrotic core (140). Given that SR-A is implicated in other important cellular process beyond lipid uptake, such as innate immunity, cell migration/adhesion, and clearance of apoptotic cells (140), its absence in atherosclerotic animal models may influence the normal maintenance of the vessel wall – these pleiotropic effects ultimately impact the effect of atherosclerotic lesion formation and provides an explanation for intra- and inter-study discrepancies.

While estrogen has been shown to decrease foam cell formation *in vitro* by modulating SR-A message levels (261), the sex- and region-dependent differences observed in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> can not be easily explained. The model of atherosclerosis presented in this thesis reflects an early stage of atherogenesis (i.e., due to 3 weeks of a high fat diet). Therefore, the function of SR-A during lesion development likely represents a model of early lipid uptake and foam cell formation during the initiation of lesion development. Since SR-A may play different roles in macrophage function in advanced stages of disease, future work is warranted to test whether SR-A is required for the beneficial effects of HSP27 treatment during formation of the necrotic core in chronic atherosclerosis experiments (>12 weeks on a high fat diet), or even after lesions are already established. Although SR-A expression in this thesis was shown to be diminished in the intima of HSP25 treated ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice using immnohistochemistry (qualitative) techniques, it also remains unclear if the

attenuation of SR-A expression specifically in macrophages directly leads to reduction in lesion formation. Analysis of lesions stained with CD68 or Mac-2 would help clarify whether HSP27 directly affects SR-A expression relative to macrophage content in the lesion.

Lastly, it should be recognized that the dose and delivery route of rHSP25 in this thesis was selected based on initial preliminary mouse trials in the O'Brien lab (370). Follow up studies are warranted to optimize dosage, timing, and delivery methods (i.e. oral vs. intravenous vs. subcutaneous). Furthermore, rC1 was only used in the *in vitro* studies of this thesis and hence future injection studies are required to confirm whether it has no affect on atherosclerosis compared to rHSP27/25 and validate its utility as a protein null control *in vivo*.

#### Augmented HSP27 levels is required for atheroprotection in males and females

Lesion burden in arteries of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> HSP27o/e mice fed a HFD are strongly associated with reduction in HSP27 serum levels, but only in females (262,366). These observations led to the hypothesis, and confirmed in this study, that raising extracellular HSP27 (or the mouse ortholoug, HSP25) levels via therapeutic administration of recombinant protein would be sufficient to confer a similar protection profile seen previously in HSP27o/e female mice fed a HFD – effects shown to be dependent on estrogen (366). This study, however, provides evidence that that the sex-dependent actions of HSP27-atheroprotection are overcome, since injection of HSP25 into male ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice trends toward similar reductions in *en face* lesions (p=0.06) observed in their female counterparts. Given the small sample size analyzed for the male mice, increasing the power of each group would likely achieve the desired statistical significance in this experiment.

The current study makes the important observation that realizing sufficient levels of HSP27 in the serum, through exogenous administration of recombinant protein, can reduce atherosclerotic burden. Furthermore, the observation that low levels of serum HSP27 are associated with progression of atherosclerosis in patients (360), supports the hypothesis that augmentation of HSP27 levels is required to realize its atheroprotective potential. Pharmacokinetic analysis of HSP27 concentration in the serum after subcutaneous injections revealed that at its half life HSP27 levels are 100 fold higher (200 ng/ml) compared to levels observed in the HSP270/e mice (2 ng/ml) (personal communication with Dr. Charles Cuerrier). At such high levels it is likely that HSP27 no longer requires the presence of estrogen to carry out its biological actions - thus making modulation of HSP27 serum levels a potential therapeutic target in both males and females. In vitro, 250  $\mu$ g/ml (9.6  $\mu$ M) HSP27/25 was used as the optimal dose to demonstrate the biological effects observed herein. At a concentration of 9.6 µM, for example, HSP27 would theoretically represent one of the top ten proteins found in the serum, which is probably not very likely given the potential toxic side-effect of using these high amounts. However, the use of high concentrations of HSP27 in vitro to confer its biological actions may reflect the requirement of high localized levels of HSP27 required at the site of the developing lesion. Cytokines acting in an autocrine or paracrine fashion are certainly concentrated at their localized sites of actions. Although more work must be carried out to determine optimal doses and administration routes in vivo, elevated levels of HSP27 present in targeted regions of the vessel wall may provide an explanation for both its protective effects in males as well as its use at high concentrations *in vitro*. Lastly, another limitation of this study is the inability to properly measure circulating levels HSP25 (or HSP27) after injections because commercial

ELISAs have proven unreliable and ineffective. Therefore, refinement or development of better detection methods is warranted.

#### Serum cholesterol levels and lesion burden

The mechanism by which HSP25 lowers serum cholesterol levels remains unidentified and is an ongoing research pursuit in the O'Brien lab. Interestingly, the cholesterol lowering effect of rHSP25 is also observed in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice despite loss of atheroprotection. Cholesterol profiles in both groups of mice indicate that HSP27 reduces both VLDL and LDL cholesterol levels. High VLDL/LDL is a major predictor of cardiovascular disease outcomes and reduction in their levels are associated with improved outcome of cardiovascular events (3).

Like statins, HSP25 may have pleiotropic functions that modulate both serum cholesterol levels as well as cellular factors in the vessel wall important. Although statins are known for their cholesterol lowering properties via mechanisms that target a key enzyme involved in the synthesis of cholesterol moieties, there are additional (pleiotropic) functions of statins that may contribute to reductions in foam cell formation (434). For example, THP-1 cells incubated with a lovastatin show reduced SR-A mRNA expression (260). In *ex vivo* experiments Fuhrman *et al.* demonstrated that monocytes isolated from hypercholesterolemic patients taking statins had both reduced oxLDL uptake, scavenger receptor expression, and ROS production (435). *In vivo*, several studies demonstrate that statins can directly modulate vessel wall biology by modulating lipid accumulation and foam cell formation in rabbit (436) and human (437) atherosclerotic lesions

It is important to note that in the absence of SR-A, HSP25 is no longer atheroprotective despite being associated with a reduction in serum cholesterol levels. Therefore, it can be reasoned that the pro-atherogenic factors controlling foam cell formation in the early stages of atherosclerosis offset or counterbalance the anti-atherogenic effects of reductions in serum levels that one might expect would be sufficient to attenuate lesion development in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Stated differently, these data lead us to postulate that the anti-atherogenesis effects of HSP27 may be more related to inhibition of foam cell formation via reductions in SR-A expression than reductions in serum cholesterol levels.

While the concept that reductions of serum cholesterol levels may not be the dominant means by which lesion formation can be prevented is somewhat iconoclastic, there are other examples that help support the tenet that serum cholesterol levels are not necessarily predictive of atherogenesis. Ezetimibe is a cholesterol lowering drug that binds NPC1-like protein in endothelial cells of the intestine and blocks cholesterol absorption into the circulation. Results from the ENHANCE trial demonstrated that despite reductions in serum cholesterol levels in hypercholesterolemic patients treated with both ezetimibe and statins, there was no added benefit of ezetimibe in preventing increases in arterial intimamedia thickness compared to patients taking statins alone (438). Although the ENHANCE trial was not a clinical-outcome trial that assessed cardiovascular events, it provided evidence that reducing cholesterol levels may not be directly associated with attenuation of atherosclerotic plaque burden. Moreover, the ARBITER 6–HALTS trial enrolled patients already taking statins to test whether the additive effect of ezetimibe was more beneficial than niacin in reducing plaque burden, raising HDL, and preventing cardiovascular events

(439) Paradoxically, patients supplemented with ezetimibe showed an increase in plaque size concomitant with elevated incidence of cardiovascular events compared to those supplemented with niacin alone. Despite reductions in LDL cholesterol with enzetimibe treatment, this trial further illustrated that traditional serum cholesterol risk factors for atherosclerosis may not be entirely predictive of the extent of lesion development. Certainly, fatty streak formation consisting largely of foam cells has been observed in young children and adults who display normal serum cholesterol levels (440) further supporting the argument against serum cholesterol levels as strong predictors of disease outcome.

Other studies in mice also demonstrate that interventions that are targeted specifically to the artery wall can influence atherosclerosis without affecting plasma cholesterol levels. Zhang *et al.* demonstrated that high-fat diet-fed chimeric Neimann-Pick C (NPC)1<sup>-/-</sup> mice reconstituted with Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup>Npc1<sup>-/-</sup> macrophages displayed worse lesions despite presenting with lower serum cholesterol levels compared with mice reconstituted with wild-type macrophages (441). The authors demonstrate that the discordance between the low serum lipoprotein levels and the presence of aortic atherosclerosis was due to the intrinsic alterations in macrophage sterol metabolism in the chimeric Npc1<sup>-/-</sup> mice and they proposed that this effect in the vessel wall played a greater role in atherosclerotic lesion formation than did serum lipoprotein levels.

Given the observed magnitude of serum cholesterol reduction (25-32%) remains of uncertain physiological significance, only conservative conclusions should be drawn regarding its responsibility for atheroprotection. Instead, the observed atheroprotective effects may stem from a synergistic combination of both serum cholesterol reduction and SR-A downregulation in the vessel wall, thereby inhibiting foam cell formation. Finally, it is

clear that HSP27 has other pleiotropic effects that are recognized, for example, in its downstream effects on gene transcription via NF- $\kappa$ B activation, which will require further study as previously described (409).

# 6.0 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This thesis was designed to examine the mechanism of HSP27-mediated atheroprotection, focusing specifically on how HSP27 is associated with SR-A in macrophages to inhibit foam cell formation. Previous results from the O'Brien lab and other groups have demonstrated that HSP27 is actively released from macrophages where it acts as a signaling molecule in the extracellular space to regulate anti-inflammatory responses. Given that foam cell accumulation in the lesion drives, in part, the pro-inflammatory response characteristic of atherosclerosis, inhibition of foam cell formation is considered a therapeutic target. A number of factors thought to influence lipid uptake into macrophages in vitro were considered herein, such as the ability of HSP27 to either prevent lipid accumulation into macrophages by directly competing with SR-A, or alternatively by limiting the amount of receptors at the cell surface. The results presented in this thesis demonstrate for the first time that augmented HSP27 levels (using rHSP27) inhibits lipid uptake into macrophages by downregulating SR-A expression. This effect may occurs at the gene level further implicating extracellular HSP27 in signaling events downstream from the cell surface. The signaling events by which HSP27 regulates SR-A expression may involve NF-κB activation but further work is required to conclude whether NF-kB definitively plays a role in modulating SR-A. Lastly, the importance of SR-A in atherosclerosis was explored by injecting ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed a high fat diet with HSP25, the mouse homologue of HSP27. Despite sex- and region-specific effects of SR-A in atherosclerosis, it was revealed that 1) the atheroprotection effect of HSP25 are lost in the absence of SR-A in both female and male mice, and 2) loss of protection occurred in the presence of equal reductions in total serum cholesterol levels in both female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice groups. Hence, the

studies in this thesis describe a possible mechanism by which HSP27 inhibits foam cell formation through downregulation of SR-A expression - an effect that may be targeted to the vessel wall (**Figure 33**). Given the discordance of results on the impact of SR-A among male and females along different regions of the arotic tree, these *in vivo* studies highlighted the complex role of SR-A in mediating HSP27 atheroprotection. Though HSP27 likely has other pleiotropic targets that might contribute to the attenuation of atherosclerosis, this thesis provides evidence that SR-A may be one of these targets.

Hence, this work confirms the utility of HSP27 as a novel extracellular antiatherogenic therapy and provides important insight into development of HSP27 as a potential therapeutic moiety that can be tested in future animal and clinical trials. Furthermore, given that rC1 was shown to lack biological activity in all the *in vitro* bioassays presented in this thesis, additional studies will take aim at identifying the specific sequence or part of the HSP27 molecule that is required to attenuate SR-A expression. The challenge of future work (as described in the following sections) will be to find the most efficacious methods to direct HSP27 protective actions in the vessel wall to prevent foam cell formation.


## Figure 33. Extracellular HSP27 inhibits foam cell formation by downregulating SR-A expression

This thesis highlights a novel pathway by which extracellular HSP27 leads to inhibition of foam cell formation and protection against atherosclerosis. Activation of NF- $\kappa$ B either through an unknown cognate receptor or direct translocation across the plasma membrane (PM) was found to downregulate SR-A gene expression. This leads to reduced levels of SR-A at the cell surface, in turn, preventing accumulation of modified lipid into the macrophage.

## 7.0 FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This chapter will expand on some unanswered questions that stem from the results presented in this thesis. Three recommendations will be made to carry out future experiments.

This study has investigated the signaling properties of extracellular HSP27 and its relationship between NF-KB activation and SR-A expression. It would be of foremost interest to further elucidate how HSP27 is activating NF-kB to modulate SR-A expression, particularly focusing on whether these effects are mediated through a cognate surface receptor or whether HSP27 is translocated across the plasma membrane. Using fluorescently labeling techniques, previous studies have shown that HSP70 binds to the surface of macrophages as well as to CHO cells transfected with a number of plasmids expressing receptor candidates involved in signaling such as TLR2/4, CD14, and CD40 (442). HSP60, HSP70, and HSP90 have also been shown to interact with scavenger receptors at the cell surface to facilitate their internalization into the cell. In addition, previous studies have illustrated that extracellular HSP70 activated NF- $\kappa$ B activity by interacting with TL2/4, and CD14 on the surface human monocytes (400). These receptor screening experiments may provide clues that HSP27 likely binds to signaling receptors expressed in macrophages. A similar approach is recommended herein, where HSP27 (or rC1 protein null controls) is conjugated to a fluorescent probe either via labeling the native protein with a fluorescent probe (e.g. Alexa 488) after purification, or generated in bacterial expression systems using an HSP27 vector containing the green fluorescent protein (GFP) sequence. Macrophages can then be screened for HSP27 binding or internalization by incubating the cells with the fluorescent protein at 4°C or 37°C, respectively. Protein binding or internalization can then

be assessed either visually using confocal microscopy or quantified using a fluorescent plate reader. Although these experiments do not assay for individual receptors for HSP27 binding, they provide general insight into whether HSP27 is interacting with a surface receptor, being incorporated inside the cell, or both. Indeed, at the time this thesis was written pull down assays were being performed involving interactions between rHSP27 and preparations of THP-1 cell membranes. Elusion of HSP27 in columns using Ni<sup>+</sup>NT beads and subsequent analysis of putative proteins using mass spectrometry will potentially reveal novel HSP27 interacting partners. Uncovering a receptor for rHSP27 will provide further targets to improve HSP27 anti-atherogenic actions in the vessel wall and expand the current knowledge about extracellular HSPs as important regulators of the inflammatory response.

Moreover, the results of this thesis provide evidence that NF-κB regulates SR-A expression at the gene level. Although p65 was previously shown in the O'Brien lab to translocate into the nucleus when macrophages were treated with rHSP27 (409), it remains unclear in this dataset whether NF-κB transcription factors directly interacts with SR-A promoter regions to modulate expression of SR-A message. As such, it would be of reasonable interest to specifically determine if HSP27 alters SR-A transcriptional activity. One approach would be to transfect THP-1 cells with a plasmid encoding the SR-A promoter linked to a luciferase reporter gene as previously described (443,444). Incubation of cells with HSP27 in the presence or absence of the NF-κB inhibitor, BAY11-7082, would confirm whether HSP27 suppresses SR-A gene expression and whether this effect is directly dependent on NF-κB activity. Another approach would be to measure SR-A mRNA, protein, as well as acLDL uptake in NF-κB<sup>-/-</sup> macrophages isolated from NF-κB knockout mice (381,418,444). Given that SR-A expression and acLDL uptake are modulated by NF-κB as assessed by pharmacological inhibition strategies, a similar biological effect would be expected in the absence of the NF- $\kappa$ B gene, further validating the importance of NF- $\kappa$ B activity in HSP27 responses.

Lastly, the development and design of small molecule drugs that target foam cell formation and macrophage mediated pro-inflammatory processes in the vessel wall is an attractive research pursuit (444,445). It is clear that the N-terminus truncated HSP27 variant, rC1, lacks biological activity demonstrating not only its utility as a protein null control, but also that the N-terminus contains a sequence important for HSP27's biological activity. This matches with previous findings that exemplify the N-terminus (e.g. WDTF domain and phosphorylation sits) essential for cell protection, maintenance of the oligomeric structure, and chaperone activity of the protein (446-448). Moreover, overexpression of an N-terminus truncated variant in neurons, but not the C-terminus, protected against ischemia in vitro (344), further validating the N-terminus as an important requirement in mediating HSP27's intracellular activity. Further development of recombinant truncated HSP27 mutants would provide insight into which specific region of the N-terminus is essential for activation of NF-κB and downregulation of SR-A expression. Injection of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> with these truncated variants would provide information about its sequence specific atheroprotection actions focusing explicitly on inhibiting SR-A expression in the lesion. This holds significance in development of small peptide drugs for exploiting specific antiatherogenic targets while minimizing off target side effects.

In an attempt to develop HSP27 as a therapeutic to inhibit foam cell formation *in vivo* it would be of clinical interest to ask whether statins could provide an additive benefit in HSP27 treated mice. Given that statins modulate SR-A (434) and HSP27 expression (449)

165

*in vitro* it is currently unclear in the literature how SR-A is involved in these statindependent effects *in vivo*. Analysis of lesion burden in SR-A null mice given statins in the presence of rHSP27 compared to mice treated with statins or rHSP27 alone would help further substantiate if SR-A expression is a major target for HSP27 therapy. This experiment would provide insight into the mechanism of rHSP27 atheroprotection, describing important information in the context of a clinically relevant drug therapy model.

## **8.0 REFERENCES**

- 1. Stary, H. C. 2000. Lipid and macrophage accumulations in arteries of children and the development of atherosclerosis. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 72:1297S-1306S.
- 2. Hansson, G. K. 2005. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 352:1685-1695.
- 3. Gould, A. L., J. E. Rossouw, N. C. Santanello, J. F. Heyse, and C. D. Furberg. 1998. Cholesterol reduction yields clinical benefit: impact of statin trials. Circulation 97:946-952.
- Yusuf, S., S. Hawken, S. Ounpuu, T. Dans, A. Avezum, F. Lanas, M. McQueen, A. Budaj, P. Pais, J. Varigos, and L. Lisheng. 2004. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet 364:937-952.
- Roberts, R., A. F. Stewart, G. A. Wells, K. A. Williams, N. Kavaslar, and R. McPherson. 2007. Identifying genes for coronary artery disease: An idea whose time has come. Can. J. Cardiol. 23 Suppl A:7A-15A.
- McPherson, R., A. Pertsemlidis, N. Kavaslar, A. Stewart, R. Roberts, D. R. Cox, D. A. Hinds, L. A. Pennacchio, A. Tybjaerg-Hansen, A. R. Folsom, E. Boerwinkle, H. H. Hobbs, and J. C. Cohen. 2007. A common allele on chromosome 9 associated with coronary heart disease. Science 316:1488-1491.
- 7. McPherson, R. 2010. Chromosome 9p21 and coronary artery disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 362:1736-1737.
- Allam, A. H., R. C. Thompson, L. S. Wann, M. I. Miyamoto, N. E.-D. Ael, G. A. El-Maksoud, S. M. Al-Tohamy, I. Badr, H. A. El-Rahman Amer, M. L. Sutherland, J. D. Sutherland, and G. S. Thomas. 2011. Atherosclerosis in ancient Egyptian mummies: the Horus study. JACC. Cardiovasc. Imaging 4:315-327.
- 9. Statistics Canada. Morality, Summary List of Causes 2008. 10-18-2011. Ref Type: Case
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Tracking Heart Disease and Stroke in Canada. 2009. Ref Type: Case
- Conference Board of Canada. The Canadian Heart Health Strategy: Risk Factors and Future Cost Implications. 1-2-2010. Ref Type: Case
- 12. Kavey, R. E., S. R. Daniels, R. M. Lauer, D. L. Atkins, L. L. Hayman, and K. Taubert. 2003. American Heart Association guidelines for primary prevention of

atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease beginning in childhood. Circulation 107:1562-1566.

- McGill, H. C., Jr., C. A. McMahan, A. W. Zieske, G. T. Malcom, R. E. Tracy, and J. P. Strong. 2001. Effects of nonlipid risk factors on atherosclerosis in youth with a favorable lipoprotein profile. Circulation 103:1546-1550.
- Newman, W. P., III, D. S. Freedman, A. W. Voors, P. D. Gard, S. R. Srinivasan, J. L. Cresanta, G. D. Williamson, L. S. Webber, and G. S. Berenson. 1986. Relation of serum lipoprotein levels and systolic blood pressure to early atherosclerosis. The Bogalusa Heart Study. N. Engl. J. Med. 314:138-144.
- 15. Davignon, J. 2004. Beneficial cardiovascular pleiotropic effects of statins. Circulation 109:III39-III43.
- 16. 1994. Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). Lancet 344:1383-1389.
- Shepherd, J., S. M. Cobbe, I. Ford, C. G. Isles, A. R. Lorimer, P. W. MacFarlane, J. H. McKillop, and C. J. Packard. 1995. Prevention of coronary heart disease with pravastatin in men with hypercholesterolemia. West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study Group. N. Engl. J. Med. 333:1301-1307.
- Schwartz, G. G., A. G. Olsson, M. D. Ezekowitz, P. Ganz, M. F. Oliver, D. Waters, A. Zeiher, B. R. Chaitman, S. Leslie, and T. Stern. 2001. Effects of atorvastatin on early recurrent ischemic events in acute coronary syndromes: the MIRACL study: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 285:1711-1718.
- Cannon, C. P., E. Braunwald, C. H. McCabe, D. J. Rader, J. L. Rouleau, R. Belder, S. V. Joyal, K. A. Hill, M. A. Pfeffer, and A. M. Skene. 2004. Intensive versus moderate lipid lowering with statins after acute coronary syndromes. N. Engl. J. Med. 350:1495-1504.
- 20. Wilson, H. M. 2010. Macrophages heterogeneity in atherosclerosis implications for therapy. J. Cell Mol. Med. 14:2055-2065.
- 21. Bentzon, J. F. and E. Falk. 2010. Atherosclerotic lesions in mouse and man: is it the same disease? Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 21:434-440.
- 22. Dai, G., M. R. Kaazempur-Mofrad, S. Natarajan, Y. Zhang, S. Vaughn, B. R. Blackman, R. D. Kamm, G. Garcia-Cardena, and M. A. Gimbrone, Jr. 2004. Distinct endothelial phenotypes evoked by arterial waveforms derived from atherosclerosis-susceptible and -resistant regions of human vasculature. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 101:14871-14876.
- 23. Skalen, K., M. Gustafsson, E. K. Rydberg, L. M. Hulten, O. Wiklund, T. L. Innerarity, and J. Boren. 2002. Subendothelial retention of atherogenic lipoproteins in early atherosclerosis. Nature 417:750-754.

- 24. Steinberg, D., S. Parthasarathy, T. E. Carew, J. C. Khoo, and J. L. Witztum. 1989. Beyond cholesterol. Modifications of low-density lipoprotein that increase its atherogenicity. N. Engl. J. Med. 320:915-924.
- 25. Stocker, R. and J. F. Keaney, Jr. 2004. Role of oxidative modifications in atherosclerosis. Physiol Rev. 84:1381-1478.
- 26. Gesquiere, L., W. Cho, and P. V. Subbaiah. 2002. Role of group IIa and group V secretory phospholipases A(2) in the metabolism of lipoproteins. Substrate specificities of the enzymes and the regulation of their activities by sphingomyelin. Biochemistry 41:4911-4920.
- 27. Xu, X. X. and I. Tabas. 1991. Sphingomyelinase enhances low density lipoprotein uptake and ability to induce cholesteryl ester accumulation in macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 266:24849-24858.
- 28. Gerrity, R. G. 1981. The role of the monocyte in atherogenesis: II. Migration of foam cells from atherosclerotic lesions. Am. J. Pathol. 103:191-200.
- 29. Huo, Y., A. Hafezi-Moghadam, and K. Ley. 2000. Role of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and fibronectin connecting segment-1 in monocyte rolling and adhesion on early atherosclerotic lesions. Circ. Res. 87:153-159.
- 30. Ley, K., Y. I. Miller, and C. C. Hedrick. 2011. Monocyte and macrophage dynamics during atherogenesis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 31:1506-1516.
- Ramos, C. L., Y. Huo, U. Jung, S. Ghosh, D. R. Manka, I. J. Sarembock, and K. Ley. 1999. Direct demonstration of P-selectin- and VCAM-1-dependent mononuclear cell rolling in early atherosclerotic lesions of apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circ. Res. 84:1237-1244.
- 32. Huo, Y., C. Weber, S. B. Forlow, M. Sperandio, J. Thatte, M. Mack, S. Jung, D. R. Littman, and K. Ley. 2001. The chemokine KC, but not monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, triggers monocyte arrest on early atherosclerotic endothelium. J. Clin. Invest 108:1307-1314.
- Ley, K., C. Laudanna, M. I. Cybulsky, and S. Nourshargh. 2007. Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7:678-689.
- Cybulsky, M. I. and M. A. Gimbrone, Jr. 1991. Endothelial expression of a mononuclear leukocyte adhesion molecule during atherogenesis. Science 251:788-791.
- 35. Davies, M. J., J. L. Gordon, A. J. Gearing, R. Pigott, N. Woolf, D. Katz, and A. Kyriakopoulos. 1993. The expression of the adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1, PECAM, and E-selectin in human atherosclerosis. J. Pathol. 171:223-229.

- Cybulsky, M. I., K. Iiyama, H. Li, S. Zhu, M. Chen, M. Iiyama, V. Davis, J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, P. W. Connelly, and D. S. Milstone. 2001. A major role for VCAM-1, but not ICAM-1, in early atherosclerosis. J. Clin. Invest 107:1255-1262.
- 37. Iiyama, K., L. Hajra, M. Iiyama, H. Li, M. DiChiara, B. D. Medoff, and M. I. Cybulsky. 1999. Patterns of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in rabbit and mouse atherosclerotic lesions and at sites predisposed to lesion formation. Circ. Res. 85:199-207.
- Bourdillon, M. C., R. N. Poston, C. Covacho, E. Chignier, G. Bricca, and J. L. McGregor. 2000. ICAM-1 deficiency reduces atherosclerotic lesions in doubleknockout mice (ApoE(-/-)/ICAM-1(-/-)) fed a fat or a chow diet. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20:2630-2635.
- Collins, R. G., R. Velji, N. V. Guevara, M. J. Hicks, L. Chan, and A. L. Beaudet. 2000. P-Selectin or intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 deficiency substantially protects against atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. J. Exp. Med. 191:189-194.
- 40. Gerszten, R. E., F. Mach, A. Sauty, A. Rosenzweig, and A. D. Luster. 2000. Chemokines, leukocytes, and atherosclerosis. J. Lab Clin. Med. 136:87-92.
- 41. Boring, L., J. Gosling, M. Cleary, and I. F. Charo. 1998. Decreased lesion formation in CCR2-/- mice reveals a role for chemokines in the initiation of atherosclerosis. Nature 394:894-897.
- Combadiere, C., S. Potteaux, M. Rodero, T. Simon, A. Pezard, B. Esposito, R. Merval, A. Proudfoot, A. Tedgui, and Z. Mallat. 2008. Combined inhibition of CCL2, CX3CR1, and CCR5 abrogates Ly6C(hi) and Ly6C(lo) monocytosis and almost abolishes atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic mice. Circulation 117:1649-1657.
- Gu, L., Y. Okada, S. K. Clinton, C. Gerard, G. K. Sukhova, P. Libby, and B. J. Rollins. 1998. Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 reduces atherosclerosis in low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. Mol. Cell 2:275-281.
- Braunersreuther, V., A. Zernecke, C. Arnaud, E. A. Liehn, S. Steffens, E. Shagdarsuren, K. Bidzhekov, F. Burger, G. Pelli, B. Luckow, F. Mach, and C. Weber. 2007. Ccr5 but not Ccr1 deficiency reduces development of diet-induced atherosclerosis in mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27:373-379.
- Combadiere, C., S. Potteaux, J. L. Gao, B. Esposito, S. Casanova, E. J. Lee, P. Debre, A. Tedgui, P. M. Murphy, and Z. Mallat. 2003. Decreased atherosclerotic lesion formation in CX3CR1/apolipoprotein E double knockout mice. Circulation 107:1009-1016.

- 46. Lesnik, P., C. A. Haskell, and I. F. Charo. 2003. Decreased atherosclerosis in CX3CR1-/- mice reveals a role for fractalkine in atherogenesis. J. Clin. Invest 111:333-340.
- 47. Bernhagen, J., R. Krohn, H. Lue, J. L. Gregory, A. Zernecke, R. R. Koenen, M. Dewor, I. Georgiev, A. Schober, L. Leng, T. Kooistra, G. Fingerle-Rowson, P. Ghezzi, R. Kleemann, S. R. McColl, R. Bucala, M. J. Hickey, and C. Weber. 2007. MIF is a noncognate ligand of CXC chemokine receptors in inflammatory and atherogenic cell recruitment. Nat. Med. 13:587-596.
- 48. Dawson, T. C., W. A. Kuziel, T. A. Osahar, and N. Maeda. 1999. Absence of CC chemokine receptor-2 reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Atherosclerosis 143:205-211.
- 49. Gosling, J., S. Slaymaker, L. Gu, S. Tseng, C. H. Zlot, S. G. Young, B. J. Rollins, and I. F. Charo. 1999. MCP-1 deficiency reduces susceptibility to atherosclerosis in mice that overexpress human apolipoprotein B. J. Clin. Invest 103:773-778.
- 50. Smith, J. D., E. Trogan, M. Ginsberg, C. Grigaux, J. Tian, and M. Miyata. 1995. Decreased atherosclerosis in mice deficient in both macrophage colony-stimulating factor (op) and apolipoprotein E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 92:8264-8268.
- 51. Peiser, L., S. Mukhopadhyay, and S. Gordon. 2002. Scavenger receptors in innate immunity. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 14:123-128.
- 52. Janeway, C. A., Jr. and R. Medzhitov. 2002. Innate immune recognition. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 20:197-216.
- 53. Thorp, E. and I. Tabas. 2009. Mechanisms and consequences of efferocytosis in advanced atherosclerosis. J. Leukoc. Biol. 86:1089-1095.
- 54. Thorp, E., M. Subramanian, and I. Tabas. 2011. The role of macrophages and dendritic cells in the clearance of apoptotic cells in advanced atherosclerosis 1. Eur. J. Immunol. 41:2515-2518.
- 55. Ross, R. and J. A. Glomset. 1973. Atherosclerosis and the arterial smooth muscle cell: Proliferation of smooth muscle is a key event in the genesis of the lesions of atherosclerosis. Science 180:1332-1339.
- Lindner, V. and M. A. Reidy. 1995. Platelet-derived growth factor ligand and receptor expression by large vessel endothelium in vivo. Am. J. Pathol. 146:1488-1497.
- 57. Bobik, A., A. Agrotis, P. Kanellakis, R. Dilley, A. Krushinsky, V. Smirnov, E. Tararak, M. Condron, and G. Kostolias. 1999. Distinct patterns of transforming growth factor-beta isoform and receptor expression in human atherosclerotic lesions. Colocalization implicates TGF-beta in fibrofatty lesion development. Circulation 99:2883-2891.

- 58. Scull, C. M. and I. Tabas. 2011. Mechanisms of ER Stress-Induced Apoptosis in Atherosclerosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 31:2792-2797.
- Newby, A. C. and A. B. Zaltsman. 1999. Fibrous cap formation or destruction--the critical importance of vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation, migration and matrix formation. Cardiovasc. Res. 41:345-360.
- Glagov, S., E. Weisenberg, C. K. Zarins, R. Stankunavicius, and G. J. Kolettis. 1987. Compensatory enlargement of human atherosclerotic coronary arteries. N. Engl. J. Med. 316:1371-1375.
- 61. Shah, P. K. and Z. S. Galis. 2001. Matrix metalloproteinase hypothesis of plaque rupture: players keep piling up but questions remain. Circulation 104:1878-1880.
- 62. Loftus, I. M., A. R. Naylor, P. R. Bell, and M. M. Thompson. 2002. Matrix metalloproteinases and atherosclerotic plaque instability. Br. J. Surg. 89:680-694.
- 63. Galis, Z. S. and J. J. Khatri. 2002. Matrix metalloproteinases in vascular remodeling and atherogenesis: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Circ. Res. 90:251-262.
- 64. Virmani, R., A. P. Burke, A. Farb, and F. D. Kolodgie. 2006. Pathology of the vulnerable plaque. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 47:C13-C18.
- 65. Gutstein, D. E. and V. Fuster. 1999. Pathophysiology and clinical significance of atherosclerotic plaque rupture. Cardiovasc. Res. 41:323-333.
- 66. Park, Y. M., M. Febbraio, and R. L. Silverstein. 2009. CD36 modulates migration of mouse and human macrophages in response to oxidized LDL and may contribute to macrophage trapping in the arterial intima. J. Clin. Invest 119:136-145.
- 67. Fan, E., L. Zhang, S. Jiang, and Y. Bai. 2008. Beneficial effects of resveratrol on atherosclerosis. J. Med. Food 11:610-614.
- 68. Curtiss, L. K. 2009. Reversing atherosclerosis? N. Engl. J. Med. 360:1144-1146.
- 69. Murray, P. J. and T. A. Wynn. 2011. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 11:723-737.
- 70. Mantovani, B., M. Rabinovitch, and V. Nussenzweig. 1972. Phagocytosis of immune complexes by macrophages. Different roles of the macrophage receptor sites for complement (C3) and for immunoglobulin (IgG). J. Exp. Med. 135:780-792.
- 71. Barnes, M. J. and F. Powrie. 2009. Regulatory T cells reinforce intestinal homeostasis. Immunity. 31:401-411.
- 72. Varol, C., A. Vallon-Eberhard, E. Elinav, T. Aychek, Y. Shapira, H. Luche, H. J. Fehling, W. D. Hardt, G. Shakhar, and S. Jung. 2009. Intestinal lamina propria dendritic cell subsets have different origin and functions. Immunity. 31:502-512.

- 73. Maloy, K. J. and F. Powrie. 2011. Intestinal homeostasis and its breakdown in inflammatory bowel disease. Nature 474:298-306.
- 74. Shibata, N. and C. K. Glass. 2009. Regulation of macrophage function in inflammation and atherosclerosis. J. Lipid Res. 50 Suppl:S277-S281.
- 75. Galkina, E. and K. Ley. 2009. Immune and inflammatory mechanisms of atherosclerosis. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27:165-197.
- Johnson, J. L. and A. C. Newby. 2009. Macrophage heterogeneity in atherosclerotic plaques. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 20:370-378.
- Hagemann, T., T. Lawrence, I. McNeish, K. A. Charles, H. Kulbe, R. G. Thompson, S. C. Robinson, and F. R. Balkwill. 2008. "Re-educating" tumor-associated macrophages by targeting NF-kappaB. J. Exp. Med. 205:1261-1268.
- Rutschman, R., R. Lang, M. Hesse, J. N. Ihle, T. A. Wynn, and P. J. Murray. 2001. Cutting edge: Stat6-dependent substrate depletion regulates nitric oxide production. J. Immunol. 166:2173-2177.
- 79. Kawanishi, N., H. Yano, Y. Yokogawa, and K. Suzuki. 2010. Exercise training inhibits inflammation in adipose tissue via both suppression of macrophage infiltration and acceleration of phenotypic switching from M1 to M2 macrophages in high-fat-diet-induced obese mice. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 16:105-118.
- 80. Mylonas, K. J., M. G. Nair, L. Prieto-Lafuente, D. Paape, and J. E. Allen. 2009. Alternatively activated macrophages elicited by helminth infection can be reprogrammed to enable microbial killing. J. Immunol. 182:3084-3094.
- Stout, R. D., C. Jiang, B. Matta, I. Tietzel, S. K. Watkins, and J. Suttles. 2005. Macrophages sequentially change their functional phenotype in response to changes in microenvironmental influences. J. Immunol. 175:342-349.
- 82. Stout, R. D. and J. Suttles. 2004. Functional plasticity of macrophages: reversible adaptation to changing microenvironments. J. Leukoc. Biol. 76:509-513.
- Gordon, S. 2003. Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3:23-35.
- 84. Gordon, S. and P. R. Taylor. 2005. Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 5:953-964.
- 85. Mantovani, A., C. Garlanda, and M. Locati. 2009. Macrophage diversity and polarization in atherosclerosis: a question of balance. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 29:1419-1423.
- 86. Pesce, J. T., T. R. Ramalingam, M. M. Mentink-Kane, M. S. Wilson, K. C. El Kasmi, A. M. Smith, R. W. Thompson, A. W. Cheever, P. J. Murray, and T. A. Wynn. 2009.

Arginase-1-expressing macrophages suppress Th2 cytokine-driven inflammation and fibrosis. PLoS. Pathog. 5:e1000371.

- 87. Martinez, F. O., S. Gordon, M. Locati, and A. Mantovani. 2006. Transcriptional profiling of the human monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and polarization: new molecules and patterns of gene expression. J. Immunol. 177:7303-7311.
- Bouhlel, M. A., B. Derudas, E. Rigamonti, R. Dievart, J. Brozek, S. Haulon, C. Zawadzki, B. Jude, G. Torpier, N. Marx, B. Staels, and G. Chinetti-Gbaguidi. 2007. PPARgamma activation primes human monocytes into alternative M2 macrophages with anti-inflammatory properties. Cell Metab 6:137-143.
- 89. Takano, H. and I. Komuro. 2009. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and cardiovascular diseases. Circ. J. 73:214-220.
- 90. Chinetti, G., S. Lestavel, V. Bocher, A. T. Remaley, B. Neve, I. P. Torra, E. Teissier, A. Minnich, M. Jaye, N. Duverger, H. B. Brewer, J. C. Fruchart, V. Clavey, and B. Staels. 2001. PPAR-alpha and PPAR-gamma activators induce cholesterol removal from human macrophage foam cells through stimulation of the ABCA1 pathway. Nat. Med. 7:53-58.
- Li, A. C., C. J. Binder, A. Gutierrez, K. K. Brown, C. R. Plotkin, J. W. Pattison, A. F. Valledor, R. A. Davis, T. M. Willson, J. L. Witztum, W. Palinski, and C. K. Glass. 2004. Differential inhibition of macrophage foam-cell formation and atherosclerosis in mice by PPARalpha, beta/delta, and gamma. J. Clin. Invest 114:1564-1576.
- Moore, K. J., E. D. Rosen, M. L. Fitzgerald, F. Randow, L. P. Andersson, D. Altshuler, D. S. Milstone, R. M. Mortensen, B. M. Spiegelman, and M. W. Freeman. 2001. The role of PPAR-gamma in macrophage differentiation and cholesterol uptake. Nat. Med. 7:41-47.
- 93. Gerrity, R. G. 1981. The role of the monocyte in atherogenesis: I. Transition of blood-borne monocytes into foam cells in fatty lesions. Am. J. Pathol. 103:181-190.
- 94. Galkina, E., A. Kadl, J. Sanders, D. Varughese, I. J. Sarembock, and K. Ley. 2006. Lymphocyte recruitment into the aortic wall before and during development of atherosclerosis is partially L-selectin dependent. J. Exp. Med. 203:1273-1282.
- 95. Wiktor-Jedrzejczak, W. and S. Gordon. 1996. Cytokine regulation of the macrophage (M phi) system studied using the colony stimulating factor-1-deficient op/op mouse. Physiol Rev. 76:927-947.
- Waldo, S. W., Y. Li, C. Buono, B. Zhao, E. M. Billings, J. Chang, and H. S. Kruth. 2008. Heterogeneity of human macrophages in culture and in atherosclerotic plaques. Am. J. Pathol. 172:1112-1126.
- 97. Martin-Fuentes, P., F. Civeira, D. Recalde, A. L. Garcia-Otin, E. Jarauta, I. Marzo, and A. Cenarro. 2007. Individual variation of scavenger receptor expression in

human macrophages with oxidized low-density lipoprotein is associated with a differential inflammatory response. J. Immunol. 179:3242-3248.

- 98. Geissmann, F., M. G. Manz, S. Jung, M. H. Sieweke, M. Merad, and K. Ley. 2010. Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. Science 327:656-661.
- 99. Kadl, A., A. K. Meher, P. R. Sharma, M. Y. Lee, A. C. Doran, S. R. Johnstone, M. R. Elliott, F. Gruber, J. Han, W. Chen, T. Kensler, K. S. Ravichandran, B. E. Isakson, B. R. Wamhoff, and N. Leitinger. 2010. Identification of a novel macrophage phenotype that develops in response to atherogenic phospholipids via Nrf2. Circ. Res. 107:737-746.
- Khallou-Laschet, J., A. Varthaman, G. Fornasa, C. Compain, A. T. Gaston, M. Clement, M. Dussiot, O. Levillain, S. Graff-Dubois, A. Nicoletti, and G. Caligiuri. 2010. Macrophage plasticity in experimental atherosclerosis. PLoS. One. 5:e8852.
- 101. Mantovani, A., A. Sica, S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, A. Vecchi, and M. Locati. 2004. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. Trends Immunol. 25:677-686.
- Maxfield, F. R. and D. Wustner. 2002. Intracellular cholesterol transport. J. Clin. Invest 110:891-898.
- 103. Jerome, W. G. 2006. Advanced atherosclerotic foam cell formation has features of an acquired lysosomal storage disorder. Rejuvenation. Res. 9:245-255.
- Maxfield, F. R. and I. Tabas. 2005. Role of cholesterol and lipid organization in disease. Nature 438:612-621.
- 105. Tabas, I. 2002. Consequences of cellular cholesterol accumulation: basic concepts and physiological implications. J. Clin. Invest 110:905-911.
- Tabas, I. 1997. Free cholesterol-induced cytotoxicity a possible contributing factor to macrophage foam cell necrosis in advanced atherosclerotic lesions. Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 7:256-263.
- 107. Brown, M. S. and J. L. Goldstein. 1986. A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis. Science 232:34-47.
- Brown, M. S. and J. L. Goldstein. 1985. Scavenger cell receptor shared. Nature 316:680-681.
- 109. Daugherty, A., D. L. Rateri, and H. Lu. 2008. As macrophages indulge, atherosclerotic lesions bulge. Circ. Res. 102:1445-1447.
- Werb, Z. and Z. A. Cohn. 1972. Cholesterol metabolism in the macrophage. 3. Ingestion and intracellular fate of cholesterol and cholesterol esters. J. Exp. Med. 135:21-44.

- Brown, M. S. and J. L. Goldstein. 1997. The SREBP pathway: regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor. Cell 89:331-340.
- 112. Brown, M. S., Y. K. Ho, and J. L. Goldstein. 1980. The cholesteryl ester cycle in macrophage foam cells. Continual hydrolysis and re-esterification of cytoplasmic cholesteryl esters. J. Biol. Chem. 255:9344-9352.
- 113. Vainio, S. and E. Ikonen. 2003. Macrophage cholesterol transport: a critical player in foam cell formation. Ann. Med. 35:146-155.
- 114. van, M. G. 2001. Caveolin, cholesterol, and lipid droplets? J. Cell Biol. 152:F29-F34.
- 115. Becker, L., S. A. Gharib, A. D. Irwin, E. Wijsman, T. Vaisar, J. F. Oram, and J. W. Heinecke. 2010. A macrophage sterol-responsive network linked to atherogenesis. Cell Metab 11:125-135.
- 116. Hegyi, L., S. J. Hardwick, R. C. Siow, and J. N. Skepper. 2001. Macrophage death and the role of apoptosis in human atherosclerosis. J. Hematother. Stem Cell Res. 10:27-42.
- 117. Tabas, I. 2005. Consequences and therapeutic implications of macrophage apoptosis in atherosclerosis: the importance of lesion stage and phagocytic efficiency. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25:2255-2264.
- 118. Bobryshev, Y. V., R. S. Lord, N. K. Golovanova, E. V. Gracheva, N. D. Zvezdina, and N. V. Prokazova. 2001. Phenotype determination of anti-GM3 positive cells in atherosclerotic lesions of the human aorta. Hypothetical role of ganglioside GM3 in foam cell formation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1535:87-99.
- 119. Lusa, S., T. S. Blom, E. L. Eskelinen, E. Kuismanen, J. E. Mansson, K. Simons, and E. Ikonen. 2001. Depletion of rafts in late endocytic membranes is controlled by NPC1-dependent recycling of cholesterol to the plasma membrane. J. Cell Sci. 114:1893-1900.
- Chen, W., Y. Sun, C. Welch, A. Gorelik, A. R. Leventhal, I. Tabas, and A. R. Tall. 2001. Preferential ATP-binding cassette transporter A1-mediated cholesterol efflux from late endosomes/lysosomes. J. Biol. Chem. 276:43564-43569.
- 121. Tall, A. R., L. Yvan-Charvet, N. Terasaka, T. Pagler, and N. Wang. 2008. HDL, ABC transporters, and cholesterol efflux: implications for the treatment of atherosclerosis. Cell Metab 7:365-375.
- 122. Rothblat, G. H. and M. C. Phillips. 2010. High-density lipoprotein heterogeneity and function in reverse cholesterol transport. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 21:229-238.

- Schmitz, G., G. Assmann, B. Brennhausen, and H. J. Schaefer. 1987. Interaction of Tangier lipoproteins with cholesteryl ester-laden mouse peritoneal macrophages. J. Lipid Res. 28:87-99.
- 124. Siegel-Axel, D., K. Daub, P. Seizer, S. Lindemann, and M. Gawaz. 2008. Platelet lipoprotein interplay: trigger of foam cell formation and driver of atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc. Res. 78:8-17.
- 125. Kolodgie, F. D., H. K. Gold, A. P. Burke, D. R. Fowler, H. S. Kruth, D. K. Weber, A. Farb, L. J. Guerrero, M. Hayase, R. Kutys, J. Narula, A. V. Finn, and R. Virmani. 2003. Intraplaque hemorrhage and progression of coronary atheroma. N. Engl. J. Med. 349:2316-2325.
- 126. CHANDLER, A. B. and R. A. HAND. 1961. Phagocytized platelets: a source of lipids in human thrombi and atherosclerotic plaques. Science 134:946-947.
- Poole, J. C. 1966. Phagocytosis of platelets by monocytes in organizing arterial thrombi. An electron microscopical study. Q. J. Exp. Physiol Cogn Med. Sci. 51:54-59.
- 128. De Meyer, G. R., D. M. De Cleen, S. Cooper, M. W. Knaapen, D. M. Jans, W. Martinet, A. G. Herman, H. Bult, and M. M. Kockx. 2002. Platelet phagocytosis and processing of beta-amyloid precursor protein as a mechanism of macrophage activation in atherosclerosis. Circ. Res. 90:1197-1204.
- 129. Brown, S. B., M. C. Clarke, L. Magowan, H. Sanderson, and J. Savill. 2000. Constitutive death of platelets leading to scavenger receptor-mediated phagocytosis. A caspase-independent cell clearance program. J. Biol. Chem. 275:5987-5996.
- 130. Seizer, P., S. Schiemann, T. Merz, K. Daub, B. Bigalke, K. Stellos, I. Muller, C. Stockle, K. Muller, M. Gawaz, and A. E. May. 2010. CD36 and macrophage scavenger receptor a modulate foam cell formation via inhibition of lipid-laden platelet phagocytosis. Semin. Thromb. Hemost. 36:157-162.
- 131. Daub, K., H. Langer, P. Seizer, K. Stellos, A. E. May, P. Goyal, B. Bigalke, T. Schonberger, T. Geisler, D. Siegel-Axel, R. A. Oostendorp, S. Lindemann, and M. Gawaz. 2006. Platelets induce differentiation of human CD34+ progenitor cells into foam cells and endothelial cells. FASEB J. 20:2559-2561.
- 132. Howlett, G. J. and K. J. Moore. 2006. Untangling the role of amyloid in atherosclerosis. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 17:541-547.
- 133. Stewart, C. R., A. A. Tseng, Y. F. Mok, M. K. Staples, C. H. Schiesser, L. J. Lawrence, J. N. Varghese, K. J. Moore, and G. J. Howlett. 2005. Oxidation of low-density lipoproteins induces amyloid-like structures that are recognized by macrophages. Biochemistry 44:9108-9116.

- 134. Iwashima, Y., M. Eto, A. Hata, K. Kaku, S. Horiuchi, F. Ushikubi, and H. Sano. 2000. Advanced glycation end products-induced gene expression of scavenger receptors in cultured human monocyte-derived macrophages. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 277:368-380.
- Webb, N. R. and K. J. Moore. 2007. Macrophage-derived foam cells in atherosclerosis: lessons from murine models and implications for therapy. Curr. Drug Targets. 8:1249-1263.
- 136. Boullier, A., K. L. Gillotte, S. Horkko, S. R. Green, P. Friedman, E. A. Dennis, J. L. Witztum, D. Steinberg, and O. Quehenberger. 2000. The binding of oxidized low density lipoprotein to mouse CD36 is mediated in part by oxidized phospholipids that are associated with both the lipid and protein moieties of the lipoprotein. J. Biol. Chem. 275:9163-9169.
- 137. Podrez, E. A., E. Poliakov, Z. Shen, R. Zhang, Y. Deng, M. Sun, P. J. Finton, L. Shan, B. Gugiu, P. L. Fox, H. F. Hoff, R. G. Salomon, and S. L. Hazen. 2002. Identification of a novel family of oxidized phospholipids that serve as ligands for the macrophage scavenger receptor CD36. J. Biol. Chem. 277:38503-38516.
- 138. Podrez, E. A., E. Poliakov, Z. Shen, R. Zhang, Y. Deng, M. Sun, P. J. Finton, L. Shan, M. Febbraio, D. P. Hajjar, R. L. Silverstein, H. F. Hoff, R. G. Salomon, and S. L. Hazen. 2002. A novel family of atherogenic oxidized phospholipids promotes macrophage foam cell formation via the scavenger receptor CD36 and is enriched in atherosclerotic lesions. J. Biol. Chem. 277:38517-38523.
- 139. Watson, A. D., N. Leitinger, M. Navab, K. F. Faull, S. Horkko, J. L. Witztum, W. Palinski, D. Schwenke, R. G. Salomon, W. Sha, G. Subbanagounder, A. M. Fogelman, and J. A. Berliner. 1997. Structural identification by mass spectrometry of oxidized phospholipids in minimally oxidized low density lipoprotein that induce monocyte/endothelial interactions and evidence for their presence in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 272:13597-13607.
- 140. Moore, K. J. and M. W. Freeman. 2006. Scavenger receptors in atherosclerosis: beyond lipid uptake. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26:1702-1711.
- 141. Platt, N. and S. Gordon. 2001. Is the class A macrophage scavenger receptor (SR-A) multifunctional? The mouse's tale. J. Clin. Invest 108:649-654.
- Kodama, T., P. Reddy, C. Kishimoto, and M. Krieger. 1988. Purification and characterization of a bovine acetyl low density lipoprotein receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 85:9238-9242.
- Kodama, T., M. Freeman, L. Rohrer, J. Zabrecky, P. Matsudaira, and M. Krieger. 1990. Type I macrophage scavenger receptor contains alpha-helical and collagenlike coiled coils. Nature 343:531-535.

- 144. Matsumoto, A., M. Naito, H. Itakura, S. Ikemoto, H. Asaoka, I. Hayakawa, H. Kanamori, H. Aburatani, F. Takaku, H. Suzuki, and . 1990. Human macrophage scavenger receptors: primary structure, expression, and localization in atherosclerotic lesions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 87:9133-9137.
- 145. Emi, M., H. Asaoka, A. Matsumoto, H. Itakura, Y. Kurihara, Y. Wada, H. Kanamori, Y. Yazaki, E. Takahashi, M. Lepert, and . 1993. Structure, organization, and chromosomal mapping of the human macrophage scavenger receptor gene. J. Biol. Chem. 268:2120-2125.
- 146. Gough, P. J., D. R. Greaves, and S. Gordon. 1998. A naturally occurring isoform of the human macrophage scavenger receptor (SR-A) gene generated by alternative splicing blocks modified LDL uptake. J. Lipid Res. 39:531-543.
- Rohrer, L., M. Freeman, T. Kodama, M. Penman, and M. Krieger. 1990. Coiled-coil fibrous domains mediate ligand binding by macrophage scavenger receptor type II. Nature 343:570-572.
- 148. Bowdish, D. M. and S. Gordon. 2009. Conserved domains of the class A scavenger receptors: evolution and function. Immunol. Rev. 227:19-31.
- 149. Jiang, Y., P. Oliver, K. E. Davies, and N. Platt. 2006. Identification and characterization of murine SCARA5, a novel class A scavenger receptor that is expressed by populations of epithelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 281:11834-11845.
- 150. Doi, T., K. Higashino, Y. Kurihara, Y. Wada, T. Miyazaki, H. Nakamura, S. Uesugi, T. Imanishi, Y. Kawabe, H. Itakura, and . 1993. Charged collagen structure mediates the recognition of negatively charged macromolecules by macrophage scavenger receptors 141. J. Biol. Chem. 268:2126-2133.
- Gowen, B. B., T. K. Borg, A. Ghaffar, and E. P. Mayer. 2001. The collagenous domain of class A scavenger receptors is involved in macrophage adhesion to collagens. J. Leukoc. Biol. 69:575-582.
- 152. Resnick, D., J. E. Chatterton, K. Schwartz, H. Slayter, and M. Krieger. 1996. Structures of class A macrophage scavenger receptors. Electron microscopic study of flexible, multidomain, fibrous proteins and determination of the disulfide bond pattern of the scavenger receptor cysteine-rich domain. J. Biol. Chem. 271:26924-26930.
- 153. Doi, T., M. Kurasawa, K. Higashino, T. Imanishi, T. Mori, M. Naito, K. Takahashi, Y. Kawabe, Y. Wada, A. Matsumoto, and . 1994. The histidine interruption of an alpha-helical coiled coil allosterically mediates a pH-dependent ligand dissociation from macrophage scavenger receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 269:25598-25604.

- 154. Suzuki, K., T. Doi, T. Imanishi, T. Kodama, and T. Tanaka. 1997. The conformation of the alpha-helical coiled coil domain of macrophage scavenger receptor is pH dependent. Biochemistry 36:15140-15146.
- 155. Fraser, I., D. Hughes, and S. Gordon. 1993. Divalent cation-independent macrophage adhesion inhibited by monoclonal antibody to murine scavenger receptor. Nature 364:343-346.
- 156. Naito, M., H. Suzuki, T. Mori, A. Matsumoto, T. Kodama, and K. Takahashi. 1992. Coexpression of type I and type II human macrophage scavenger receptors in macrophages of various organs and foam cells in atherosclerotic lesions. Am. J. Pathol. 141:591-599.
- Daugherty, A., J. A. Cornicelli, K. Welch, S. M. Sendobry, and D. L. Rateri. 1997. Scavenger receptors are present on rabbit aortic endothelial cells in vivo. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 17:2369-2375.
- 158. Geng, Y., T. Kodama, and G. K. Hansson. 1994. Differential expression of scavenger receptor isoforms during monocyte-macrophage differentiation and foam cell formation. Arterioscler. Thromb. 14:798-806.
- Kim, J. G., C. Keshava, A. A. Murphy, R. E. Pitas, and S. Parthasarathy. 1997. Fresh mouse peritoneal macrophages have low scavenger receptor activity. J. Lipid Res. 38:2207-2215.
- 160. Hiltunen, T. P., J. S. Luoma, T. Nikkari, and S. Yla-Herttuala. 1998. Expression of LDL receptor, VLDL receptor, LDL receptor-related protein, and scavenger receptor in rabbit atherosclerotic lesions: marked induction of scavenger receptor and VLDL receptor expression during lesion development. Circulation 97:1079-1086.
- 161. Gough, P. J., D. R. Greaves, H. Suzuki, T. Hakkinen, M. O. Hiltunen, M. Turunen, S. Y. Herttuala, T. Kodama, and S. Gordon. 1999. Analysis of macrophage scavenger receptor (SR-A) expression in human aortic atherosclerotic lesions. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 19:461-471.
- Li, H., M. W. Freeman, and P. Libby. 1995. Regulation of smooth muscle cell scavenger receptor expression in vivo by atherogenic diets and in vitro by cytokines. J. Clin. Invest 95:122-133.
- 163. Friedman, G., A. Ben-Yehuda, Y. Dabach, M. Ben-Naim, G. Hollander, O. Retter, Y. Friedlander, O. Stein, and Y. Stein. 1997. Scavenger receptor activity and expression of apolipoprotein E mRNA in monocyte-derived macrophages of young and old healthy men. Atherosclerosis 128:67-73.
- 164. Nakayama, M., T. Kudoh, K. Kaikita, M. Yoshimura, S. Oshima, Y. Miyamoto, M. Takeya, and H. Ogawa. 2008. Class A macrophage scavenger receptor gene expression levels in peripheral blood mononuclear cells specifically increase in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Atherosclerosis 198:426-433.

- 165. de Villiers, W. J., I. P. Fraser, D. A. Hughes, A. G. Doyle, and S. Gordon. 1994. Macrophage-colony-stimulating factor selectively enhances macrophage scavenger receptor expression and function. J. Exp. Med. 180:705-709.
- 166. Guidez, F., A. C. Li, A. Horvai, J. S. Welch, and C. K. Glass. 1998. Differential utilization of Ras signaling pathways by macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF) and granulocyte-macrophage CSF receptors during macrophage differentiation. Mol. Cell Biol. 18:3851-3861.
- 167. Han, J. and A. C. Nicholson. 1998. Lipoproteins modulate expression of the macrophage scavenger receptor. Am. J. Pathol. 152:1647-1654.
- 168. Yoshida, H., O. Quehenberger, N. Kondratenko, S. Green, and D. Steinberg. 1998. Minimally oxidized low-density lipoprotein increases expression of scavenger receptor A, CD36, and macrosialin in resident mouse peritoneal macrophages. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 18:794-802.
- Via, D. P., L. Pons, D. K. Dennison, A. E. Fanslow, and F. Bernini. 1989. Induction of acetyl-LDL receptor activity by phorbol ester in human monocyte cell line THP-1. J. Lipid Res. 30:1515-1524.
- 170. Cutolo, M., G. Carruba, B. Villaggio, D. A. Coviello, J. M. Dayer, I. Campisi, M. Miele, R. Stefano, and L. A. Castagnetta. 2001. Phorbol diester 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol 13-acetate (TPA) up-regulates the expression of estrogen receptors in human THP-1 leukemia cells. J. Cell Biochem. 83:390-400.
- 171. Sakamoto, H., M. Aikawa, C. C. Hill, D. Weiss, W. R. Taylor, P. Libby, and R. T. Lee. 2001. Biomechanical strain induces class a scavenger receptor expression in human monocyte/macrophages and THP-1 cells: a potential mechanism of increased atherosclerosis in hypertension. Circulation 104:109-114.
- 172. van Lenten, B. J. and A. M. Fogelman. 1992. Lipopolysaccharide-induced inhibition of scavenger receptor expression in human monocyte-macrophages is mediated through tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J. Immunol. 148:112-116.
- 173. Hsu, H. Y., D. P. Hajjar, K. M. Khan, and D. J. Falcone. 1998. Ligand binding to macrophage scavenger receptor-A induces urokinase-type plasminogen activator expression by a protein kinase-dependent signaling pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 273:1240-1246.
- 174. Bottalico, L. A., R. E. Wager, L. B. Agellon, R. K. Assoian, and I. Tabas. 1991. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 inhibits scavenger receptor activity in THP-1 human macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 266:22866-22871.
- 175. van der Kooij, M. A., O. H. Morand, H. J. Kempen, and T. J. Van Berkel. 1996. Decrease in scavenger receptor expression in human monocyte-derived macrophages treated with granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 16:106-114.

- Geng, Y. J. and G. K. Hansson. 1992. Interferon-gamma inhibits scavenger receptor expression and foam cell formation in human monocyte-derived macrophages. J. Clin. Invest 89:1322-1330.
- 177. Fong, L. G., T. S. Albert, and S. E. Hom. 1994. Inhibition of the macrophageinduced oxidation of low density lipoprotein by interferon-gamma. J. Lipid Res. 35:893-904.
- 178. Ricote, M., A. C. Li, T. M. Willson, C. J. Kelly, and C. K. Glass. 1998. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma is a negative regulator of macrophage activation. Nature 391:79-82.
- 179. Fitzgerald, M. L., K. J. Moore, M. W. Freeman, and G. L. Reed. 2000. Lipopolysaccharide induces scavenger receptor A expression in mouse macrophages: a divergent response relative to human THP-1 monocyte/macrophages. J. Immunol. 164:2692-2700.
- 180. Krieger, M. 1992. Molecular flypaper and atherosclerosis: structure of the macrophage scavenger receptor. Trends Biochem. Sci. 17:141-146.
- Brown, M. S. and J. L. Goldstein. 1983. Lipoprotein metabolism in the macrophage: implications for cholesterol deposition in atherosclerosis. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 52:223-261.
- 182. Shechter, I., A. M. Fogelman, M. E. Haberland, J. Seager, M. Hokom, and P. A. Edwards. 1981. The metabolism of native and malondialdehyde-altered low density lipoproteins by human monocyte-macrophages. J. Lipid Res. 22:63-71.
- 183. Fogelman, A. M., I. Shechter, J. Seager, M. Hokom, J. S. Child, and P. A. Edwards. 1980. Malondialdehyde alteration of low density lipoproteins leads to cholesteryl ester accumulation in human monocyte-macrophages. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 77:2214-2218.
- 184. Neyen, C., A. Pluddemann, P. Roversi, B. Thomas, L. Cai, D. R. van der Westhuyzen, R. B. Sim, and S. Gordon. 2009. Macrophage scavenger receptor A mediates adhesion to apolipoproteins A-I and E. Biochemistry 48:11858-11871.
- Daugherty, A. 2000. Atherosclerosis: cell biology and lipoproteins. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 11:335-337.
- 186. Pluddemann, A., C. Neyen, and S. Gordon. 2007. Macrophage scavenger receptors and host-derived ligands. Methods 43:207-217.
- 187. Gillotte, K. L., S. Horkko, J. L. Witztum, and D. Steinberg. 2000. Oxidized phospholipids, linked to apolipoprotein B of oxidized LDL, are ligands for macrophage scavenger receptors. J. Lipid Res. 41:824-833.

- 188. Bowdish, D. M. and S. Gordon. 2009. Conserved domains of the class A scavenger receptors: evolution and function. Immunol. Rev. 227:19-31.
- 189. Brown, M. S., S. K. Basu, J. R. Falck, Y. K. Ho, and J. L. Goldstein. 1980. The scavenger cell pathway for lipoprotein degradation: specificity of the binding site that mediates the uptake of negatively-charged LDL by macrophages. J. Supramol. Struct. 13:67-81.
- 190. Chen, Y., X. Wang, J. Ben, S. Yue, H. Bai, X. Guan, X. Bai, L. Jiang, Y. Ji, L. Fan, and Q. Chen. 2006. The di-leucine motif contributes to class a scavenger receptormediated internalization of acetylated lipoproteins. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26:1317-1322.
- 191. Penman, M., A. Lux, N. J. Freedman, L. Rohrer, Y. Ekkel, H. McKinstry, D. Resnick, and M. Krieger. 1991. The type I and type II bovine scavenger receptors expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells are trimeric proteins with collagenous triple helical domains comprising noncovalently associated monomers and Cys83-disulfide-linked dimers. J. Biol. Chem. 266:23985-23993.
- 192. Goldstein, J. L., R. G. Anderson, and M. S. Brown. 1979. Coated pits, coated vesicles, and receptor-mediated endocytosis. Nature 279:679-685.
- 193. Goldstein, J. L., Y. K. Ho, S. K. Basu, and M. S. Brown. 1979. Binding site on macrophages that mediates uptake and degradation of acetylated low density lipoprotein, producing massive cholesterol deposition. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 76:333-337.
- 194. Goldstein, J. L., M. S. Brown, R. G. Anderson, D. W. Russell, and W. J. Schneider. 1985. Receptor-mediated endocytosis: concepts emerging from the LDL receptor system. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 1:1-39.
- 195. Mori, T., K. Takahashi, M. Naito, T. Kodama, H. Hakamata, M. Sakai, A. Miyazaki, S. Horiuchi, and M. Ando. 1994. Endocytic pathway of scavenger receptors via trans-Golgi system in bovine alveolar macrophages. Lab Invest 71:409-416.
- 196. Morimoto, K., Y. Wada, J. Hinagata, T. Imanishi, T. Kodama, and T. Doi. 1999. VXFD in the cytoplasmic domain of macrophage scavenger receptors mediates their efficient internalization and cell-surface expression. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 22:1022-1026.
- 197. Fong, L. G. 1996. Modulation of macrophage scavenger receptor transport by protein phosphorylation. J. Lipid Res. 37:574-587.
- Fong, L. G. and D. Le. 1999. The processing of ligands by the class A scavenger receptor is dependent on signal information located in the cytoplasmic domain. J. Biol. Chem. 274:36808-36816.

- Murphy, J. E., P. R. Tedbury, S. Homer-Vanniasinkam, J. H. Walker, and S. Ponnambalam. 2005. Biochemistry and cell biology of mammalian scavenger receptors. Atherosclerosis 182:1-15.
- Pollaud-Cherion, C., J. Vandaele, F. Quartulli, M. H. Seguelas, J. Decerprit, and B. Pipy. 1998. Involvement of calcium and arachidonate metabolism in acetylated-lowdensity-lipoprotein-stimulated tumor-necrosis-factor-alpha production by rat peritoneal macrophages. Eur. J. Biochem. 253:345-353.
- 201. Matsumura, T., M. Sakai, S. Kobori, T. Biwa, T. Takemura, H. Matsuda, H. Hakamata, S. Horiuchi, and M. Shichiri. 1997. Two intracellular signaling pathways for activation of protein kinase C are involved in oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced macrophage growth. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 17:3013-3020.
- 202. Whitman, S. C., A. Daugherty, and S. R. Post. 2000. Macrophage colony-stimulating factor rapidly enhances beta-migrating very low density lipoprotein metabolism in macrophages through activation of a Gi/o protein signaling pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 275:35807-35813.
- 203. Whitman, S. C., A. Daugherty, and S. R. Post. 2000. Regulation of acetylated low density lipoprotein uptake in macrophages by pertussis toxin-sensitive G proteins. J. Lipid Res. 41:807-813.
- 204. Ricci, R., G. Sumara, I. Sumara, I. Rozenberg, M. Kurrer, A. Akhmedov, M. Hersberger, U. Eriksson, F. R. Eberli, B. Becher, J. Boren, M. Chen, M. I. Cybulsky, K. J. Moore, M. W. Freeman, E. F. Wagner, C. M. Matter, and T. F. Luscher. 2004. Requirement of JNK2 for scavenger receptor A-mediated foam cell formation in atherogenesis. Science 306:1558-1561.
- 205. Hsu, H. Y., S. L. Chiu, M. H. Wen, K. Y. Chen, and K. F. Hua. 2001. Ligands of macrophage scavenger receptor induce cytokine expression via differential modulation of protein kinase signaling pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 276:28719-28730.
- 206. Nakamura, T., H. Suzuki, Y. Wada, T. Kodama, and T. Doi. 2006. Fucoidan induces nitric oxide production via p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and NF-kappaBdependent signaling pathways through macrophage scavenger receptors. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 343:286-294.
- 207. Moulton, K. S., K. Semple, H. Wu, and C. K. Glass. 1994. Cell-specific expression of the macrophage scavenger receptor gene is dependent on PU.1 and a composite AP-1/ets motif. Mol. Cell Biol. 14:4408-4418.
- 208. Horvai, A., W. Palinski, H. Wu, K. S. Moulton, K. Kalla, and C. K. Glass. 1995. Scavenger receptor A gene regulatory elements target gene expression to macrophages and to foam cells of atherosclerotic lesions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 92:5391-5395.

- 209. Bortner, D. M., M. Ulivi, M. F. Roussel, and M. C. Ostrowski. 1991. The carboxyterminal catalytic domain of the GTPase-activating protein inhibits nuclear signal transduction and morphological transformation mediated by the CSF-1 receptor. Genes Dev. 5:1777-1785.
- 210. Imamura, K., A. Dianoux, T. Nakamura, and D. Kufe. 1990. Colony-stimulating factor 1 activates protein kinase C in human monocytes. EMBO J. 9:2423-8, 2389.
- Reddy, M. A., S. J. Langer, M. S. Colman, and M. C. Ostrowski. 1992. An enhancer element responsive to ras and fms signaling pathways is composed of two distinct nuclear factor binding sites. Mol. Endocrinol. 6:1051-1060.
- 212. Roberts, W. M., L. H. Shapiro, R. A. Ashmun, and A. T. Look. 1992. Transcription of the human colony-stimulating factor-1 receptor gene is regulated by separate tissue-specific promoters. Blood 79:586-593.
- 213. Suzuki, H., Y. Kurihara, M. Takeya, N. Kamada, M. Kataoka, K. Jishage, O. Ueda, H. Sakaguchi, T. Higashi, T. Suzuki, Y. Takashima, Y. Kawabe, O. Cynshi, Y. Wada, M. Honda, H. Kurihara, H. Aburatani, T. Doi, A. Matsumoto, S. Azuma, T. Noda, Y. Toyoda, H. Itakura, Y. Yazaki, T. Kodama, and . 1997. A role for macrophage scavenger receptors in atherosclerosis and susceptibility to infection. Nature 386:292-296.
- 214. Kunjathoor, V. V., M. Febbraio, E. A. Podrez, K. J. Moore, L. Andersson, S. Koehn, J. S. Rhee, R. Silverstein, H. F. Hoff, and M. W. Freeman. 2002. Scavenger receptors class A-I/II and CD36 are the principal receptors responsible for the uptake of modified low density lipoprotein leading to lipid loading in macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 277:49982-49988.
- 215. Dunne, D. W., D. Resnick, J. Greenberg, M. Krieger, and K. A. Joiner. 1994. The type I macrophage scavenger receptor binds to gram-positive bacteria and recognizes lipoteichoic acid. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 91:1863-1867.
- Hampton, R. Y., D. T. Golenbock, M. Penman, M. Krieger, and C. R. Raetz. 1991. Recognition and plasma clearance of endotoxin by scavenger receptors. Nature 352:342-344.
- 217. Haworth, R., N. Platt, S. Keshav, D. Hughes, E. Darley, H. Suzuki, Y. Kurihara, T. Kodama, and S. Gordon. 1997. The macrophage scavenger receptor type A is expressed by activated macrophages and protects the host against lethal endotoxic shock. J. Exp. Med. 186:1431-1439.
- 218. Post, S. R., C. Gass, S. Rice, D. Nikolic, H. Crump, and G. R. Post. 2002. Class A scavenger receptors mediate cell adhesion via activation of G(i/o) and formation of focal adhesion complexes. J. Lipid Res. 43:1829-1836.

- 219. Nikolic, D. M., J. Cholewa, C. Gass, M. C. Gong, and S. R. Post. 2007. Class A scavenger receptor-mediated cell adhesion requires the sequential activation of Lyn and PI3-kinase. Am. J. Physiol Cell Physiol 292:C1450-C1458.
- 220. Nikolic, D. M., M. C. Gong, J. Turk, and S. R. Post. 2007. Class A scavenger receptor-mediated macrophage adhesion requires coupling of calcium-independent phospholipase A(2) and 12/15-lipoxygenase to Rac and Cdc42 activation. J. Biol. Chem. 282:33405-33411.
- 221. vries-Seimon, T., Y. Li, P. M. Yao, E. Stone, Y. Wang, R. J. Davis, R. Flavell, and I. Tabas. 2005. Cholesterol-induced macrophage apoptosis requires ER stress pathways and engagement of the type A scavenger receptor. J. Cell Biol. 171:61-73.
- 222. Manning-Tobin, J. J., K. J. Moore, T. A. Seimon, S. A. Bell, M. Sharuk, J. I. varez-Leite, M. P. de Winther, I. Tabas, and M. W. Freeman. 2009. Loss of SR-A and CD36 activity reduces atherosclerotic lesion complexity without abrogating foam cell formation in hyperlipidemic mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 29:19-26.
- Harshyne, L. A., M. I. Zimmer, S. C. Watkins, and S. M. Barratt-Boyes. 2003. A role for class A scavenger receptor in dendritic cell nibbling from live cells. J. Immunol. 170:2302-2309.
- 224. Sakaguchi, H., M. Takeya, H. Suzuki, H. Hakamata, T. Kodama, S. Horiuchi, S. Gordon, L. J. van der Laan, G. Kraal, S. Ishibashi, N. Kitamura, and K. Takahashi. 1998. Role of macrophage scavenger receptors in diet-induced atherosclerosis in mice. Lab Invest 78:423-434.
- 225. de Winther, M. P., M. J. Gijbels, K. W. van Dijk, P. J. van Gorp, H. Suzuki, T. Kodama, R. R. Frants, L. M. Havekes, and M. H. Hofker. 1999. Scavenger receptor deficiency leads to more complex atherosclerotic lesions in APOE3Leiden transgenic mice. Atherosclerosis 144:315-321.
- 226. Babaev, V. R., L. A. Gleaves, K. J. Carter, H. Suzuki, T. Kodama, S. Fazio, and M. F. Linton. 2000. Reduced atherosclerotic lesions in mice deficient for total or macrophage-specific expression of scavenger receptor-A. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20:2593-2599.
- 227. Moore, K. J., V. V. Kunjathoor, S. L. Koehn, J. J. Manning, A. A. Tseng, J. M. Silver, M. McKee, and M. W. Freeman. 2005. Loss of receptor-mediated lipid uptake via scavenger receptor A or CD36 pathways does not ameliorate atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic mice. J. Clin. Invest 115:2192-2201.
- 228. Kuchibhotla, S., D. Vanegas, D. J. Kennedy, E. Guy, G. Nimako, R. E. Morton, and M. Febbraio. 2008. Absence of CD36 protects against atherosclerosis in ApoE knock-out mice with no additional protection provided by absence of scavenger receptor A I/II. Cardiovasc. Res. 78:185-196.

- 229. Van, E. M., M. P. de Winther, N. Herijgers, L. M. Havekes, M. H. Hofker, P. H. Groot, and T. J. Van Berkel. 2000. Effect of human scavenger receptor class A overexpression in bone marrow-derived cells on cholesterol levels and atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20:2600-2606.
- 230. Herijgers, N., E. M. Van, S. J. Korporaal, P. M. Hoogerbrugge, and T. J. Van Berkel. 2000. Relative importance of the LDL receptor and scavenger receptor class B in the beta-VLDL-induced uptake and accumulation of cholesteryl esters by peritoneal macrophages. J. Lipid Res. 41:1163-1171.
- 231. Whitman, S. C., D. L. Rateri, S. J. Szilvassy, J. A. Cornicelli, and A. Daugherty. 2002. Macrophage-specific expression of class A scavenger receptors in LDL receptor(-/-) mice decreases atherosclerosis and changes spleen morphology. J. Lipid Res. 43:1201-1208.
- 232. Babaev, V. R., L. A. Gleaves, K. J. Carter, H. Suzuki, T. Kodama, S. Fazio, and M. F. Linton. 2000. Reduced atherosclerotic lesions in mice deficient for total or macrophage-specific expression of scavenger receptor-A. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20:2593-2599.
- 233. Makinen, P. I., J. P. Lappalainen, S. E. Heinonen, P. Leppanen, M. T. Lahteenvuo, J. V. Aarnio, J. Heikkila, M. P. Turunen, and S. Yla-Herttuala. 2010. Silencing of either SR-A or CD36 reduces atherosclerosis in hyperlipidaemic mice and reveals reciprocal upregulation of these receptors. Cardiovasc. Res. 88:530-538.
- 234. Kruth, H. S., W. Huang, I. Ishii, and W. Y. Zhang. 2002. Macrophage foam cell formation with native low density lipoprotein. J. Biol. Chem. 277:34573-34580.
- 235. Kruth, H. S., N. L. Jones, W. Huang, B. Zhao, I. Ishii, J. Chang, C. A. Combs, D. Malide, and W. Y. Zhang. 2005. Macropinocytosis is the endocytic pathway that mediates macrophage foam cell formation with native low density lipoprotein. J. Biol. Chem. 280:2352-2360.
- Kruth, H. S. 2011. Receptor-independent fluid-phase pinocytosis mechanisms for induction of foam cell formation with native low-density lipoprotein particles. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 22:386-393.
- 237. Reardon, C. A., L. Blachowicz, J. Lukens, M. Nissenbaum, and G. S. Getz. 2003. Genetic background selectively influences innominate artery atherosclerosis: immune system deficiency as a probe. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23:1449-1454.
- 238. Dansky, H. M., S. A. Charlton, J. L. Sikes, S. C. Heath, R. Simantov, L. F. Levin, P. Shu, K. J. Moore, J. L. Breslow, and J. D. Smith. 1999. Genetic background determines the extent of atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 19:1960-1968.

- 239. Friedman, G., A. Ben-Yehuda, Y. Dabach, G. Hollander, S. Babaey, M. Ben-Naim, O. Stein, and Y. Stein. 2000. Macrophage cholesterol metabolism, apolipoprotein E, and scavenger receptor AI/II mRNA in atherosclerosis-susceptible and -resistant mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20:2459-2464.
- 240. Whitman, S. C. 2004. A practical approach to using mice in atherosclerosis research. Clin. Biochem. Rev. 25:81-93.
- 241. Herijgers, N., M. P. de Winther, E. M. Van, L. M. Havekes, M. H. Hofker, P. M. Hoogerbrugge, and T. J. Van Berkel. 2000. Effect of human scavenger receptor class A overexpression in bone marrow-derived cells on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice. J. Lipid Res. 41:1402-1409.
- 242. Zhao, Z., M. C. de Beer, L. Cai, R. Asmis, F. C. de Beer, W. J. de Villiers, and D. R. van der Westhuyzen. 2005. Low-density lipoprotein from apolipoprotein E-deficient mice induces macrophage lipid accumulation in a CD36 and scavenger receptor class A-dependent manner. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25:168-173.
- 243. Zalewski, A. and C. Macphee. 2005. Role of lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 in atherosclerosis: biology, epidemiology, and possible therapeutic target. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25:923-931.
- 244. Engert, J. C., M. Lemire, J. Faith, D. Brisson, T. M. Fujiwara, N. M. Roslin, C. G. Brewer, A. Montpetit, C. rmond-Zwaig, Y. Renaud, C. Dore, S. D. Bailey, A. Verner, G. Tremblay, J. St-Pierre, C. Betard, J. Platko, J. D. Rioux, K. Morgan, T. J. Hudson, and D. Gaudet. 2008. Identification of a chromosome 8p locus for early-onset coronary heart disease in a French Canadian population. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 16:105-114.
- 245. Giry, C., L. M. Giroux, M. Roy, J. Davignon, and A. Minnich. 1996. Characterization of inherited scavenger receptor overexpression and abnormal macrophage phenotype in a normolipidemic subject with planar xanthomas. J. Lipid Res. 37:1422-1435.
- 246. Stephen, S. L., K. Freestone, S. Dunn, M. W. Twigg, S. Homer-Vanniasinkam, J. H. Walker, S. B. Wheatcroft, and S. Ponnambalam. 2010. Scavenger receptors and their potential as therapeutic targets in the treatment of cardiovascular disease. Int. J. Hypertens. 2010:646929.
- Cornicelli, J. A., D. Butteiger, D. L. Rateri, K. Welch, and A. Daugherty. 2000. Interleukin-4 augments acetylated LDL-induced cholesterol esterification in macrophages. J. Lipid Res. 41:376-383.
- 248. McLaren, J. E., D. R. Michael, R. C. Salter, T. G. Ashlin, C. J. Calder, A. M. Miller, F. Y. Liew, and D. P. Ramji. 2010. IL-33 reduces macrophage foam cell formation. J. Immunol. 185:1222-1229.

- 249. Ben, J., S. Gao, X. Zhu, Y. Zheng, Y. Zhuang, H. Bai, Y. Xu, Y. Ji, J. Sha, Z. He, and Q. Chen. 2009. Glucose-regulated protein 78 inhibits scavenger receptor Amediated internalization of acetylated low density lipoprotein. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 47:646-655.
- 250. Wang, X., Y. Zheng, Y. Xu, J. Ben, S. Gao, X. Zhu, Y. Zhuang, S. Yue, H. Bai, Y. Chen, L. Jiang, Y. Ji, Y. Xu, L. Fan, J. Sha, Z. He, and Q. Chen. 2009. A novel peptide binding to the cytoplasmic domain of class A scavenger receptor reduces lipid uptake in THP-1 macrophages. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1791:76-83.
- 251. Liao, D., X. Wang, M. Li, P. H. Lin, Q. Yao, and C. Chen. 2009. Human protein S inhibits the uptake of AcLDL and expression of SR-A through Mer receptor tyrosine kinase in human macrophages. Blood 113:165-174.
- 252. Xu, G., T. Watanabe, Y. Iso, S. Koba, T. Sakai, M. Nagashima, S. Arita, S. Hongo, H. Ota, Y. Kobayashi, A. Miyazaki, and T. Hirano. 2009. Preventive effects of heregulin-beta1 on macrophage foam cell formation and atherosclerosis. Circ. Res. 105:500-510.
- 253. Osto, E., A. Kouroedov, P. Mocharla, A. Akhmedov, C. Besler, L. Rohrer, E. A. von, S. Iliceto, M. Volpe, T. F. Luscher, and F. Cosentino. 2008. Inhibition of protein kinase Cbeta prevents foam cell formation by reducing scavenger receptor A expression in human macrophages. Circulation 118:2174-2182.
- 254. Whitman, S. C., E. M. Kurowska, J. A. Manthey, and A. Daugherty. 2005. Nobiletin, a citrus flavonoid isolated from tangerines, selectively inhibits class A scavenger receptor-mediated metabolism of acetylated LDL by mouse macrophages. Atherosclerosis 178:25-32.
- 255. Lo, Y. H., M. H. Pan, S. Li, J. H. Yen, M. C. Kou, C. T. Ho, and M. J. Wu. 2010. Nobiletin metabolite, 3',4'-dihydroxy-5,6,7,8-tetramethoxyflavone, inhibits LDL oxidation and down-regulates scavenger receptor expression and activity in THP-1 cells. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1801:114-126.
- 256. Napolitano, M., P. C. De, C. Wheeler-Jones, K. M. Botham, and E. Bravo. 2007. Effects of lycopene on the induction of foam cell formation by modified LDL. Am. J. Physiol Endocrinol. Metab 293:E1820-E1827.
- 257. Oh, J., S. Weng, S. K. Felton, S. Bhandare, A. Riek, B. Butler, B. M. Proctor, M. Petty, Z. Chen, K. B. Schechtman, L. Bernal-Mizrachi, and C. Bernal-Mizrachi. 2009. 1,25(OH)2 vitamin d inhibits foam cell formation and suppresses macrophage cholesterol uptake in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Circulation 120:687-698.
- 258. Ouchi, N., S. Kihara, Y. Arita, Y. Okamoto, K. Maeda, H. Kuriyama, K. Hotta, M. Nishida, M. Takahashi, M. Muraguchi, Y. Ohmoto, T. Nakamura, S. Yamashita, T. Funahashi, and Y. Matsuzawa. 2000. Adiponectin, an adipocyte-derived plasma protein, inhibits endothelial NF-kappaB signaling through a cAMP-dependent pathway. Circulation 102:1296-1301.

- 259. Xie, C., J. Kang, J. R. Chen, O. P. Lazarenko, M. E. Ferguson, T. M. Badger, S. Nagarajan, and X. Wu. 2011. Lowbush blueberries inhibit scavenger receptors CD36 and SR-A expression and attenuate foam cell formation in ApoE-deficient mice. Food Funct. 2:588-594.
- Umetani, N., Y. Kanayama, M. Okamura, N. Negoro, and T. Takeda. 1996. Lovastatin inhibits gene expression of type-I scavenger receptor in THP-1 human macrophages. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1303:199-206.
- Sulistiyani and R. W. St Clair. 1997. Effect of 17 beta-estradiol on metabolism of acetylated low-density lipoprotein by THP-1 macrophages in culture. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 17:1691-1700.
- Rayner, K., Y. X. Chen, M. McNulty, T. Simard, X. Zhao, D. J. Wells, B. J. de, and E. R. O'Brien. 2008. Extracellular release of the atheroprotective heat shock protein 27 is mediated by estrogen and competitively inhibits acLDL binding to scavenger receptor-A. Circ. Res. 103:133-141.
- 263. Laukkanen, J., P. Lehtolainen, P. J. Gough, D. R. Greaves, S. Gordon, and S. Yla-Herttuala. 2000. Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of a secreted form of human macrophage scavenger receptor inhibits modified low-density lipoprotein degradation and foam-cell formation in macrophages. Circulation 101:1091-1096.
- 264. Jalkanen, J., P. Leppanen, O. Narvanen, D. R. Greaves, and S. Yla-Herttuala. 2003. Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of a secreted decoy human macrophage scavenger receptor (SR-AI) in LDL receptor knock-out mice. Atherosclerosis 169:95-103.
- 265. Jalkanen, J., P. Leppanen, K. Pajusola, O. Narvanen, A. Mahonen, E. Vahakangas, D. R. Greaves, H. Bueler, and S. Yla-Herttuala. 2003. Adeno-associated virus-mediated gene transfer of a secreted decoy human macrophage scavenger receptor reduces atherosclerotic lesion formation in LDL receptor knockout mice. Mol. Ther. 8:903-910.
- 266. Gordon, J. W., J. A. Shaw, and L. A. Kirshenbaum. 2011. Multiple facets of NFkappaB in the heart: to be or not to NF-kappaB. Circ. Res. 108:1122-1132.
- Lawrence, T. and C. Fong. 2010. The resolution of inflammation: Anti-inflammatory roles for NF++|B. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 42:519-523.
- 268. Gordon, J. W., J. A. Shaw, and L. A. Kirshenbaum. 2011. Multiple facets of NF++|B in the heart: To be or not to NF-+|B. Circ. Res. 108:1122-1132.
- 269. Oeckinghaus, A. and S. Ghosh. 2009. The NF-kappaB family of transcription factors and its regulation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 1.
- 270. Karin, M. and A. Lin. 2002. NF-kappaB at the crossroads of life and death. Nat. Immunol. 3:221-227.

- Zhang, W., S. S. Xing, X. L. Sun, and Q. C. Xing. 2009. Overexpression of activated nuclear factor-+| B in aorta of patients with coronary atherosclerosis. Clin. Cardiol. 32:E42-E47.
- 272. Monaco, C., E. Andreakos, S. Kiriakidis, C. Mauri, C. Bicknell, B. Foxwell, N. Cheshire, E. Paleolog, and M. Feldmann. 2004. Canonical pathway of nuclear factor + B activation selectively regulates proinflammatory and prothrombotic responses in human atherosclerosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101:5634-5639.
- 273. Xanthoulea, S., D. M. J. Curfs, M. H. Hofker, and M. P. J. De Winther. 2005. Nuclear factor kappaB signaling in macrophage function and atherogenesis. Curr. Opin. Lipidology 16:536-542.
- 274. Kanters, E., M. Pasparakis, M. J. J. Gijbels, M. N. Vergouwe, I. Partouns-Hendriks, R. J. A. Fijneman, B. E. Clausen, I. F+¦rster, M. M. Kockx, K. Rajewsky, G. Kraal, M. H. Hofker, and M. P. J. De Winther. 2003. Inhibition of NF-+¦B activation in macrophages increases atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice. J. Clin. Invest. 112:1176-1185.
- 275. Kanters, E., M. J. J. Gijbels, I. Van Der Made, M. N. Vergouwe, P. Heeringa, G. Kraal, M. H. Hofker, and M. P. J. De Winther. 2004. Hematopoietic NF++B1 deficiency results in small atherosclerotic lesions with an inflammatory phenotype. Blood 103:934-940.
- 276. Vogel, U., M. K. Jensen, K. M. Due, E. B. Rimm, H. Wallin, M. R. S. Nielsen, A. P. T. Pedersen, A. Tj++nneland, and K. Overvad. 2011. The NFKB1 ATTG ins/del polymorphism and risk of coronary heart disease in three independent populations. Atherosclerosis 219:200-204.
- 277. Karban, A. S., T. Okazaki, C. I. Panhuysen, T. Gallegos, J. J. Potter, J. E. Bailey-Wilson, M. S. Silverberg, R. H. Duerr, J. H. Cho, P. K. Gregersen, Y. Wu, J. P. Achkar, T. Dassopoulos, E. Mezey, T. M. Bayless, F. J. Nouvet, and S. R. Brant. 2004. Functional annotation of a novel NFKB1 promoter polymorphism that increases risk for ulcerative colitis. Hum Mol Genet 13:35-45.
- 278. Park, J. Y., I. K. Farrance, N. M. Fenty, J. M. Hagberg, S. M. Roth, D. M. Mosser, M. Q. Wang, H. Jo, T. Okazaki, S. R. Brant, and M. D. Brown. 2007. NFKB1 promoter variation implicates shear-induced NOS3 gene expression and endothelial function in prehypertensives and stage I hypertensives. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 293:H2320-H2327.
- 279. Lawrence, T., M. Bebien, G. Y. Liu, V. Nizet, and M. Karin. 2005. IKKalpha limits macrophage NF-kappaB activation and contributes to the resolution of inflammation. Nature 434:1138-1143.
- 280. Lawrence, T. and M. Bebien. 2007. IKKalpha in the regulation of inflammation and adaptive immunity. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 35:270-272.

- 281. Kirii, H., T. Niwa, Y. Yamada, H. Wada, K. Saito, Y. Iwakura, M. Asano, H. Moriwaki, and M. Seishima. 2003. Lack of interleukin-1beta decreases the severity of atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23:656-660.
- 282. Mallat, Z., C. Heymes, J. Ohan, E. Faggin, G. Leseche, and A. Tedgui. 1999. Expression of interleukin-10 in advanced human atherosclerotic plaques: relation to inducible nitric oxide synthase expression and cell death. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 19:611-616.
- 283. Mallat, Z., S. Besnard, M. Duriez, V. Deleuze, F. Emmanuel, M. F. Bureau, F. Soubrier, B. Esposito, H. Duez, C. Fievet, B. Staels, N. Duverger, D. Scherman, and A. Tedgui. 1999. Protective role of interleukin-10 in atherosclerosis. Circ. Res. 85:e17-e24.
- 284. Ditiatkovski, M., B. H. Toh, and A. Bobik. 2006. GM-CSF deficiency reduces macrophage PPAR-gamma expression and aggravates atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26:2337-2344.
- 285. Ritossa F. 1962. A new puffing pattern induced by temperature shock and DNP in drosophila. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 18:571-573.
- Laskey, R. A., B. M. Honda, A. D. Mills, and J. T. Finch. 1978. Nucleosomes are assembled by an acidic protein which binds histones and transfers them to DNA. Nature 275:416-420.
- Young, J. C., V. R. Agashe, K. Siegers, and F. U. Hartl. 2004. Pathways of chaperone-mediated protein folding in the cytosol. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5:781-791.
- Henderson, B. and A. G. Pockley. 2010. Molecular chaperones and protein-folding catalysts as intercellular signaling regulators in immunity and inflammation. J. Leukoc. Biol. 88:445-462.
- 289. Pockley, A. G. 2002. Heat shock proteins, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease. Circulation 105:1012-1017.
- 290. Lindquist, S. and E. A. Craig. 1988. The heat-shock proteins. Annu. Rev. Genet. 22:631-677.
- 291. Clark, J. I. and P. J. Muchowski. 2000. Small heat-shock proteins and their potential role in human disease. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 10:52-59.
- 292. Kampinga, H. H., J. Hageman, M. J. Vos, H. Kubota, R. M. Tanguay, E. A. Bruford, M. E. Cheetham, B. Chen, and L. E. Hightower. 2009. Guidelines for the nomenclature of the human heat shock proteins. Cell Stress. Chaperones. 14:105-111.

- 293. Hartl, F. U. and M. Hayer-Hartl. 2002. Molecular chaperones in the cytosol: from nascent chain to folded protein. Science 295:1852-1858.
- 294. Shi, Y., D. D. Mosser, and R. I. Morimoto. 1998. Molecular chaperones as HSF1specific transcriptional repressors. Genes Dev. 12:654-666.
- 295. Hightower, L. E. and P. T. Guidon, Jr. 1989. Selective release from cultured mammalian cells of heat-shock (stress) proteins that resemble glia-axon transfer proteins. J. Cell Physiol 138:257-266.
- 296. Tytell, M., S. G. Greenberg, and R. J. Lasek. 1986. Heat shock-like protein is transferred from glia to axon. Brain Res. 363:161-164.
- 297. Xu, Q. and G. Wick. 1996. The role of heat shock proteins in protection and pathophysiology of the arterial wall. Mol. Med. Today 2:372-379.
- 298. Ghayour-Mobarhan, M., H. Saber, and G. A. Ferns. 2011. The potential role of heat shock protein 27 in cardiovascular disease. Clin. Chim. Acta.
- 299. Nakagomi, S., Y. Suzuki, K. Namikawa, S. Kiryu-Seo, and H. Kiyama. 2003. Expression of the activating transcription factor 3 prevents c-Jun N-terminal kinaseinduced neuronal death by promoting heat shock protein 27 expression and Akt activation. J. Neurosci. 23:5187-5196.
- 300. Wang, H., G. Lin, and Z. Zhang. 2007. ATF5 promotes cell survival through transcriptional activation of Hsp27 in H9c2 cells. Cell Biol. Int. 31:1309-1315.
- 301. Trinklein, N. D., W. C. Chen, R. E. Kingston, and R. M. Myers. 2004. Transcriptional regulation and binding of heat shock factor 1 and heat shock factor 2 to 32 human heat shock genes during thermal stress and differentiation. Cell Stress. Chaperones. 9:21-28.
- Whitlock, N. A., N. Agarwal, J. X. Ma, and C. E. Crosson. 2005. Hsp27 upregulation by HIF-1 signaling offers protection against retinal ischemia in rats. Invest Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 46:1092-1098.
- 303. Porter, W., F. Wang, R. Duan, C. Qin, E. Castro-Rivera, K. Kim, and S. Safe. 2001. Transcriptional activation of heat shock protein 27 gene expression by 17betaestradiol and modulation by antiestrogens and aryl hydrocarbon receptor agonists. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 26:31-42.
- 304. Zantema, A., V. M. Verlaan-De, D. Maasdam, S. Bol, and E. A. van der. 1992. Heat shock protein 27 and alpha B-crystallin can form a complex, which dissociates by heat shock. J. Biol. Chem. 267:12936-12941.
- 305. van Montfort, R. L., E. Basha, K. L. Friedrich, C. Slingsby, and E. Vierling. 2001. Crystal structure and assembly of a eukaryotic small heat shock protein. Nat. Struct. Biol. 8:1025-1030.

- 306. Kostenko, S. and U. Moens. 2009. Heat shock protein 27 phosphorylation: kinases, phosphatases, functions and pathology. Cell Mol. Life Sci. 66:3289-3307.
- 307. Landry, J., H. Lambert, M. Zhou, J. N. Lavoie, E. Hickey, L. A. Weber, and C. W. Anderson. 1992. Human HSP27 is phosphorylated at serines 78 and 82 by heat shock and mitogen-activated kinases that recognize the same amino acid motif as S6 kinase II. J. Biol. Chem. 267:794-803.
- 308. Ludwig, S., K. Engel, A. Hoffmeyer, G. Sithanandam, B. Neufeld, D. Palm, M. Gaestel, and U. R. Rapp. 1996. 3pK, a novel mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase-activated protein kinase, is targeted by three MAP kinase pathways. Mol. Cell Biol. 16:6687-6697.
- 309. Stokoe, D., K. Engel, D. G. Campbell, P. Cohen, and M. Gaestel. 1992. Identification of MAPKAP kinase 2 as a major enzyme responsible for the phosphorylation of the small mammalian heat shock proteins. FEBS Lett. 313:307-313.
- Doppler, H., P. Storz, J. Li, M. J. Comb, and A. Toker. 2005. A phosphorylation state-specific antibody recognizes Hsp27, a novel substrate of protein kinase D. J. Biol. Chem. 280:15013-15019.
- Kato, K., H. Ito, I. Iwamoto, K. Lida, and Y. Inaguma. 2001. Protein kinase inhibitors can suppress stress-induced dissociation of Hsp27. Cell Stress. Chaperones. 6:16-20.
- 312. Freshney, N. W., L. Rawlinson, F. Guesdon, E. Jones, S. Cowley, J. Hsuan, and J. Saklatvala. 1994. Interleukin-1 activates a novel protein kinase cascade that results in the phosphorylation of Hsp27. Cell 78:1039-1049.
- 313. Arrigo, A. P., S. Simon, B. Gibert, C. Kretz-Remy, M. Nivon, A. Czekalla, D. Guillet, M. Moulin, C. az-Latoud, and P. Vicart. 2007. Hsp27 (HspB1) and alphaB-crystallin (HspB5) as therapeutic targets. FEBS Lett. 581:3665-3674.
- 314. Rogalla, T., M. Ehrnsperger, X. Preville, A. Kotlyarov, G. Lutsch, C. Ducasse, C. Paul, M. Wieske, A. P. Arrigo, J. Buchner, and M. Gaestel. 1999. Regulation of Hsp27 oligomerization, chaperone function, and protective activity against oxidative stress/tumor necrosis factor alpha by phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 274:18947-18956.
- 315. Charette, S. J., J. N. Lavoie, H. Lambert, and J. Landry. 2000. Inhibition of Daxxmediated apoptosis by heat shock protein 27. Mol. Cell Biol. 20:7602-7612.
- 316. McDonough, H. and C. Patterson. 2003. CHIP: a link between the chaperone and proteasome systems. Cell Stress. Chaperones. 8:303-308.

- 317. Ehrnsperger, M., S. Graber, M. Gaestel, and J. Buchner. 1997. Binding of non-native protein to Hsp25 during heat shock creates a reservoir of folding intermediates for reactivation. EMBO J. 16:221-229.
- 318. Al-Madhoun, A. S., Y. X. Chen, L. Haidari, K. Rayner, W. Gerthoffer, H. McBride, and E. R. O'Brien. 2007. The interaction and cellular localization of HSP27 and ERbeta are modulated by 17beta-estradiol and HSP27 phosphorylation. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 270:33-42.
- 319. Rayner, K., Y. X. Chen, T. Siebert, and E. R. O'Brien. 2010. Heat shock protein 27: clue to understanding estrogen-mediated atheroprotection? Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 20:54-58.
- 320. Guay, J., H. Lambert, G. Gingras-Breton, J. N. Lavoie, J. Huot, and J. Landry. 1997. Regulation of actin filament dynamics by p38 map kinase-mediated phosphorylation of heat shock protein 27. J. Cell Sci. 110 (Pt 3):357-368.
- 321. De, A. K., K. M. Kodys, B. S. Yeh, and C. Miller-Graziano. 2000. Exaggerated human monocyte IL-10 concomitant to minimal TNF-alpha induction by heat-shock protein 27 (Hsp27) suggests Hsp27 is primarily an antiinflammatory stimulus. J. Immunol. 165:3951-3958.
- 322. Mehlen, P., X. Preville, P. Chareyron, J. Briolay, R. Klemenz, and A. P. Arrigo. 1995. Constitutive expression of human hsp27, Drosophila hsp27, or human alpha Bcrystallin confers resistance to TNF- and oxidative stress-induced cytotoxicity in stably transfected murine L929 fibroblasts. J. Immunol. 154:363-374.
- 323. Kammanadiminti, S. J. and K. Chadee. 2006. Suppression of NF-kappaB activation by Entamoeba histolytica in intestinal epithelial cells is mediated by heat shock protein 27. J. Biol. Chem. 281:26112-26120.
- 324. Trott, D., C. A. McManus, J. L. Martin, B. Brennan, M. J. Dunn, and M. L. Rose. 2009. Effect of phosphorylated hsp27 on proliferation of human endothelial and smooth muscle cells. Proteomics. 9:3383-3394.
- 325. Mounier, N. and A. P. Arrigo. 2002. Actin cytoskeleton and small heat shock proteins: how do they interact? Cell Stress. Chaperones. 7:167-176.
- Hino, M., K. Kurogi, M. A. Okubo, M. Murata-Hori, and H. Hosoya. 2000. Small heat shock protein 27 (HSP27) associates with tubulin/microtubules in HeLa cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 271:164-169.
- 327. Djabali, K., N. B. de, F. Landon, and M. M. Portier. 1997. AlphaB-crystallin interacts with intermediate filaments in response to stress. J. Cell Sci. 110 (Pt 21):2759-2769.

- 328. Jog, N. R., V. R. Jala, R. A. Ward, M. J. Rane, B. Haribabu, and K. R. McLeish. 2007. Heat shock protein 27 regulates neutrophil chemotaxis and exocytosis through two independent mechanisms. J. Immunol. 178:2421-2428.
- 329. Singh, B. N., K. S. Rao, T. Ramakrishna, N. Rangaraj, and C. Rao. 2007. Association of alphaB-crystallin, a small heat shock protein, with actin: role in modulating actin filament dynamics in vivo. J. Mol. Biol. 366:756-767.
- 330. Preville, X., F. Salvemini, S. Giraud, S. Chaufour, C. Paul, G. Stepien, M. V. Ursini, and A. P. Arrigo. 1999. Mammalian small stress proteins protect against oxidative stress through their ability to increase glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase activity and by maintaining optimal cellular detoxifying machinery. Exp. Cell Res. 247:61-78.
- 331. Mehlen, P., C. Kretz-Remy, X. Preville, and A. P. Arrigo. 1996. Human hsp27, Drosophila hsp27 and human alphaB-crystallin expression-mediated increase in glutathione is essential for the protective activity of these proteins against TNFalphainduced cell death. EMBO J. 15:2695-2706.
- 332. Bruey, J. M., C. Ducasse, P. Bonniaud, L. Ravagnan, S. A. Susin, C. az-Latoud, S. Gurbuxani, A. P. Arrigo, G. Kroemer, E. Solary, and C. Garrido. 2000. Hsp27 negatively regulates cell death by interacting with cytochrome c. Nat. Cell Biol. 2:645-652.
- 333. Paul, C., F. Manero, S. Gonin, C. Kretz-Remy, S. Virot, and A. P. Arrigo. 2002. Hsp27 as a negative regulator of cytochrome C release. Mol. Cell Biol. 22:816-834.
- 334. Voss, O. H., S. Batra, S. J. Kolattukudy, M. E. Gonzalez-Mejia, J. B. Smith, and A. I. Doseff. 2007. Binding of caspase-3 prodomain to heat shock protein 27 regulates monocyte apoptosis by inhibiting caspase-3 proteolytic activation. J. Biol. Chem. 282:25088-25099.
- 335. Pandey, P., R. Farber, A. Nakazawa, S. Kumar, A. Bharti, C. Nalin, R. Weichselbaum, D. Kufe, and S. Kharbanda. 2000. Hsp27 functions as a negative regulator of cytochrome c-dependent activation of procaspase-3. Oncogene 19:1975-1981.
- 336. Miller, H., S. Poon, B. Hibbert, K. Rayner, Y. X. Chen, and E. R. O'Brien. 2005. Modulation of estrogen signaling by the novel interaction of heat shock protein 27, a biomarker for atherosclerosis, and estrogen receptor beta: mechanistic insight into the vascular effects of estrogens. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25:e10-e14.
- 337. Lu, X. and V. Kakkar. 2010. The role of heat shock protein (HSP) in atherosclerosis: Pathophysiology and clinical opportunities. Curr. Med. Chem. 17:957-973.
- 338. Rocchi, P., P. Jugpal, A. So, S. Sinneman, S. Ettinger, L. Fazli, C. Nelson, and M. Gleave. 2006. Small interference RNA targeting heat-shock protein 27 inhibits the
growth of prostatic cell lines and induces apoptosis via caspase-3 activation in vitro. BJU. Int. 98:1082-1089.

- 339. Bausero, M. A., A. Bharti, D. T. Page, K. D. Perez, J. W. Eng, S. L. Ordonez, E. E. Asea, C. Jantschitsch, I. Kindas-Muegge, D. Ciocca, and A. Asea. 2006. Silencing the hsp25 gene eliminates migration capability of the highly metastatic murine 4T1 breast adenocarcinoma cell. Tumour. Biol. 27:17-26.
- 340. Kamada, M., A. So, M. Muramaki, P. Rocchi, E. Beraldi, and M. Gleave. 2007. Hsp27 knockdown using nucleotide-based therapies inhibit tumor growth and enhance chemotherapy in human bladder cancer cells. Mol. Cancer Ther. 6:299-308.
- Ciocca, D. R. and S. K. Calderwood. 2005. Heat shock proteins in cancer: diagnostic, prognostic, predictive, and treatment implications. Cell Stress. Chaperones. 10:86-103.
- Calderwood, S. K., M. A. Khaleque, D. B. Sawyer, and D. R. Ciocca. 2006. Heat shock proteins in cancer: chaperones of tumorigenesis. Trends Biochem. Sci. 31:164-172.
- 343. Andrieu, C., D. Taieb, V. Baylot, S. Ettinger, P. Soubeyran, A. De-Thonel, C. Nelson, C. Garrido, A. So, L. Fazli, F. Bladou, M. Gleave, J. L. Iovanna, and P. Rocchi. 2010. Heat shock protein 27 confers resistance to androgen ablation and chemotherapy in prostate cancer cells through eIF4E. Oncogene 29:1883-1896.
- 344. Stetler, R. A., G. Cao, Y. Gao, F. Zhang, S. Wang, Z. Weng, P. Vosler, L. Zhang, A. Signore, S. H. Graham, and J. Chen. 2008. Hsp27 protects against ischemic brain injury via attenuation of a novel stress-response cascade upstream of mitochondrial cell death signaling. J. Neurosci. 28:13038-13055.
- Stetler, R. A., Y. Gao, A. P. Signore, G. Cao, and J. Chen. 2009. HSP27: mechanisms of cellular protection against neuronal injury. Curr. Mol. Med. 9:863-872.
- 346. Latchman, D. S. 2005. HSP27 and cell survival in neurones. Int. J. Hyperthermia 21:393-402.
- 347. Akbar, M. T., A. M. Lundberg, K. Liu, S. Vidyadaran, K. E. Wells, H. Dolatshad, S. Wynn, D. J. Wells, D. S. Latchman, and B. J. de. 2003. The neuroprotective effects of heat shock protein 27 overexpression in transgenic animals against kainate-induced seizures and hippocampal cell death. J. Biol. Chem. 278:19956-19965.
- 348. Vidyasagar, A., S. Reese, Z. Acun, D. Hullett, and A. Djamali. 2008. HSP27 is involved in the pathogenesis of kidney tubulointerstitial fibrosis. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 295:F707-F716.

- 349. Ebert, M. P., C. Schafer, J. Chen, J. Hoffmann, P. Gu, C. Kubisch, S. Carl-McGrath, G. Treiber, P. Malfertheiner, and C. Rocken. 2005. Protective role of heat shock protein 27 in gastric mucosal injury. J Pathol. 207:177-184.
- 350. Hollander, J. M., J. L. Martin, D. D. Belke, B. T. Scott, E. Swanson, V. Krishnamoorthy, and W. H. Dillmann. 2004. Overexpression of wild-type heat shock protein 27 and a nonphosphorylatable heat shock protein 27 mutant protects against ischemia/reperfusion injury in a transgenic mouse model. Circulation 110:3544-3552.
- 351. Efthymiou, C. A., M. M. Mocanu, B. J. de, D. J. Wells, D. S. Latchmann, and D. M. Yellon. 2004. Heat shock protein 27 protects the heart against myocardial infarction. Basic Res. Cardiol. 99:392-394.
- 352. Firdaus, W. J., A. Wyttenbach, C. az-Latoud, R. W. Currie, and A. P. Arrigo. 2006. Analysis of oxidative events induced by expanded polyglutamine huntingtin exon 1 that are differentially restored by expression of heat shock proteins or treatment with an antioxidant. FEBS J. 273:3076-3093.
- 353. Wyttenbach, A., O. Sauvageot, J. Carmichael, C. az-Latoud, A. P. Arrigo, and D. C. Rubinsztein. 2002. Heat shock protein 27 prevents cellular polyglutamine toxicity and suppresses the increase of reactive oxygen species caused by huntingtin. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11:1137-1151.
- 354. Evgrafov, O. V., I. Mersiyanova, J. Irobi, B. L. Van Den, I. Dierick, C. L. Leung, O. Schagina, N. Verpoorten, I. K. Van, V. Fedotov, E. Dadali, M. uer-Grumbach, C. Windpassinger, K. Wagner, Z. Mitrovic, D. Hilton-Jones, K. Talbot, J. J. Martin, N. Vasserman, S. Tverskaya, A. Polyakov, R. K. Liem, J. Gettemans, W. Robberecht, J. P. De, and V. Timmerman. 2004. Mutant small heat-shock protein 27 causes axonal Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease and distal hereditary motor neuropathy. Nat. Genet. 36:602-606.
- Mambula, S. S. and S. K. Calderwood. 2006. Heat shock protein 70 is secreted from tumor cells by a nonclassical pathway involving lysosomal endosomes. J. Immunol. 177:7849-7857.
- Hunter-Lavin, C., E. L. Davies, M. M. Bacelar, M. J. Marshall, S. M. Andrew, and J. H. Williams. 2004. Hsp70 release from peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 324:511-517.
- 357. Fevrier, B. and G. Raposo. 2004. Exosomes: endosomal-derived vesicles shipping extracellular messages. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 16:415-421.
- Theriault, J. R., H. Adachi, and S. K. Calderwood. 2006. Role of scavenger receptors in the binding and internalization of heat shock protein 70. J. Immunol. 177:8604-8611.

- Laudanski, K., A. De, and C. Miller-Graziano. 2007. Exogenous heat shock protein 27 uniquely blocks differentiation of monocytes to dendritic cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 37:2812-2824.
- Martin-Ventura, J. L., M. C. Duran, L. M. Blanco-Colio, O. Meilhac, A. Leclercq, J. B. Michel, O. N. Jensen, S. Hernandez-Merida, J. Tunon, F. Vivanco, and J. Egido. 2004. Identification by a differential proteomic approach of heat shock protein 27 as a potential marker of atherosclerosis. Circulation 110:2216-2219.
- De Souza, A. I., R. Wait, A. G. Mitchell, N. R. Banner, M. J. Dunn, and M. L. Rose. 2005. Heat shock protein 27 is associated with freedom from graft vasculopathy after human cardiac transplantation. Circ. Res. 97:192-198.
- 362. Park, H. K., E. C. Park, S. W. Bae, M. Y. Park, S. W. Kim, H. S. Yoo, M. Tudev, Y. H. Ko, Y. H. Choi, S. Kim, D. I. Kim, Y. W. Kim, B. B. Lee, J. B. Yoon, and J. E. Park. 2006. Expression of heat shock protein 27 in human atherosclerotic plaques and increased plasma level of heat shock protein 27 in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Circulation 114:886-893.
- 363. Lepedda, A. J., A. Cigliano, G. M. Cherchi, R. Spirito, M. Maggioni, F. Carta, F. Turrini, C. Edelstein, A. M. Scanu, and M. Formato. 2009. A proteomic approach to differentiate histologically classified stable and unstable plaques from human carotid arteries. Atherosclerosis 203:112-118.
- 364. Mackman, N. and S. Smyth. 2009. Cardiovascular disease in women. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 29:277-278.
- 365. Christian, R. C., P. Y. Liu, S. Harrington, M. Ruan, V. M. Miller, and L. A. Fitzpatrick. 2006. Intimal estrogen receptor (ER)beta, but not ERalpha expression, is correlated with coronary calcification and atherosclerosis in pre- and postmenopausal women. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab 91:2713-2720.
- 366. Rayner, K., J. Sun, Y. X. Chen, M. McNulty, T. Simard, X. Zhao, D. J. Wells, B. J. de, and E. R. O'Brien. 2009. Heat shock protein 27 protects against atherogenesis via an estrogen-dependent mechanism: role of selective estrogen receptor beta modulation. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 29:1751-1756.
- 367. Sun, J., X. Ma, Y. X. Chen, K. Rayner, B. Hibbert, M. McNulty, B. Dhaliwal, T. Simard, D. Ramirez, and E. O'Brien. 2011. Attenuation of atherogenesis via the antiinflammatory effects of the selective estrogen receptor beta modulator 8beta-VE2. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 58:399-405.
- 368. Seibert TA, Chen YX, McNulty M, Zhoa X, Sun K, Rayner K, and O'Brien ER. 2009. Heat Shock Protein 27 Over-Expression in Hematopoietic Cells is Atheroprotective and Anti-inflammatory, abstr. Circulation 120.

- 369. Chen YX, Rayner K, Deb-Rinker P, Simard T, McNulty M, Zhao X, and O'Brien ER. 2008. Overexpression of HSP27 Provides Chronic Atheroprotection: Reduction in Foam Cell Content and Inflammatory Response, abstr. Circulation 118.
- Chen YX, Zhao X, McNulty M, and O'Brien ER. 2009. Recombinant HSP27 Therapy Reduces Serum Cholesterol Levels and Experimental Atherogenesis, abstr. Circulation 120.
- 371. Gao, B. and M. F. Tsan. 2003. Endotoxin contamination in recombinant human heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) preparation is responsible for the induction of tumor necrosis factor alpha release by murine macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 278:174-179.
- 372. Gao, B. and M. F. Tsan. 2003. Recombinant human heat shock protein 60 does not induce the release of tumor necrosis factor alpha from murine macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 278:22523-22529.
- 373. Malyala, P. and M. Singh. 2008. Endotoxin limits in formulations for preclinical research. J. Pharm. Sci. 97:2041-2044.
- Hayes, D., V. Napoli, A. Mazurkie, W. F. Stafford, and P. Graceffa. 2009. Phosphorylation dependence of hsp27 multimeric size and molecular chaperone function. J. Biol. Chem. 284:18801-18807.
- 375. Tsuchiya, S., Y. Kobayashi, Y. Goto, H. Okumura, S. Nakae, T. Konno, and K. Tada. 1982. Induction of maturation in cultured human monocytic leukemia cells by a phorbol diester. Cancer Res. 42:1530-1536.
- 376. Qin, Z. 2011. The use of THP-1 cells as a model for mimicking the function and regulation of monocytes and macrophages in the vasculature. Atherosclerosis.
- de Almeida, M. C., A. C. Silva, A. Barral, and N. M. Barral. 2000. A simple method for human peripheral blood monocyte isolation. Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz 95:221-223.
- 378. Cinatl, J., E. Paluska, V. Chudomel, V. Malaskova, and M. Elleder. 1982. Culture of macrophage cell lines from normal mouse bone marrow. Nature 298:388-389.
- 379. Mori, M., Y. Sadahira, S. Kawasaki, T. Hayashi, and M. Awai. 1990. Macrophage heterogeneity in bone marrow culture in vitro. J. Cell Sci. 95 (Pt 3):481-485.
- 380. Bhor, V. M., C. J. Thomas, N. Surolia, and A. Surolia. 2005. Polymyxin B: an ode to an old antidote for endotoxic shock. Mol. Biosyst. 1:213-222.
- 381. Kanters, E., M. Pasparakis, M. J. Gijbels, M. N. Vergouwe, I. Partouns-Hendriks, R. J. Fijneman, B. E. Clausen, I. Forster, M. M. Kockx, K. Rajewsky, G. Kraal, M. H. Hofker, and M. P. de Winther. 2003. Inhibition of NF-kappaB activation in macrophages increases atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice. J. Clin. Invest 112:1176-1185.

- 382. Mabuchi, S., M. Ohmichi, Y. Nishio, T. Hayasaka, A. Kimura, T. Ohta, M. Saito, J. Kawagoe, K. Takahashi, N. Yada-Hashimoto, M. Sakata, T. Motoyama, H. Kurachi, K. Tasaka, and Y. Murata. 2004. Inhibition of NFkappaB increases the efficacy of cisplatin in vitro and in vivo ovarian cancer models. J. Biol. Chem. 279:23477-23485.
- Leyva, F. J. and M. A. Pershouse. 2009. Quantitative and qualitative methods using fluorescence microscopy for the study of modified low density lipoproteins uptake. Scanning 31:167-173.
- 384. Stephan, Z. F. and E. C. Yurachek. 1993. Rapid fluorometric assay of LDL receptor activity by DiI-labeled LDL. J. Lipid Res. 34:325-330.
- 385. Xu, S., Y. Huang, Y. Xie, T. Lan, K. Le, J. Chen, S. Chen, S. Gao, X. Xu, X. Shen, H. Huang, and P. Liu. 2010. Evaluation of foam cell formation in cultured macrophages: an improved method with Oil Red O staining and DiI-oxLDL uptake. Cytotechnology 62:473-481.
- Forgac, M., L. Cantley, B. Wiedenmann, L. Altstiel, and D. Branton. 1983. Clathrincoated vesicles contain an ATP-dependent proton pump. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 80:1300-1303.
- Taylor, S., M. Wakem, G. Dijkman, M. Alsarraj, and M. Nguyen. 2010. A practical approach to RT-qPCR-Publishing data that conform to the MIQE guidelines. Methods 50:S1-S5.
- 388. Pfaffl, M. W. 2001. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in realtime RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 29:e45.
- 389. Joven, J., A. Rull, N. Ferre, J. C. Escola-Gil, J. Marsillach, B. Coll, C. onso-Villaverde, G. Aragones, J. Claria, and J. Camps. 2007. The results in rodent models of atherosclerosis are not interchangeable: the influence of diet and strain. Atherosclerosis 195:e85-e92.
- 390. Chen, Y. X., X. Ma, S. Whitman, and E. R. O'Brien. 2004. Novel antiinflammatory vascular benefits of systemic and stent-based delivery of ethylisopropylamiloride. Circulation 110:3721-3726.
- 391. Hibbert, B., Y. X. Chen, and E. R. O'Brien. 2004. c-kit-immunopositive vascular progenitor cells populate human coronary in-stent restenosis but not primary atherosclerotic lesions. Am. J. Physiol Heart Circ. Physiol 287:H518-H524.
- 392. Wakelin, S. J., I. Sabroe, C. D. Gregory, I. R. Poxton, J. L. Forsythe, O. J. Garden, and S. E. Howie. 2006. "Dirty little secrets"--endotoxin contamination of recombinant proteins. Immunol. Lett. 106:1-7.

- Deigner, H. P. and R. Claus. 1996. Stimulation of mitogen activated protein kinase by LDL and oxLDL in human U-937 macrophage-like cells. FEBS Lett. 385:149-153.
- Osterloh, A., U. Kalinke, S. Weiss, B. Fleischer, and M. Breloer. 2007. Synergistic and differential modulation of immune responses by Hsp60 and lipopolysaccharide. J. Biol. Chem. 282:4669-4680.
- Johnson, J. D. and M. Fleshner. 2006. Releasing signals, secretory pathways, and immune function of endogenous extracellular heat shock protein 72. J. Leukoc. Biol. 79:425-434.
- 396. Gupta, S. and A. A. Knowlton. 2007. HSP60 trafficking in adult cardiac myocytes: role of the exosomal pathway
  8. Am. J. Physiol Heart Circ. Physiol 292:H3052-H3056.
- 397. Berwin, B., J. P. Hart, S. Rice, C. Gass, S. V. Pizzo, S. R. Post, and C. V. Nicchitta. 2003. Scavenger receptor-A mediates gp96/GRP94 and calreticulin internalization by antigen-presenting cells. EMBO J. 22:6127-6136.
- 398. Nakamura, T., J. Hinagata, T. Tanaka, T. Imanishi, Y. Wada, T. Kodama, and T. Doi. 2002. HSP90, HSP70, and GAPDH directly interact with the cytoplasmic domain of macrophage scavenger receptors. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 290:858-864.
- 399. Facciponte, J. G., X. Y. Wang, and J. R. Subjeck. 2007. Hsp110 and Grp170, members of the Hsp70 superfamily, bind to scavenger receptor-A and scavenger receptor expressed by endothelial cells-I. Eur. J. Immunol. 37:2268-2279.
- 400. Asea, A., M. Rehli, E. Kabingu, J. A. Boch, O. Bare, P. E. Auron, M. A. Stevenson, and S. K. Calderwood. 2002. Novel signal transduction pathway utilized by extracellular HSP70: role of toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR4. J. Biol. Chem. 277:15028-15034.
- 401. Osto, E., A. Kouroedov, P. Mocharla, A. Akhmedov, C. Besler, L. Rohrer, E. A. von, S. Iliceto, M. Volpe, T. F. Luscher, and F. Cosentino. 2008. Inhibition of protein kinase Cbeta prevents foam cell formation by reducing scavenger receptor A expression in human macrophages. Circulation 118:2174-2182.
- 402. Parcellier, A., M. Brunet, E. Schmitt, E. Col, C. Didelot, A. Hammann, K. Nakayama, K. I. Nakayama, S. Khochbin, E. Solary, and C. Garrido. 2006. HSP27 favors ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of p27Kip1 and helps S-phase reentry in stressed cells. FASEB J. 20:1179-1181.
- 403. Komatsu, M., S. Waguri, T. Ueno, J. Iwata, S. Murata, I. Tanida, J. Ezaki, N. Mizushima, Y. Ohsumi, Y. Uchiyama, E. Kominami, K. Tanaka, and T. Chiba. 2005. Impairment of starvation-induced and constitutive autophagy in Atg7-deficient mice. J. Cell Biol. 169:425-434.

- 404. Parcellier, A., E. Schmitt, S. Gurbuxani, D. Seigneurin-Berny, A. Pance, A. Chantome, S. Plenchette, S. Khochbin, E. Solary, and C. Garrido. 2003. HSP27 is a ubiquitin-binding protein involved in I-kappaBalpha proteasomal degradation. Mol. Cell Biol. 23:5790-5802.
- 405. Mehlen, P., E. Hickey, L. A. Weber, and A. P. Arrigo. 1997. Large unphosphorylated aggregates as the active form of hsp27 which controls intracellular reactive oxygen species and glutathione levels and generates a protection against TNFalpha in NIH-3T3-ras cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 241:187-192.
- 406. Chaufour, S., P. Mehlen, and A. P. Arrigo. 1996. Transient accumulation, phosphorylation and changes in the oligomerization of Hsp27 during retinoic acidinduced differentiation of HL-60 cells: possible role in the control of cellular growth and differentiation. Cell Stress. Chaperones. 1:225-235.
- 407. Ross, R. 1993. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature 362:801-809.
- 408. Baeuerle, P. A. and T. Henkel. 1994. Function and activation of NF-kappa B in the immune system. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 12:141-179.
- 409. Salari, S. Mechanisms of Recombinant Heat Shock Protein 27 Atheroprotection: NFkappa-B Signaling in Macrophages 2011. MSc University of Ottawa, Department of Biochemistry Microbiology and Immunology
- 410. Liu, J., S. Hong, Z. Feng, Y. Xin, Q. Wang, J. Fu, C. Zhang, G. Li, L. Luo, and Z. Yin. 2010. Regulation of lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response by heat shock protein 27 in THP-1 cells. Cell Immunol. 264:127-134.
- 411. Dodd, S. L., B. Hain, S. M. Senf, and A. R. Judge. 2009. Hsp27 inhibits IKKbetainduced NF-kappaB activity and skeletal muscle atrophy. FASEB J. 23:3415-3423.
- 412. Voegeli, T. S. and R. W. Currie. 2009. siRNA knocks down Hsp27 and increases angiotensin II-induced phosphorylated NF-kappaB p65 levels in aortic smooth muscle cells. Inflamm. Res. 58:336-343.
- 413. Pierce, J. W., R. Schoenleber, G. Jesmok, J. Best, S. A. Moore, T. Collins, and M. E. Gerritsen. 1997. Novel inhibitors of cytokine-induced IkappaBalpha phosphorylation and endothelial cell adhesion molecule expression show anti-inflammatory effects in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 272:21096-21103.
- 414. Lee, H. S., S. D. Kim, W. M. Lee, M. Endale, S. M. Kamruzzaman, W. J. Oh, J. Y. Cho, S. K. Kim, H. J. Cho, H. J. Park, and M. H. Rhee. 2010. A noble function of BAY 11-7082: Inhibition of platelet aggregation mediated by an elevated cAMP-induced VASP, and decreased ERK2/JNK1 phosphorylations. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 627:85-91.

- 415. Brand, K., S. Page, G. Rogler, A. Bartsch, R. Brandl, R. Knuechel, M. Page, C. Kaltschmidt, P. A. Baeuerle, and D. Neumeier. 1996. Activated transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B is present in the atherosclerotic lesion. J. Clin. Invest 97:1715-1722.
- 416. Ferreira, V., K. W. van Dijk, A. K. Groen, R. M. Vos, K. J. van der, M. J. Gijbels, L. M. Havekes, and H. Pannekoek. 2007. Macrophage-specific inhibition of NF-kappaB activation reduces foam-cell formation. Atherosclerosis 192:283-290.
- 417. Lawrence, T. and C. Fong. 2010. The resolution of inflammation: anti-inflammatory roles for NF-kappaB. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 42:519-523.
- 418. Kanters, E., M. J. Gijbels, d. M. van, I, M. N. Vergouwe, P. Heeringa, G. Kraal, M. H. Hofker, and M. P. de Winther. 2004. Hematopoietic NF-kappaB1 deficiency results in small atherosclerotic lesions with an inflammatory phenotype. Blood 103:934-940.
- 419. Han, X., S. Kitamoto, H. Wang, and W. A. Boisvert. 2010. Interleukin-10 overexpression in macrophages suppresses atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic mice. FASEB J. 24:2869-2880.
- 420. Yang, H., S. Chen, Y. Tang, and Y. Dai. 2011. Interleukin-10 down-regulates oxLDL induced expression of scavenger receptor A and Bak-1 in macrophages derived from THP-1 cells. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 512:30-37.
- 421. Fong, C. H., M. Bebien, A. Didierlaurent, R. Nebauer, T. Hussell, D. Broide, M. Karin, and T. Lawrence. 2008. An antiinflammatory role for IKKbeta through the inhibition of "classical" macrophage activation. J. Exp. Med. 205:1269-1276.
- 422. Edwards, J. P., X. Zhang, K. A. Frauwirth, and D. M. Mosser. 2006. Biochemical and functional characterization of three activated macrophage populations. J. Leukoc. Biol. 80:1298-1307.
- 423. van Lenten, B. J., A. M. Fogelman, J. Seager, E. Ribi, M. E. Haberland, and P. A. Edwards. 1985. Bacterial endotoxin selectively prevents the expression of scavenger-receptor activity on human monocyte-macrophages. J. Immunol. 134:3718-3721.
- 424. Bassuk, A. G., R. T. Anandappa, and J. M. Leiden. 1997. Physical interactions between Ets and NF-kappaB/NFAT proteins play an important role in their cooperative activation of the human immunodeficiency virus enhancer in T cells. J. Virol. 71:3563-3573.
- 425. Ishibashi, T., K. Yokoyama, J. Shindo, Y. Hamazaki, Y. Endo, T. Sato, S. Takahashi, Y. Kawarabayasi, M. Shiomi, T. Yamamoto, and . 1994. Potent cholesterol-lowering effect by human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in rabbits. Possible implications of enhancement of macrophage functions and an increase in mRNA for VLDL receptor. Arterioscler. Thromb. 14:1534-1541.

- 426. Ditiatkovski, M., B. H. Toh, and A. Bobik. 2006. GM-CSF deficiency reduces macrophage PPAR-gamma expression and aggravates atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26:2337-2344.
- 427. Greaves, D. R. and S. Gordon. 2009. The macrophage scavenger receptor at 30 years of age: current knowledge and future challenges. J. Lipid Res. 50 Suppl:S282-S286.
- 428. Anzinger, J. J., J. Chang, Q. Xu, C. Buono, Y. Li, F. J. Leyva, B. C. Park, L. E. Greene, and H. S. Kruth. 2010. Native low-density lipoprotein uptake by macrophage colony-stimulating factor-differentiated human macrophages is mediated by macropinocytosis and micropinocytosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 30:2022-2031.
- 429. Nakashima, Y., A. S. Plump, E. W. Raines, J. L. Breslow, and R. Ross. 1994. ApoEdeficient mice develop lesions of all phases of atherosclerosis throughout the arterial tree. Arterioscler. Thromb. 14:133-140.
- 430. Goel, R., B. R. Schrank, S. Arora, B. Boylan, B. Fleming, H. Miura, P. J. Newman, R. C. Molthen, and D. K. Newman. 2008. Site-specific effects of PECAM-1 on atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 28:1996-2002.
- Witting, P. K., K. Pettersson, J. Letters, and R. Stocker. 2000. Site-specific antiatherogenic effect of probucol in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20:E26-E33.
- 432. Nakagawa-Toyama, Y., S. Yamashita, J. Miyagawa, M. Nishida, S. Nozaki, H. Nagaretani, N. Sakai, H. Hiraoka, K. Yamamori, T. Yamane, K. Hirano, and Y. Matsuzawa. 2001. Localization of CD36 and scavenger receptor class A in human coronary arteries--a possible difference in the contribution of both receptors to plaque formation. Atherosclerosis 156:297-305.
- 433. Platt, N., R. P. da Silva, and S. Gordon. 1999. Class A scavenger receptors and the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. Immunol. Lett. 65:15-19.
- 434. Hofnagel, O., B. Luechtenborg, G. Weissen-Plenz, and H. Robenek. 2007. Statins and foam cell formation: impact on LDL oxidation and uptake of oxidized lipoproteins via scavenger receptors. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1771:1117-1124.
- 435. Fuhrman, B., L. Koren, N. Volkova, S. Keidar, T. Hayek, and M. Aviram. 2002. Atorvastatin therapy in hypercholesterolemic patients suppresses cellular uptake of oxidized-LDL by differentiating monocytes. Atherosclerosis 164:179-185.
- 436. Shiomi, M., S. Yamada, and T. Ito. 2005. Atheroma stabilizing effects of simvastatin due to depression of macrophages or lipid accumulation in the atheromatous plaques of coronary plaque-prone WHHL rabbits. Atherosclerosis 178:287-294.

- 437. Crisby, M., G. Nordin-Fredriksson, P. K. Shah, J. Yano, J. Zhu, and J. Nilsson. 2001. Pravastatin treatment increases collagen content and decreases lipid content, inflammation, metalloproteinases, and cell death in human carotid plaques: implications for plaque stabilization. Circulation 103:926-933.
- 438. Kastelein, J. J., F. Akdim, E. S. Stroes, A. H. Zwinderman, M. L. Bots, A. F. Stalenhoef, F. L. Visseren, E. J. Sijbrands, M. D. Trip, E. A. Stein, D. Gaudet, R. Duivenvoorden, E. P. Veltri, A. D. Marais, and G. E. de. 2008. Simvastatin with or without ezetimibe in familial hypercholesterolemia. N. Engl. J. Med. 358:1431-1443.
- 439. Taylor, A. J., T. C. Villines, E. J. Stanek, P. J. Devine, L. Griffen, M. Miller, N. J. Weissman, and M. Turco. 2009. Extended-release niacin or ezetimibe and carotid intima-media thickness. N. Engl. J. Med. 361:2113-2122.
- 440. Modelli, M. E., A. S. Cherulli, L. Gandolfi, and R. Pratesi. 2011. Atherosclerosis in young Brazilians suffering violent deaths: a pathological study. BMC. Res. Notes 4:531.
- 441. Zhang, J. R., T. Coleman, S. J. Langmade, D. E. Scherrer, L. Lane, M. H. Lanier, C. Feng, M. S. Sands, J. E. Schaffer, C. F. Semenkovich, and D. S. Ory. 2008. Niemann-Pick C1 protects against atherosclerosis in mice via regulation of macrophage intracellular cholesterol trafficking. J. Clin. Invest 118:2281-2290.
- 442. Murshid A, Theriault J, Gong J, and Calderwood SK. 2011. Investigating Receptors for Extracellular Heat Shock Proteins, p. 289-301. *In* Calderwood SK and Prince TL (ed.), Molecular Chaperones: Methods and Protocols. Springer Science.
- 443. Hsu, H. Y., A. C. Nicholson, and D. P. Hajjar. 1996. Inhibition of macrophage scavenger receptor activity by tumor necrosis factor-alpha is transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally regulated. J. Biol. Chem. 271:7767-7773.
- 444. Wu, H., K. Moulton, A. Horvai, S. Parik, and C. K. Glass. 1994. Combinatorial interactions between AP-1 and ets domain proteins contribute to the developmental regulation of the macrophage scavenger receptor gene. Mol. Cell Biol. 14:2129-2139.
- 445. Iverson, N. M., N. M. Plourde, S. M. Sparks, J. Wang, E. N. Patel, P. S. Shah, D. R. Lewis, K. R. Zablocki, G. B. Nackman, K. E. Uhrich, and P. V. Moghe. 2011. Dual use of amphiphilic macromolecules as cholesterol efflux triggers and inhibitors of macrophage athero-inflammation. Biomaterials 32:8319-8327.
- 446. Lelj-Garolla, B. and A. G. Mauk. 2012. Roles of the N- and C-terminal sequences in Hsp27 self-association and chaperone activity. Protein Sci. 21:122-133.
- 447. Theriault, J. R., H. Lambert, A. T. Chavez-Zobel, G. Charest, P. Lavigne, and J. Landry. 2004. Essential role of the NH2-terminal WD/EPF motif in the phosphorylation-activated protective function of mammalian Hsp27. J. Biol. Chem. 279:23463-23471.

- 448. Lambert, H., S. J. Charette, A. F. Bernier, A. Guimond, and J. Landry. 1999. HSP27 multimerization mediated by phosphorylation-sensitive intermolecular interactions at the amino terminus. J. Biol. Chem. 274:9378-9385.
- 449. Wang, X., H. Tokuda, D. Hatakeyama, K. Hirade, M. Niwa, H. Ito, K. Kato, and O. Kozawa. 2003. Mechanism of simvastatin on induction of heat shock protein in osteoblasts. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 415:6-13.

## 9.0 CONTRIBUTIONS OF COLLABORATORS

- 1. The recombinant proteins used throughout this study was produced and purified by Mr. Thomas Hu in the O'Brien lab (University of Ottawa Heart Institute). Mr. Hu also performed the SDS-PAGE analysis and chaperone activity assays presented in Section 4.1.
- 2. The CHO cells stably transfected with SR-A as presented in Section 4.7 were received from Dr. Dawn Bowdish (McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario).
- 3. Although a different data set, similar results presented in Section 4.8 using the NF-κB reporter cell line comprised a major part of Ms. Samira Salari's Master's thesis presented to the University of Ottawa, Department of Biochemistry (Ottawa, Canada).
- 4. Breeding and genotyping of the mice models presented in Section 4.10 were performed by Mrs. Xaoling Zhao in the O'Brien lab (University of Ottawa Heart Institute).
- 5. The ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> SR-A<sup>-/-</sup> mice presented in Section 4.10 were received from Dr. Kathryn Moore (New York University, Langone Medical Center, New York City, U.S.A).
- 6. The aortic tissue cross-sections presented in Section 4.10 were cut, stained, and immunolabelled by Dr. Yong-Xian Chen in the O'Brien lab (University of Ottawa Heart Institute).

**10.0 PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE COPYRIGHT MATERIAL** 



# The NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL of MEDICINE

#### Permission to Use NEJM Material in a Thesis or Dissertation

This permission applies only to copyrighted material that the Massachusetts Medical Society owns, and not to copyrighted text or illustrations from other sources.

All content reproduced from copyrighted material owned by the Massachusetts Medical Society (MMS) remains the full and exclusive copyrighted property of the MMS. The right to grant to a third party is reserved solely by the MMS.

Copyrighted MMS content may not be used in any manner that implies endorsement, sponsorship, or promotion of any entity, product or service by the MMS or its publications. The MMS cannot authorize use of authors' names on promotional materials; such approval must be obtained directly from authors.

The New England Journal of Medicine (and its logo design) are registered trademarks of the Massachusetts Medical Society. We do not grant permission for our logo, cover, or brand identity to be used in materials produced by other organizations. NEJM does not issue grants of permission for blanket use of its material. Non-exclusive grants are issued for identified content to be used in a specific manner. We do provide worldwide rights.

#### MODIFICATIONS/ADAPTATIONS

Grants of permission are issued for the material to be used as originally published by MMS. MMS does not approve adaptations or modifications.

Formatting and stylistic changes and any explanatory material or figure legends used by the requestor must accurately reflect the material as originally published in the New England Journal of Medicine.

\*This grant covers the right to use the material in print and electronic formats. Figures/Tables that contain text, may be translated.

#### WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH LICENSE

#### **TERMS AND CONDITIONS**

This is a License Agreement between Josh Raizman ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health ("Wolters Kluwer Health") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	2816051227312
License date	Dec 25, 2011
Licensed content publisher	Wolters Kluwer Health
Licensed content publication	ATVB
Licensed content title	Scavenger Receptors in Atherosclerosis: Beyond Lipid Uptake
Licensed content author	Kathryn J. Moore, Mason W. Freeman
Licensed content date	Aug 1, 2006
Volume Number	26
Issue Number	8
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Individual
Title of your thesis / dissertation	The role of the scavenger receptor-A in heat shock protein-27 mediated atheroprotection
Expected completion date	Jan 2012
Estimated size(pages)	200
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing address	University of Ottawa Heart Institute
	40 Ruskin Street, Room 2257
	Ottawa, Ontario K1Y 4W7
	Canada
Customer reference info	
Total	0.00 USD

#### **ELSEVIER LICENSE**

#### **TERMS AND CONDITIONS**

This is a License Agreement between Josh Raizman ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

## All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Josh Raizman
Customer address	University of Ottawa Heart Institute
	Ottawa, Ontario K1Y 4W7
License number	2816061247167
License date	Dec 25, 2011
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Atherosclerosis
Licensed content title	Biochemistry and cell biology of mammalian scavenger receptors
Licensed content author	Jane E. Murphy,Philip R. Tedbury,Shervanthi Homer- Vanniasinkam,John H. Walker,Sreenivasan Ponnambalam
Licensed content date	September 2005
Licensed content volume number	182
Licensed content issue number	1
Number of pages	15
Start Page	1
End Page	15
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Intended publisher of new work	other
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1

Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	Νο
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	
Title of your thesis/dissertation	The role of the scavenger receptor-A in heat shock protein-27 mediated atheroprotection
Expected completion date	Jan 2012
Estimated size (number of pages)	200
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 USD
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.0 USD / 0.0 GBP
Total	0.00 USD

## JOURNAL OF CLINICAL INVESTIGATION

- Order detail ID: 61736459
- **ISSN:** 1558-8238
- Publication year: 2011
- **Publication Type:** e-Journal
- **Publisher:** AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR CLINICAL INVESTIGATION
- **Rightsholder:** AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR CLINICAL INVESTIGATION
- Author/ Editor: Nick Platt and Siamon Gordon
- Permission Status: 🖉 Granted
- **Permission type:** Republish or display content
- **Type of use:** Republish in a dissertation
- **Republishing organization:** University of Ottawa
- **Organization status:** Non-profit 501(c)(3)
- **Republication date:** 12/31/2011
- Circulation/ Distribution: 5
- **Type of content:** Figure/ diagram/ table
- **Description of requested content:** Structures of the class A macrophage SR
- Page range(s): 650
- Translating to: No Translation
- Requested content's publication date:

#### WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 20, 2012

This is a License Agreement between Josh Raizman ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health ("Wolters Kluwer Health") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

2820890353959		
Jan 02, 2012		
Wolters Kluwer Health		
Circulation Research		
As Macrophages Indulge, Atherosclerotic Lesions Bulge		
Alan Daugherty, Debra L. Rateri, Hong Lu		
Jun 20, 2008		
102		
12		
Dissertation/Thesis		
Individual		
The role of the scavenger receptor-A in heat shock protein-27 mediated atheroprotection		
Jan 2012		
200		
Invoice		
University of Ottawa Heart Institute		
40 Ruskin Street, Room 2257		
Ottawa, Ontario K1Y 4W7		
Canada		
0.00 USD		

#### NATURE PUBLISHING GROUP LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 20, 2012

This is a License Agreement between Josh Raizman ("You") and Nature Publishing Group ("Nature Publishing Group") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Nature Publishing Group, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	2853270899096
License date	Feb 20, 2012
Licensed content publisher	Nature Publishing Group
Licensed content publication	Nature Immunology
Licensed content title	NF- $\kappa$ B at the crossroads of life and death
Licensed content author	Michael Karin, Anning Lin
Licensed content date	Mar 1, 2002
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Requestor type	academic/educational
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Figures	Figure 1
Author of this NPG article	no
Your reference number	
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Role of SR-A in HSP27 mediated atheroprotection
Expected completion date	Apr 2012
Estimated size (number of pages)	200
Total	0.00 USD

**11.0 CURRICULUM VITAE** 

## JOSHUA E. RAIZMAN

## DATE OF BIRTH

September 13, 1981

## **EDUCATION**

•	Clinical Chemistry Fellowship University of Toronto Toronto, Ontario	July 1, 2012
•	PhD in Biochemistry Supervisor: Dr. Edward O'Brien University of Ottawa Ottawa, Ontario	Sept., 2007-April. 2012
•	MSc in Physiology Supervisor: Dr. Ian Dixon University of Manitoba Winnipeg, Manitoba	Sept., 2003-April 2006
•	BSc in Biochemistry (4-year major) University of Winnipeg Winnipeg, Manitoba	Sept., 1999-April 2003

## **RESEARCH EXPERIENCE**

<ul> <li>Lab Technician III Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada</li> </ul>	Dec. 2006- June 2007
<ul> <li>Summer Student Institute of Cardiovascular Science St. Boniface Research Centre University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada</li> </ul>	April 2003-Aug 2003
• Summer Student Department of Biological Chemistry Weizmann Institute of Sciences Rehovot, Israel	May 2002-August 2002

### **PUBLICATIONS**

### A) Peer-reviewed papers

- 1 Raizman JE, Chen Y-C, Hibbert B, Hu T, Salari S, Zhao X, Ma, Seibert T, Currier C, Simard T, Caravaggio J, Rayner K, Bowdish D, Moore K., O'Brien ER. Extracellular Heat Shock Protein-27 Mediated Atheroprotection: Down-regulation of Scavenger Receptor-A Expression via NF-κB Signaling. Submitted.
- Seibert T, Chen Y-X, Hibbert B, Simard T, Cuerrier CM, Raizman JE, Rayner K, Hu T, Zhao X, Wells DJ, de BelleRoche J, O'Brien ER. Decreased Serum Heat Shock Protein 27 Levels are associated with Human CAD: Use of Recombinant HSP27 to Attenuate Experimental Atherogenesis and Stabilize Established Plaques. Submitted.
- 3. Simard T, Hibbert B, **Raizman JE**, Ramirez D, Pourdjabbar A, O'Brien ER. Pathogenesis of in-stent restenosis – current understanding and future novel targets. Submitted.
- Freed DH, Chilton L, Li Y, Dangerfield, A, Raizman JE, Rattan S, Visen N, Hryshko L, and Dixon IM. Role of Myosin Light Chain Kinase in Cardiotrophin-1 Induced Cardiac Myofibroblast Cell Migration. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2011 Aug;301(2):H514-22
- 5. Fediuk DJ, Wang T, Raizman JE, Parkinson FE, Gu X. Tissue Deposition of the Insect Repellent DEET and the Sunscreen Oxybenzone From Repeated Topical Skin Applications in Rats. Int J Toxicol. 2010 Dec;29(6):594-603.
- 6. Santiago JJ, Dangerfield AL, Rattan SG, Bathe KL, Cunnington RH, Raizman JE, Bedosky KM, Freed DH, Kardami E, Dixon IM. Cardiac fibroblast to myofibroblast differentiation in vivo and in vitro: expression of focal adhesion components in neonatal and adult rat ventricular myofibroblasts. Dev Dyn. 2010 Jun;239(6):1573-84.
- Raizman JE, Komljenovic J, Chang R, Deng C, Elimban VV, Freed DH, and Dixon IMC. The participation of the Na+-Ca2+ exchanger (NCX1) in primary cardiac myofibroblast migration, contraction, and proliferation. J Cell Physiol. 2007 Nov;213(2):540-51
- Drobic V, Cunnington RH, Bedosky K, Raizman JE, Elimban VV, Rattan SG, and Dixon IMC. Differential and combined effects of Cardiotrophin-1 and TGF-β1 on cardiac myofibroblast proliferation and contraction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007 Aug;293(2):H1053-64.
- Dixon IMC and Raizman JE. Cardiac cells of the living dead: Concurrent upregulation of both anti- and pro-apoptotic proteins in cells from post-MI hearts fuels the argument for the concept of stasis in programmed cell death. Ann Thorac Surg 2005 79: 1337

### **B)** Meeting abstracts

- Raizman JE, Hu T, Chen Y-C, Salari S, Seibert T, Ma X, Hibbert B, Simard T, Zhao X, Rayner K, Moore K, O'Brien ER.Heat Shock Protein 27 Mediated Atheroprotetion Requires Scavenger Receptor-A: Mechanistic Insight Into a Novel Therapeutic. Circulation. 2011; 124: A15504. Oral presentation. American Heart Association Scientific Sessions 2011 in Orlando Florida.
- Raizman J, Seibert T, Salari S, Chen YX, McNulty M, Hu T, Zhao X, Sun J, Rayner K, O'Brien E. Extracellular HSP27 and atheroprotection: NF-kB signaling mechanisms. Presented at the International Congress on Stress Response in Medicine and Biology in Quebec City August 21-25, 2011
- Raizman JE, Tieqiang Hu, Salari S, Gill J, Rayner K, McNulty M, Chen YX, and O'Brien ER. Identification of a Novel Scavenger Receptor-A Dependent Mechanism for Heat Shock Protein 27- mediated atheroprotection. Presented at the Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology Scientific Sessions Meeting in Chicago April 28-30, 2011.
- 4. **Raizman JE**, Hui T, Salari S, Seibert S, O'Brien ER. Extracellular HSP27 blocks uptake and binding of modified lipids by modulating expression of SRA: A novel antiatherogenesis therapeutic opportunity? October2010, Volume 26, Supplement SD. Presented at Cardiovascular Congress, Montréal, Canada, October 22-26, 2011
- 5. Ma X., Hibbert B., Dhaliwal B., Rayner K., Chen Y-X, Sun J., Zhao X, Seibert S, Raizman JE, O'Brien ER. Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 Beta Inhibitor Coated Stents Inhibit Neointimal Formation and Enhance Re-endothelialization Through Improved Endothelial Progenitor Cell Recruitment and Function .Circulation. 2008;118:S508
- Freed DH, Dangerfield AL, Raizman JE, Rattan SG, Visen N, Hryshko LV, Giles WR and Dixon IMC. Role of calcium in cardiotrophin-1 induced cardiac myofibroblast cell migration. ISHR-American Section Meeting, Toronto, Canada, June 13, 2006. J Mol Cell Cardiol 40:871, 2006
- Qiuzhi Chang, Xijun Deng, Josh E. Raizman, Sunil G. Rattan, Ian M.C. Dixon. Myofibroblasts as agent of cardiac wound healing post MI: The effect of Na Ca exchanger inhibition and L-type calcium channel blockade in primary cardiac myofibroblast contractile responses. Canada-Wide Science Fair, Chicoutimi, Quebec, May 2006
- Raizman JE, Komljenovic J, Elimban VV, Freed DH, Rattan SG and Dixon IMC. Myofibroblasts as agents of cardiac wound healing: Role of NCX1.1 and NSCCs in myofibroblast migration and contraction. 3<sup>rd</sup> Annual CIHR Young Investigator Forum, Winnipeg, Canada, April 27-30, 2006 Exp Clin Cardiol 11:56, 2006

- 9. **Raizman JE**, Komljenovic J, Elimban VV, Freed DH, Rattan SG and Dixon IMC. NCX1.1 and NSCCs participate in PDGF-BB mediated cardiac myofibroblast migration and contraction. Submitted as a late-breaking abstract to Experimental Biology 2006 in San Francisco, California, USA, April 1-5, 2006
- Freed DH, Dangerfield AL, Jones SC, Sutton JA, Raizman JE, Pascoe EA and Dixon IMC. Effect of angiotensin antagonism on myocardial infarct scar cardiotrophin-1 expression and myofibroblast proliferation *in vivo*. Canadian Cardiovascular Society, Montreal, Canada, October 27 – 30, 2005. Can J Cardiol, 2005
- 11. **Raizman JE**, Freed DH, Hryshko LV and Dixon IMC. Regulation of PDGF-induced motility of cardiac myofibroblasts is dependent on plasmalemmal NSCC and NCX function. Annual Canadian Student Health Research Forum, University of Manitoba, Faculty of Medicine, June 7, 2005
- Raizman JE, Hryshko LV, Freed DH and Dixon IMC. Regulation of cytokine-induced motility of cardiac myofibroblasts is dependent on plasmalemmal NCX and NSCC function. 2<sup>nd</sup> Annual CIHR Young Investigator Forum, Winnipeg, Canada, April 29-May 1, 2005. Exp Clin Cardiol 10:53, 2005
- 13. Freed DH, Dangerfield AL, Sutton JA, Jones S, **Raizman JE**, Dixon IMC. Cardiotrophin-1 expression and myofibroblast involvement in post myocardial infarct wound healing. Poster presented at the Annual Canadian Student Health Research Forum, University of Manitoba, Faculty of Medicine, June 2004

### **AWARDS & SCHOLARSHIPS**

•	Ministry of Health Fellowship for Training in Clinical Chemistry	July 2012
•	University of Ottawa Excellence Scholarship Tuition award	May 2008 – present
•	CIHR Frederick Banting and Charles Best Canada Graduate Scholarship Doctoral Award Application rated top 2% in Canada	May 2008 – May 2011
•	Department of Biochemistry Seminar Day University of Ottawa 2 <sup>nd</sup> Prize for PhD Oral Presentation	Feb. 2011
•	Department of Biochemistry Poster Day University of Ottawa Honourary mention	May 2008

•	St. Boniface General Hospital Research Foundation MSc Scholarship	April 2004-2006
•	Canadian Student Health Research Forum University of Manitoba Honourary mention	June 2005
•	Max and Jean Ruder Perpetual Scholarship Jewish Federation of Manitoba	May 2003
•	Chemistry Club Award Department of Chemistry University of Winnipeg	Oct. 2002
<u>TEAC</u>	CHING EXPERIENCE	
•	Teaching Assistant BCH2333: Introduction to Biochemistry University of Ottawa, Department of Biochemistry	Jan 2012-present
•	Teaching and marking assistant BCH3356: Molecular Biology Laboratory University of Ottawa Department of Biochemistry	Sept 2010-Dec 2011
•	Teaching Assistant BCH3346: Biochemistry Laboratory II University of Ottawa, Department of Biochemistry	Jan 2010-April 2010
<u>VOLI</u>	UNTEER EXPERIENCE	
•	Executive Board Member Public Relations VP The Ottawa Hospital Toastmaster Club	Sept 2011-present
•	Executive Board Member Communications VP jnet Ottawa Networking Initiative	Sept 2011-present
•	Heart Institute Rep Member at large Biochemistry Microbiology Immunology	Sept 2010-present

Graduate Student Council.

•	President Jewish Graduate Student Association University of Ottawa	Sept 2007-present
•	Lets Talk Science (LTS) volunteer	Sept 2007-present
•	LTS Aboriginal Mentorship Program Rep Mentoring grade 11&12 students Cornwall High School	Sept 2010-May 2011
•	Science Fair Judge Ottawa Regional Science Fair Canada Wide Science Fair	April-May 2010
•	Research Supervisor Sanofi Aventis Biotalent Challenge Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences St. Boniface Research Centre	Oct. 2005-April 2006
•	Science Fair Judge Manitoba School Science Symposium	May 203 2005 & 2006
•	Journal Club Organizer St. Boniface Research Centre	Sept 2004-April 2005
•	Visiting Scientist Seminar Lunches Series St. Boniface Research Centre	Sept 2003-March 2005

## **PROFESSIONAL MEMERSHIPS**

•	Canadian	Society	of Clinical	l Biochemists
---	----------	---------	-------------	---------------

- American Association for Clinical ChemistryNorth American Vascular Biology Organization
- American Heart Association

## **OTHER TRAINING**

•	Competent Communicator and Leadership Ottawa Hospital Toastmasters Club	May 2009-present
•	NAVBO Vasculata Workshop on Vascular Biology University of Washingto Seattle, Washington	August 2008
•	Cardiovascular Genetics course Heart and Stroke Foundation of Ontario Program Grant Course University of Ottawa Heart Institute	June 2007